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CORPORATE INFORMATION
ARl
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CHAIRPERSON’S STATEMENT
F s

Dear shareholders,

On behalf of China New City Commercial Development Limited
(“Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively, the “Group”), | submit
herewith the results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2021.

2021 had been the second year since the outbreak of Covid-19, social
development and macroeconomic were subject to many uncertainties as
well as significant challenges. As pointed out in the Report on the Work
of the Government published in March 2021, the Covid-19 pandemic
continued to spread rapidly around the world, while factors contributing to
instability in international relations were mounting, as the global economic
landscape remained complex with austere conditions. Domestically,
there were still occasional weak links in our work to control Covid-19.
The foundation of economic recovery had yet to be strengthened, while
investment growth lacked sustainability, leaving MSMEs and individual
proprietors in tough business conditions. For some local governments
which faced glaring budgetary deficits, the task of preventing and
mitigating financial and other risks remained an enormous one. Such
complex economic and social environment called for versatility and
precision in macroeconomic and other policies. The macroeconomy was
experiencing downturn pressure as a result of the impacts of scattered
Covid-19 outbreaks, floods and other natural disaster occurring in various
regions as well as restrictions on production activities and electricity

supply.
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MARKET

Since August, there had been significant changes in real estate policies
following the collapse of certain real estate enterprises and the rapid,
continuous cooling of the real estate market. Such changes were
underpinned primarily by the concern for the financial risks of real estate
enterprises and the tightening of mortgage lending, among others. In
the third quarter, the intertwined and combined impact of the epidemic
and the change in real estate policies adversely affected deployment and
operation of the Group’s commercial projects. To address the severe
market conditions, the Group actively responded to the austerity by
speeding up the destocking of inventory properties and cash recovery to
ensure the security of funds.
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CHAIRPERSON'S STATEMENT
R

COMMERCIAL

In terms of commercial operation, following the launch of our commercial
brand under the theme of “Blooming (48/%) ", the Group launched the
brand of “Pleasant Living for All GR=Z47E) " in the year to focus on the
operation of future communities, as it seized the favorable opportunity
presented by Zhejiang Province’s vigorous effort to build a future
community and persisted in the integration of construction and operation
from the building of houses to the building of cities in tandem with latest
developments. Currently, the brand has officially entered into strategic
media cooperation agreements with a number of channels and websites,
as well as strategic industry alliances for cooperation with research
institutes. In the future, the business segment and the “Pleasant Living
for All (GRZ4E)” brand will expand and strengthen this new business
model on the back of three future communities, including Sha Bei in
Taizhou, Longgang in Wenzhou and Kegiao in Shaoxing, with the aim
of assisting Zhejiang Province in the creation of an exemplary zone for
common prosperity and the securing of preemptive opportunities for
development.
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Apart from breakthroughs in the new business models, continued
conversion, improvement and innovation have also been made in the
existing business under the commercial segment. Highlong Plaza has
been officially renamed as Xiaoshan Zhong An Plaza and is set for
blooming development in four aspects: a new positioning, new image,
new trademark and new business. The first local cultural trademark in
Xiaoshan will be introduced to investigate the feasibility of developing an
immersive and experiential shopping centre that would more properly
cater to the habits and needs of local consumers as a masterpiece
commercial property in Xiaoshan.

In the future, we need to create a successful template of future
communities and seize opportunities. Based on the existing future
community projects, we will establish Zhong An’s brand and industry
position in respect of the development and operation of future
communities. We will transform the traditional business model of
department store into a fast-selling-oriented, experiential and leisurely
business model with business resource reserve and form unique
trademark resources focusing on the principle of “Small brand, light
investment, fast development”.

HOTEL

As for the hotel operations, despite the considerable impact of epidemic
outbreaks in the first three quarters on the industry, we remained a leader
among our competition in terms of indicators such as consolidated
revenue, occupancy rate and average room prices thanks to the diligent
efforts of the hotel team. Meanwhile, our hotels actively pursued internal
improvement during the epidemic by comprehensively enhancing the
“craft quality” and “craftsmanship” of Bright Hotel through vocational
skill competitions and the building of a 4D management system. In July
2021, the hotel was honoured with the 2021 China Best Hotel Group
Employer (20214 £ Bl & £ /B 5 5 [ {8 I £%) at the China Hotel Forum
& Menduner Awards (P93% 52 /B 5 2 = 2 5m 18 B P 0 V42 0E £ 8148) |

In the future, we need to create an upstream and downstream integrated
management ecological chain with hotel as the core and realize resource
complementation and mutual sharing to create marginal benefits.
Meanwhile, we will enhance hotel themes and features to implement
differentiated market operation philosophy. With different themes, we will
create different closed loop of consumption ecology and realize diversified
operation. We must strengthen our catering operation capability. With
traditional culture and traditional craftsmanship as the core of the cuisine,
we will develop the catering business into one of the foundations of the
hotel’s brand and upgrade the overall operational efficiency of the hotels.
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CHAIRPERSON’S STATEMENT
T

RESULTS

In 2021, the Group recorded an increase in revenue and the capital
structure was optimized. During the year, the Group’s revenue
was approximately RMB871,066,000, representing a year-on-year
increase of approximately 24.3%; gross profit was approximately
RMB216,497,000, representing a year-on-year increase of approximately
27.2%; loss attributable to owners of the Company was approximately
RMB295,136,000. As at the end of 2021, the total equity of the Group
was approximately RMB5,733,595,000, representing a slight decrease of
approximately 5.7% from the end of 2020; the carrying amount of cash
reached approximately RMB1,948,034,000. During the year, the Group’s
cash position and gearing ratio had both improved and with the “Three
Red Line” ratios had all been satisfactorily met.

The Group recorded a loss per share attributable to ordinary equity
holders of the parent of approximately RMB14.7 cents. The board
of directors (the “Board”) of the Company does not recommend the
payment of any final dividend for the year under review.

PROSPECTS

In 2022, it is expected that the principle of “safeguarding the healthy
development of the real estate market as well as the legitimate rights
of home buyers” will be implemented in a more effective manner. There
should be further improvements to the delivery assurance policies of local
governments, and it is more likely that pre-sale proceeds will be subject
to stringent supervision with some latitude for slight adjustments, such
that a new balance between ensuring property delivery and improvement
of corporate capital utilisation efficiency could be attained. Meanwhile,
the Group will look for possible investment opportunities in China or
overseas to diversify the income source and risk exposure of the Group.
The Board will continue to closely monitor the potential impact caused
by the COVID-19 pandemic and will fine-tune the Group’s strategies and
inform the shareholders and the public of any material development in due
course.

China New City Commercial Development Limited
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the continuing support and trust of shareholders of the Company and
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Group.

Shi Zhongan
Chairperson

Hong Kong, 24 March 2022
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INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

BA VIS

As at 31 December 2021 122021512831 H

LAND RESERVE

As at 31 December 2021, the total GFA of land reserves of the Group was
approximately 4,069,165 sg.m..

The following table sets forth a summary of the Group’s investment

TifHE

L2021 12A31H  REBERN LM EH 2B R
HETRA#34,069,165F 75K

TRV ESEFBEHE2021F12831 BB EY

properties as of 31 December 2021: EME
Project Location Property type GFA
EHE 1 Y EZ = BEER
sg. m.
FHK
Investment Properties
REME
Guomao Building Hangzhou, Zhejiang Province Integrated Commercial Complex 12,225
Bl N HILE TN BERARE
Integrated Service Center Hangzhou, Zhejiang Province Integrated Commercial Complex 5,913
iR E RO RiipAR=pypl [EES =y
Highlong Plaza Hangzhou, Zhejiang Province Integrated Commercial Complex 63,388
B[ &% HILE TN BERARE
Landscape Garden Hangzhou, Zhejiang Province Integrated Commercial Complex 8,781
L7k 38 RipAR=pypl [EES =y
Hidden Dragon Bay Hangzhou, Zhejiang Province Integrated Commercial Complex 17,814
(23 HILE TN BERARE
La Vie Shanghai Commercial 341
LaET tiE [EES
International Office Center Hangzhou, Zhejiang Province Integrated Commercial Complex 59,305
L2371 /N =2V HILE TN BERARE
Zhong An Square Yuyao, Zhejiang Province Integrated Commercial Complex 92,489
MRZES HILBERDE [EES =y
Zhong An Times Square (Phase I)  Yuyao, Zhejiang Province Integrated Commercial Complex 2,160
RERRES (—H) HILBERDE BERARE
Zhong An Times Square (Phase Il)  Yuyao, Zhejiang Province Integrated Commercial Complex 6,648
MLRHES (ZH) HILBERDE [EES =y
Xixi New City Hangzhou, Zhejiang Province Commercial 17,092
PRI HILE TN [EES
286,658

China New City Commercial Development Limited

2021 Annual Report



MAJOR PROPERTIES HELD FOR DEVELOPMENT AND/OR SALE
FATRSE IR e Bl B 1 32 25

Project GFA of
Project Location Property type Site area GFA land bank
. HEEE b U4
EHH Uk MEREE 3t E R [k BEEBA
Q. m. Q. m. sQ. m.
FHAR FAK FHK
Prg)‘ects Under Development and Completed Properties Held for Sale
REPEERGFEHEERTIYE
Zhong An Times Square (Phase ) Yuyao Zhgjiang Integrated Commercial 65,159 305,473 132,475
. Province Complex
K2R AES (—H) HILBERDE BREGAHE
Zhong An Times Square (Phase Il)  Yuyao, Zhejiang Integrated Commercial 71,519 322,912 105,692
\ . Province Complex
R AES (ZH) HILBERDE [EES =y
Hidden Dragon Bay Hangzhou, Zhejiang Integrated Commercial 89,173 241,695 81,318
N __Province Complex
fRREE HILETIMN BERARE
Cixi New City Ningbo, Zhejiang Office, Commercial 49,804 159,510 19,295
Province
R HIEE) MAE EE
Tuankou Phoenix Mountain Hot Hangzhou, Zhejiang Commercial/Hotel 37,500 63,502 63,502
Spring Hotel __Province .
mDHﬁmm%EF RipAR=pypl EEYEES
Xinnongdu Hangzhou/Quzhou/ Integrated Commercial 991,736 1,217,335 1,152,734
ZhUJl/Cha xmgSE Complex
MR MH/%P g2/ BEREE
Xuzhou New City Xuzhou Jiangsu Integrated Commercial 154,802 562,371 562,371
Comp ex
TR TLERRIN BERARE
Xixi New City Hangzhou, Zhejiang Office/Commercial 39,703 83,391 30,266
Province
PRI HILE TN I Y/NE Y SES
Xixi Manhattan Hangzhou, Zhejiang Integrated Commercial 24,534 109,173 33,150
- __Province Complex
FRERTE HILEHN m¥wm
Hangzhou Qlandao Lake Bright Hangzhou, Zhejiang Commercial/Hotel 119,398 46,691 46,691
Resort Hot: __Province o
mu%%wmm%r&@r HILETIMN (EEY S
Fashion Color City Hangzhou, Zhejiang Integrated Commercial 26,087 78,261 78,261
o __Province Complex
B HILE TN [EESER
International Office Center (Plot A)  Hangzhou, Zhejiang Integrated Commercial 92,610 798,795 553,417
__Province Comp ex
BRI AL (Alt3E) HILEHN [EESERay
International Ofnce Center Hangzhou, Zhejiang Integrated Commercial 207,390 1,098,065 1,098,065
(Plots B and C) __Province Complex
IW%“mu@m%&O%% HILE TN BERARE
Beigan Project Hangzhou, Zhejiang Integrated Commercial 12,819 44,867 44,867
__Province Complex
JE&IEE HILE TN BERARE
Huaibei Bright Hotel Huaibei, Anhui Commercial/Hotel 60,768 67,061 67,061
Province
HEILRIRSEE 2RI EEYELS
4,069,165
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

o L v i B

REVIEW OF 2021

In 2021, China’s real estate market experienced the structural transition
from extremely heated sentiments during the first six months to
fundamental corrections in the latter half of the year; nevertheless, a
relatively large market size was retained for the year as a whole. The effect
of ongoing modifications and upgrades in the regulation policy introduced
in the real estate market during the first three quarters has been evident.

A “two-way” mode for property market regulation was implemented
throughout the year. In some cities where property price levels were
more resilient, regulatory policies swiftly responded to sharp rise in
prices with the introduction of effective tools such as the establishment
of a mechanism for the publication of referential prices for second-hand
housing transactions and credit tightening etc. For other cities where
the real estate market was under greater pressure in price correction,
moderate policy adjustments were made to stabilize market expectations.

In 2021, the Group’s revenue recorded an increase and the capital
structure was optimized. During the year, the Group’s revenue was
approximately RMB871,066,000, representing a year-on-year increase of
approximately 24.3%; gross profit was approximately RMB216,497,000,
representing a year-on-year increase of approximately 27.2%; net
loss attributable to owners of the Company was approximately
RMB295,136,000. As of the end of 2021, the total equity of the Group
reached approximately RMB5,733,595,000, representing a slight
decrease of approximately 5.7% from the end of 2020; the carrying
amount of cash reached approximately RMB1,948,034,000.

OUTLOOK FOR 2022

In terms of macroeconomics, a trend of steady recovery will continue in
the Chinese economy, although there will also be new challenges and
obstacles due to the increasing instability and uncertainties in both the
domestic and international environments. It is expected that the principle
of “safeguarding the healthy development of the real estate market as well
as the legitimate rights of home buyers” will be implemented in a more
effective manner. There should be further improvements to the delivery
assurance policies of local governments and it is more likely that pre-sale
proceeds will be subject to stringent supervision with some latitude for
slight adjustments, such that a new balance between ensuring property
delivery and improvement of corporate capital utilisation efficiency could
be attained.

China New City Commercial Development Limited
2021 Annual Report
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

In general, it is expected that the overall direction for the regulation of
the real estate industry will remain unchanged, and the rigour of financial
supervision will not be relaxed. Policies such as the “Three Red Lines” for
enterprises, the “Two Red Lines” for banks, and the “Two Concentrations”
for land supply will continue to be implemented. Currently, the real
estate market has entered a phase of correction, and there will be
increasing mergers and acquisitions in the industry. Against this backdrop,
real estate companies should more than ever control their scale of
development and adjust their pace in tandem with the market trend in
2022: they should accelerate the collection of sales proceeds and closely
monitor financing windows to ensure cash flow security; they should
plan their expenditure in a manner commensurate with their income and
optimize their business presence to focus on mainstream cities; they
should improve their product and service capabilities to improve brand
competitiveness. Furthermore, new development opportunities may arise
during the stage of industry correction. Private enterprises should look
to cooperate with state-owned enterprises to broaden their scope of
development.

DEVELOPMENT OF MAJOR PROJECTS
Hangzhou, Zhejiang Province

Fashion Color City

It is located in Xinjie Village, Xiaoshan District, Hangzhou. It consists of
hardcover loft apartments, large apartments and shops, with a total floor
area of approximately 26,087 sgq.m. and a total GFA of approximately
78,261 sg.m., and is for commercial use. The project commenced
construction in the third quarter of 2020 and started the pre-sale in the
fourth quarter of 2020. It is expected to be completed in 2022. The
volume of pre-sales of the project during the year under review was within
expectation.

International Office Centre (I0C)

IOC is a large-scale integrated commercial complex located in Qianjiang
Century City GZTtH4230)
serviced apartments, shopping malls and offices. The total site area of
Plot A is 92,610 sg.m. and planned total GFA is 798,795 sq.m.. The
project is constructed in three phases, consists of Plots A1, A2 and A3.

Xiaoshan District, Hangzhou, comprising

Among which, Plot A3 was completed in 2015, comprising serviced
apartments, shops and underground parking spaces with a total GFA
of approximately 327,996 sg.m.. The construction of Plot A2 has
commenced in 2019 with a total GFA of approximately 263,555 sg.m..
The project started the pre-sales in the third quarter of 2020, and is
expected to be completed in 2022. The volume of pre-sales of the project
during the year under review was within expectation.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BRI i L0

Beigan Project

It is located in Beigan Technology Innovation Park, Xiaoshan District,
Hangzhou, and consists of large flats and shops, with a total floor area
of approximately 12,819 sg.m., and a total GFA of approximately 44,867
sg.m., and is for commercial use. The project commenced construction
in the fourth quarter of 2021 and is expected to start the pre-sale in the
second quarter of 2022 and is expected to be completed in 2024.

Cixi New City

This is a residential property project in Cixi, Zhejiang Province. Commercial
Phase 1, with a total GFA of about 28,158 sg.m., commenced
construction in July 2019, started the pre-sale in the third quarter of 2020,
and completed in 2021. Commercial Phase I, with a total GFA of about
72,000 sg.m., commenced construction in the second quarter of 2021,
and is expected to be completed in 2023.

Sales Review

For the year ended 31 December 2021 (the “Year”), the recognized sales
of properties sold and delivered was approximately RMB410,180,000
(2020: approximately RMB248,942,000). A total of the recognized GFA
delivered of properties was approximately 26,994 sg.m..

t#EE

AR T E UGBS AEMIE BXFE
K mthAR R > ARG EFRAY12,819F /5K » 4838
HEBEL44,867TFF K EEERAZ - ZBEERN
2021 ENEERT  FAHN20228F ZFE
BUEHTEE > 1R2024F 8 T o

BRI

AR IR ETNEEMEBEE X1
MR EEMAEM28,158F H K> R20195F7 8 B
T MiR2020F E =FEMETEE » 2021 F 218
TomETH BREEBMBELT2,000F 5K 1
2021EE —ZEMT » FAAR20235F 8 T o

SHE R

REZE2021FE12831HIEEE (IFEE))
A HERRMNMEZERIBEESENS
AK#410,180,0007T (20204 : AR AR
248,942,0007T) ° BRERHNE R T AL RmE
T4 526,994F 753K o

2021 2020

20214 20204

(RMB million) (RMB million)

NRE®EHET) ONESa= o)

Chaoyang Yinzuo EH 5 3R A 0.8 19.8
Cixi New City ORI ™ 112.1 =
International Office Centre Phase A3 B PRHEA A 190.4 43.9
Xixi Manhattan AR S miE 13.7 -
Xixi New City PRI ™ 23.7 48.0
Yuyao Zhong An Times Square Phase | BRIk R 2 ESE— 4.4 37.8
Yuyao Zhong An Times Square Phase I BRIk R 2R ES 61.4 86.6
Other projects Higg 3.7 12.8
410.2 248.9
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2021 Contracted Sales

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
B L B

2021 FEHMERHEE

The contracted sales area of the Group was approximately 105,453 AFEEAEENERHEEEBLN#105,453F 7
sg.m. for the Year (2020: approximately 60,936 sq.m.) and contracted K (20204F : #960,936F 5 3K) » A FE & FH
sales revenue was approximately RMB2,650,800,000 for the Year (2020: &AM A AR #52,650,800,0007T (20204 : 49
approximately RMB1,242,900,000). Details of the contracted sales of the AR #51,242,900,0007T) > FEEBENSREHE

major projects are as below: BT
Contracted Contracted
sales area sales revenue
AREEEE AREEWRA
Projects City (sg.m.) (RMB million)
15H W (FEFHK) NG =)
Cixi New City Cixi 2,432 26.1
BRI BE
Fashion Color City Hangzhou 4,417 127.7
EEPA LN
International Office Centre (IOC)A2 Hangzhou 35,161 1,740.1
BRI A FRIDA2 TN
International Office Centre (IOC)A3 Hangzhou 5,963 194.2
BRI A FRIDAS N
Xixi New City Hangzhou 927 30.1
FERFTI T TN
Xinnongdu Hangzhou 43,931 440.8
Gl LN
Zhong An Times Square Phase | Yuyao 206 1.4
ML ES BRIk
Zhong An Times Square Phase |l Yuyao 11,190 72.9
RER A ES BRIk
Others (Commercial) Hangzhou 1,226 17.5
HAith (FZ) LAl
105,453 2,650.8

RE AL RRERAD
“§-_—aam 1/
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BRI i L0

Hotel Operation

There are four hotels of the Group namely Holiday Inn Hangzhou
Xiaoshan, Qiandao Lake Bright Resort Hotel, Ningbo Bright Hotel
and Huaibei Bright Hotel. The hotel operation of the Group recorded
a revenue of approximately RMB173,177,000 (2020: approximately
RMB182,516,000), representing a decrease of approximately 5.1%,
during the Year and the hotel occupancy rate was approximately 40%
(2020: approximately 43%).

Leasing Business

The leasing income of the Group mainly comes from Highlong Plaza,
International Office Centre and Zhong An Times Square, including office
and shopping malls. The total revenue from leasing business for the
Year was approximately RMB122,282,000, representing a decrease of
approximately RMB22,563,000 (2020: approximately RMB144,845,000).
The decline was due to the renovation of the Highlong Plaza and the
average occupancy rate of leasing properties (calculated by dividing total
lease area by total area available for lease) was approximately 87% (2020:
approximately 94%).

Land Reserve

As of 31 December 2021, the total GFA of land reserves held for
development and/or sale of the Group was approximately 4,069,165
sg.m..

REVENUE

The Group recorded the consolidated revenue of approximately
RMB871,066,000 for the Year, representing an increase of approximately
RMB170,696,000 or 24.4% when compared with the same year in 2020.
The increase was mainly due to the increase in the revenue from the
property sales.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

The revenue from the property sales increased to approximately
RMB410,180,000 during the Year, representing an increase of
approximately RMB161,238,000 or 64.8% when compared with the
same year in 2020. The increase was mainly due to the fact that the
impact of the Covid-19 epidemic had subsided in the Mainland China
during 2021 which led to an increase in the property sales.

The revenue from the property rental amounted to approximately
RMB122,282,000 during the Year, representing a decrease of
approximately RMB22,563,000 or 15.6% when compared with the same
year in 2020. The decline was due to the renovation of the Highlong
Plaza, which involved merchants’ exemptions, relocation and store
closure etc., which led to the lower average occupancy rate of leasing
properties in the Year.

The revenue from the hotel operation amounted to approximately
RMB173,177,000 during the Year, representing an decrease of
approximately RMB9,339,000 or 5.1% when compared with the same
year in 2020. The moderate decrease was mainly due to the mild drop of
the hotel occupancy rate.

The other revenue included property management services business,
commercial project management business and other services
of RMB165,427,000, representing an increase of approximately
RMB41,360,000 or 33.3% when compared with the same year in 2020.

GROSS PROFIT

The gross profit of the Group for the Year amounted to
approximately RMB216,497,000, representing an increase of
approximately RMB46,342,000 or 27.2% when compared with
the same year in 2020. The gross profit margin was 24.9%, no
significant movement when compared with the gross profit margin
of 24.3% in 2020.

P e Loy B

RAFER MEHEBKAENENAARKE
410,180,0007T » EX20204E 1 1049 A R #£161,238,000
TLE64.8%  BRIE MDA EEBNR20214
Covid- 19 BER PR ARENEZEBRFE B
HhEE £ B S NPT B o

RAFER MERERALGA AR122,282,000
700 BR20205F 8 4 AR 122,563,0007T 3
15.6% c BRR /L Th R A EEEBIERES S
EERE#He -WMEKEAEESE SHEYWES
FHHBET RS

RERFER BIEEERALNRARE173,177,000
76 82020F /L9 AR 9,339,000 5
51% - BRIBMR LT EBZHOEE AEERR
MR BRPREL

HMWATBENEEERREES BHEXEE
BEEEREMREARK165,427,0007T ° &
20204 1 049 A\ R #841,360,00077 8(33.3% ©

EF

RAFEERN > REBNENNA AK216,497,000
7T BR2020F 8 A AR #46,342,0007C 3%
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
W BRJEG wlam B

OTHER INCOME AND GAINS, NET

The other income and gains, net amounted to approximately
RMB374,689,000 during the Year, representing a tangible increase
of approximately RMB188,024,000 or 100.7% when compared with
the same year in 2020. The increase was mainly due to the receipt of
compensation income from a legal case, an increase in interest income,
gain on disposal of subsidiaries, gain on disposal of right-of-use assets
and dividend income from equity investments.

SELLING AND DISTRIBUTION
EXPENSES

The selling and distribution expenses amounted to approximately
RMB182,698,000 during the Year, representing an increase of
approximately RMB18,395,000 or 11.2% when compared with the
same year in 2020. Such increase was principally due to an increase in
advertising and promotional activities for the properties pre-sold during
the Year when compared with the same year in 2020.

ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES

The administrative expenses amounted to approximately
RMB249,476,000 during the Year, representing an increase of
approximately RMB48,452,000 or 24.1% when compared with the
same year in 2020. Such increase was principally due to an increase in
administrative staff for new projects deployed.

OTHER EXPENSES

The other expenses amounted to approximately RMB151,826,000
during the Year, mainly representing the impairment of goodwill of
RMB98,995,000 and impairment provision for property and equipment
of RMB11,436,000 as resulted from a business revaluation of the parent-
child family club, Maggie & Rose.

FINANCE COSTS

The finance costs of the Group amounted to approximately
RMB223,094,000 for the Year, representing an increase of approximately
RMB3,897,000 or 1.8% when compared with the same year in 2020.
Such increase was mainly due to less interests on bank loans and other
commercial borrowings for completed properties were capitalized during
the Year.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

LOSS FOR THE YEAR

The loss attributable to the Group was approximately RMB302,815,000
for the Year, comparing with a net profit of approximately RMB25,081,000
in 2020, such loss for the Year was mainly due to the fact the Group
recorded a fair value gain upon transfer to investment properties in the
amount of approximately RMB356,806,000 during 2020 which was not
available in the Year 2021.

CAPITAL EXPENDITURE

The Group’s capital expenditure requirements mainly relate to additions
of its property and equipment. The Group spent approximately
RMB118,941,000 on property and equipment during the Year.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS

The Group did not hold any significant investments during the Year.

DISPOSALS OF SUBSIDIARIES

On 3 February 2021, the Group had entered into sale and purchase
agreements with Zhong An Group to agree conditionally to sell the entire
operation in commercial property management business at an aggregate
of consideration of RMB104.65 million (equivalent to approximately
HK$125.58 million) (“Transfers”).

As Zhong An Group is the controlling shareholder of the Group, Zhong An
Group is a connected person of the Group. As one or more of the relevant
percentage ratios (as defined under the Listing Rules) in respect of the
Transfers exceeded 5%, the Transfers constituted non-exempt connected
transactions for the Group under the Listing Rules and were subject to the
reporting, announcement and approval by the independent shareholders
under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. An extraordinary general
meeting had been held on 24 March 2021 to approve the Transfers. The
completion of the Transfers took place on 13 April, 2021.

P e Loy B

TEEFHE

RAFERN AEEREEEANRBARE
302,815,0007T > 20204 Bl &3 m A A A R
25,081,00070 > AFEEMNARBEEZHNARE

ER2020F R ERERLEYEZ AABER
##H AR #356,806,0007T > 20214 [ A I &
RIS BRI PIEL

BEFRAZ

AEBNEAHLYEETELAREYERRH
BB -NAEER AEBRYERRBRERLY
AR #118,941,0007T ©

EXRE
WA AEEILEEE A AEARA-
th & I B 2 F)

R202152838 A&EBEEERTZEEH]
UEEhE UBRHBEREREARE
104,650,0007t (18E 1 #9125,580,000787T) HE
PEVEESEEFNEHER ((EEFHE) o

HRRLERALAEENERKRR  WREER
AREENABEAT HREEFEN—BERD
EMEBEALE (ERRE LHRAD) Bi85% 1R
B EMRAD EERIEERAEEN IR RRE
R BETLETRUFIMAZTETIRSE AE
BB R IERIRTE o AR B B 12021438
CARETRES ARG LU AR EIR R
BHER20215E4F 138 58A% ©

PRI HEEERARAR
“E 58K

21



22

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
W BRJEG wlam B

CAPITAL STRUCTURE

As at 31 December 2021, the Group had aggregate cash and cash
equivalents and restricted cash of approximately RMB1,948,034,000
(as at 31 December 2020: approximately RMB1,108,888,000). The
current ratio (as measured by current assets to current liabilities) as at 31
December 2021 was 1.05 (as at 31 December 2020: 1.69).

As at 31 December 2021, the bank loans and other borrowings of the
Group repayable within one year and after one year were approximately
RMB1,527,310,000 and approximately RMB3,107,940,000 respectively
(as at 31 December 2020: approximately RMB665,555,000 and
approximately RMB4,803,094,000 respectively). Except for certain
short-term bank and other borrowings amounting to approximately
RMB2,384,950,000 (as at 31 December 2020: approximately
RMB854,120,000) that bear interest at fixed rates, all bank loans bear
interest at floating rates.

As at 31 December 2021, the Group’s gearing ratio was 42% (as at 31
December 2020: 49%), which is net debt divided by capital plus net debt.
Net debt includes interest-bearing bank and other borrowings, trade
payables, other payables and accruals, and lease liabilities, less cash and
cash equivalents. Capital represents equity attributable to owners of the
parent.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

PLEDGE OF ASSETS

As at 31 December 2021, the Group’s bank borrowings and other
borrowings of approximately RMB4,635,250,000 (as at 31 December
2020: approximately RMB5,468,649,000) were secured by the Group’s
pledge of assets as follows:

P e Loy B

HERH

12021128318 AEERITTER KR EME
A A N R 4,635,250,0007T (1202012831
H : AR 5,468,649,0007T) HAEE U TE
EERIEIER

As at As at

31 December 31 December

2021 2020

#20214 20204

12H31H 12H31H

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTT ARBTT

Property and equipment L EYSE 1,185,489 1,236,965
Investment properties KEYE 2,681,570 3,185,130
Properties under development etk /S 485,411 485,411
Completed properties held for sale FEHEBB TY % 678,740 913,191
Restricted cash S REIIRE 64,109 40,572
5,095,319 5,861,269

TREASURY POLICIES

The Group principally operates in PRC and the revenue, operating cost
and borrowings were mainly denominated in RMB. As a result, the Group
has minimal exposure to exchange rate fluctuation. The interest rates for
the Group'’s borrowings were both floating and fixed. Upward fluctuations
in interest rates will increase the cost of borrowings.

The Group adopts conservative treasury policies in cash and financial
management. Cash is generally placed in short-term deposits mostly
denominated in RMB. The Group does not use any financial instruments
for hedging purpose for the Year.

GUARANTEES AND CONTINGENT
LIABILITIES

As at 31 December 2021, the Group’s contingent liabilities was
approximately RMB316,410,000 (2020: approximately RMB46,656,000),
which were mainly the guarantees provided by the Group in favour
of certain banks for the grant of mortgage loans to purchasers of the
Group’s properties.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
W BRJEG wlam B

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

As at 31 December 2021, the Group’s capital commitments for
property development expenditures amounted to approximately
RMB1,330,123,000 (2020: approximately RMB1,001,730,000). It is
expected that the Group will finance such capital commitments from its
own funds and bank loans.

FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL
INVESTMENTS OR CAPITAL ASSETS

Save as disclosed in this report, the Group did not have other plans for
material investments and capital assets as at 31 December 2021.

HUMAN RESOURCES AND
REMUNERATION POLICY

As at 31 December 2021, the Group had 1,630 employees (2020: 1,729).
The employees’ remuneration policy was determined by reference to
factors such as remuneration information in respect of the local market,
the overall remuneration standard in the industry, inflation level, corporate
operating efficiency and performance of the employees. The Group
conducts performance appraisal once every year for its employees,
the results of which are applied in annual salary review and promotion
assessment. The Group’s employees are considered for the entitlement of
annual bonus according to certain performance conditions and appraisal
results. The Group also provides continuous learning and training
programmes to its employees to enhance their skills and knowledge, so
as to maintain and enhance their competitiveness.

STRATEGIES

The management has developed sound strategies to overcome the
abovementioned challenges and address the uncertainties faced by the
Group, including formulating effective marketing strategies and plans and
improving our products and services quality to consolidate our brand.
The Group will put more efforts in formulating new policies, guidelines,
systems and processes to facilitate effectively cost management, risk
management, internal control and sustainable environmental management
to enhance company management standards and corporate governance
standards. For growth strategy, the Group will focus on identifying
possible acquisitions with future development prospects and profitability
to improve the returns on assets. The Group will further emphasize
on investor relations management, and continue to convey clearly the
operation vision, business updates and future development strategies
of the Group and other information to various stakeholders through
press conferences, roadshows, media delegation visits and one-on-one
analyst or investor interview and otherwise to strive for the recognition
and support from various stakeholders and obtain more resources for
business development and maximizing shareholders’ value.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

RELATIONSHIPS WITH EMPLOYEES,
CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

Employees, customers and suppliers are the key stakeholders who affect
the sustainability of our business. Engaging with those stakeholders will
not only help us understand the possible risks and opportunities to our
business, but also help us to mitigate risk and seize the opportunities in
the real market situation.

The Group believes that our people are critical factors to the Group'’s
success and competitiveness in the market. As such, we had adopted
a share option scheme on 20 May 2015 for the purpose of providing
incentives and rewards to eligible participants who contributed to the
success of the Group’s operations.

Customer satisfaction with our services and products has profound
effects on our profitability. Our dedicated sales team constantly
communicates with our customers and potential customers to uncover
and create customer needs and help customers make informed
decisions. Grasping the market trend is the key for the Group to timely
adjust our operating strategies to meet the market demands.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

The Company’s policies and practices highlight the importance of
compliance with all relevant local laws, rules, regulations and standard.
This in return, facilitates the continuous granting of specific licenses and
permissions.

The Group will seek professional legal advice from legal advisers, where
necessary, to ensure transactions and business to be performed by the
Group are in compliance with the applicable laws and regulations.

No material accidents related to serious injuries, death or property
damage and no environmental claims, lawsuits, penalties or administrative
sanctions were reported to our management during the year under
review and as at the date of this annual report. The management is of the
view that the Group were in compliance with all relevant PRC laws and
regulations in each material respects.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
W BRJEG wlam B

ENVIRONMENT POLICIES AND
PERFORMANCE

As a responsible corporation, the Group is committed to protecting
the environment in the areas where we operate and ensuring that
environmental standards set by the government are consistently met.

We have closely monitored our projects at different stages to ensure that
construction process is in compliance with laws and regulations related
to environment protection and safety. The Group endeavors to manage
its project operations by working with suppliers and contractors to ensure
that they understand the importance of environmental protection, pollution
prevention and waste reduction. We also encourage all our employees to
be more environmentally conscious.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING YEAR

The Board is not aware of any significant event requiring disclosure that
has taken place subsequent to 31 December 2021 and up to the date of
this annual report.

FINAL DIVIDEND

The Board does not recommend the payment of any final dividend for the
year ended 31 December 2021 (2020: Nil).
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE TEELRER
PRACTICES

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Company had complied  #E2021FE12831HIEEE A AT BB Lk
with the code provisions in the CG Code as set out in Appendix 14 (asin TR BIMT 8%+ IOFr & 2 &8 FRIMSFRIEX

force as at 31 December 2021) to the Listing Rules. (B E2021F12831BBM) ©
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE TEELAEE

STRUCTURE

The Board will review the corporate governance structure of the Group EEE R ARG AEBM L EEAZE  WiE
from time to time and will adopt appropriate measures as may be  EREFREVE S > M AE B2 E T8 ¥
desirable for future development of the operating activities or business of ~ FHIRIKEEE o

the Group.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board comprises: () executive directors: Mr. Shi Nanlu, Mr. Liu Bo
and Ms. Tang Yiyan; (i) non-executive directors: Mr. Shi Zhongan and Mr.
Tang Min; and (jii) independent non-executive directors: Mr. Ng Sze Yuen,
Terry, Mr. Xu Chengfa and Mr. Yim Chun Leung.

The details of the Directors are set out in the section headed “Biographical
Details of Directors and Senior Management” on pages 57 to 60 in this
annual report. There are no relationships (including financial, business,
family or other material/relevant relationships) among members of the
Board. A list of the Directors identifying their roles and functions are
available on the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.

The Company has received from each of its independent non-executive
Directors an annual confirmation of his independence pursuant to Rule
3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Board considers that all the independent
non-executive Directors are independent in accordance with the
guidelines set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.

During the year under review, the Board meets regularly to discuss the
overall strategy, the operational and financial performance of the Group.
The Directors can attend meetings in person or through other electronic
means of communication in accordance with the articles of association of
the Company (“Articles”).
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During the year under review, a total of 4 Board meetings and one general
meeting were held. The individual attendance of the Directors is tabulated
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REEEER BTEHOREZTEEEZR—X
REAE - BEEHNERLFERNT

as follows:
Number of Number of
attendance/ attendance/
Number Number
of Board of general
meetings meetings
HEESEE
GERE HFE
BEFE RRAZTRES
EERE REAERY
Executive Directors BITES
Mr. Shi Nanlu T i B ST 4/4 1/1
Mr. Liu Bo B e 4/4 11
Ms. Tang Yiyan ElaRiZt+ 4/4 1/1
Non-executive Director ERITES
Mr. Shi Zhongan MR &4 4/4 1/1
Mr. Tang Min BIRESE 4/4 1/1
Independent non-executive Directors BIERITES
Mr. Ng Sze Yuen, Terry C-Va b ivic = 4/4 1/1
Mr. Xu Chengfa BERERE 4/4 1/1
Mr. Yim Chun Leung iR E 4/4 1/1

Chairperson and Chief Executive Officer

The roles of the chairperson and chief executive officer are separate and
are not performed by the same individual as this ensures better checks
and balances and hence better corporate governance. During the year
under review and as at the date of this report, the role of the chairperson
was performed by Mr. Shi Zhongan, while Mr. Shi Nanlu was chief
executive officer of the Group.

The chairperson had held a meeting with all independent non-executive
Directors in the absence of executive Directors. No specific or other
issues had been raised or discussed as it had been concluded that all
issues which would be discussed had been properly dealt with in the
meetings of the Board.
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Non-Executive Director and Independent Non-
Executive Directors

The non-executive Director, Mr. Shi Zhongan, has been appointed for a
term of 3 years commencing on 31 May 2014, which is automatically
renewable for a successive term of one year from the next day upon the
expiry of the appointment.

The non-executive Director, Mr. Tang Min, has been appointed for a term
of 3 years commencing on 3 April 2020, which is automatically renewable
for a successive term of one year from the next day upon the expiry of the
appointment.

The independent non-executive Directors, Mr. Ng Sze Yuen, Terry, Mr. Xu
Chengfa and Mr. Yim Chun Leung, have been appointed for a term of 3
years commencing on 31 May 2014, which is automatically renewable for
a successive term of one year from the next day upon the expiry of the
appointment.

All non-executive Director and independent non-executive directors
possess extensive academic, professional and/or industry expertise and
management experience and have provided their professional advice to
the Board.

Power of and Delegation by the Board

The Board operates and exercises its power in accordance with
the Articles. The Board focuses on overall corporate strategies and
policies with emphasis on the business growth, financial performance
and corporate governance standard of the Group. It also decides on
matters such as annual and interim results, major transactions, director
appointments or re-appointments, investment policy, dividend and
accounting policies and responsible for developing, reviewing and
monitoring the policies and practices on corporate governance and legal
and regulatory compliance of the Group. In addition, the Board has also
specifically resolved that all transactions/contracts/other matters of the
Group that are subject to the disclosure requirement in accordance with
the Listing Rules should be approved by the Board in advance.

The Board has delegated to the senior management to deal with day-
to-day operations and reviewed those arrangements on a periodic basis.
The senior management frequently reports back to the Board and obtains
prior approval from the Board before making decisions for key matters or
entering into any commitments on behalf of the Company.
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Appointment, Re-election and Removal of
Directors

The Articles provide that any Director appointed by the Board to fill a
casual vacancy in the Board or as an additional member of the Board
shall hold office only until the next following general meeting of the
members of Company and shall then be eligible for re-election at such
meeting.

In accordance with the Articles, at each AGM, one third of the Directors
for the time being, shall retire from office by rotation provided that every
Director (including those appointed for a specific term) shall be subject to
retirement by rotation at least once every three years and, being eligible,
offer themselves for re-election. The Company may, at any general
meetings convened and held in accordance with the Articles, remove
a Director by ordinary resolution at any time before the expiration of his
period of office notwithstanding anything contrary in the Articles or in any
agreement between the Company and such Director and may by ordinary
resolution elect another person in his/her stead.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established four committees and has delegated various
responsibilities to the committees, including the remuneration committee
(the “Remuneration Committee”), the nomination committee
(the “Nomination Committee”), the audit committee (the “Audit
Committee”) and the corporate governance committee (the “Corporate
Governance Committee”) of the Company. All the Board committees
perform their distinct roles in accordance with their respective terms
of reference which are available for inspection by the Shareholders on
the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange. The Board
committees are provided with sufficient resources to discharge their duties
and, upon reasonable request, are able to seek independent professional
advice in appropriate circumstances, at the Company’s expense.
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(i) Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee comprises a total of three members,

being one executive Director, Ms. Tang Yiyan, and two independent

non-executive Directors, Mr. Xu Chengfa (chairperson of the

Remuneration Committee) and Mr. Yim Chun Leung.

The Company has adopted written terms of reference for

the Remuneration Committee. The role and function of the

Remuneration Committee of the Company include the following:

(@)

to make recommendations to the Board on the Company’s
policy and structure for all remuneration of Directors and
senior management and on the establishment of a formal and
transparent procedure for developing remuneration policy;

to make recommendations to the Board on the remuneration
packages of individual executive Directors and senior
management, including benefits in kind, pension rights
and compensation payments, including any compensation
payable for loss or termination of their office or appointment,
and make recommendations to the Board on the
remuneration of non-executive Directors;

to review and approve the management’s remuneration
proposals with reference to the Board’s corporate goals and
objectives;

to review and approve the compensation payable to
executive Directors and senior management in connection
with any loss or termination of their office or appointment to
ensure that such compensation is determined in accordance
with relevant contractual terms and that such compensation
is otherwise fair and not excessive;
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(i)

(e)  to review and approve compensation arrangements relating
to dismissal or removal of Directors for misconduct to ensure
that such arrangements are determined in accordance with
relevant contractual terms and are otherwise reasonable and
appropriate;

(f) to ensure that no Director or any of his/her associates is
involved in deciding his/her own remuneration; and

(@ to consider salaries paid by comparable companies, time
commitment and responsibilities and employment conditions
elsewhere in the Group.

One meeting of the Remuneration Committee was held during the
year under review. The Remuneration Committee had reviewed the
policies of remuneration packages of the Board of Directors. The
individual attendance of the members was tabulated as follows:
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€ WEAHEREFTRHREMAERE
HEEEMEFAMIRNMBER
o LRZEZHEER AR
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Number attendance/
Number of meetings

HERY EERE
Mr. Xu Chengfa BRESTE 1/1
Mr. Yim Chun Leung ik id 1/1
Ms. Tang Yiyan BElaL T 1/1
Nomination Committee (i) RBHLZEET

The Nomination Committee comprises a total of three members,
being one executive Director, Mr. Shi Nanlu, and two independent
non-executive Directors, Mr. Xu Chengfa (chairperson of the
Nomination Committee) and Mr. Yim Chun Leung.
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The Company has adopted written terms of reference for the
Nomination. Committee. The role and function of the Nomination
Committee are as follows:

(@  to review the structure, size and composition (including the
skills, knowledge, experience and diversity of perspectives)
of the Board at least annually and make recommendations
on any proposed changes to the Board to complement the
Company’s corporate strategy;

(b)  to identify individuals suitably qualified to become members
of the Board and select or make recommendations to
the Board on the selection of individuals nominated for
directorship;

(c) to review the board diversity policy of the Company (the
“Board Diversity Policy”) and the progress on achieving the
objectives set for implementing the Board Diversity Policy,
and to make disclosure of its review results in the corporate
governance report of the Company’s annual report;

(d) to assess the independence of the independent non-
executive Directors;

(e)  to make recommendations to the Board on relevant matters
relating to, among others, the appointment or re-appointment
of Directors and succession planning for Directors (in
particular, the chairperson and the chief executive officer of
the Company);

M to give full consideration to, among others, the skills and
expertise required from members of the Board and the
relevant requirements of the Listing Rules with regard to
Directors and such like in the discharge of the Nomination
Committee’s duties;
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in respect of any proposed service contracts to be entered
into by any members of the Group with its director or
proposed director, which require the prior approval of the
Shareholders at general meeting under Rule 13.68 of the
Listing Rules, to review and provide recommendations to
the Shareholders (other than shareholders who are directors
with a material interest in the relevant service contracts and
their respective associates) as to whether the terms of the
service contracts are fair and reasonable and whether such
service contracts are in the interests of the Company and the
Shareholders as a whole, and to advise Shareholders on how
to vote;

to ensure that on appointment to the Board, non-executive
Directors (including independent non-executive Directors)
receive a formal letter of appointment setting out what is
expected of them in terms of time commitment, committee
service and involvement outside meetings of the Board;

to conduct exit interviews with any Director upon their
resignation in order to ascertain the reasons for his/her
departure; and

to consider other matters, as defined or assigned by the
Board from time to time.

The Board has set the following measurable objectives

implementing the Board Diversity Policy:

when identifying suitably qualified candidates to become
Board members, it should be based on a series of diverse
aspects, including Board members with different background,
skills, regional and industry experience, race, gender and
other qualities, that are in balanced and complementary
with each other, creating synergy, and enabling the Board to
function effectively as a whole.
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The nomination procedures are as follow: RGERUWT -

. candidates for directorship are selected by the Nomination . EFANEHRAEZEGHE HE
Committee subject to the review and approval of the Board in EgRBARNSEZ R E BEE
accordance with the Articles. =i

. when reviewing the composition of the Board and . R EE AR RE BESN
considering the nomination of new Directors, the Nomination REF ELEZEERERETA
Committee will take into account the skills, regional and ENRE M RITESR F5
industry experience, background, race, gender and other B A R EMRIT > URAAT
qualities of potential candidates and also business needs of HEBEE-
the Company.

Based on the review by the Nomination Committee, the Nomination REBERLEZEGZER RLZEER

Committee considers that the Company has achieved the B REEFEN AABBEINAENR

measurable objectives set for implementing the Board Diversity EEEL T EBEmMAETNA s E81R

Policy for the year under review.

One meeting of the Nomination Committee were held during the ROBEFERNRREZEGHEBT T

year under review. The Nomination Committee had reviewed the E?E“TE%%E@W NESENEEREZTT

structure and the diversification policy of the Board of Directors and EHRABIIREINEEETMEL TIEEK

had revised and restated the Board Diversity Policy. o

The individual attendance of the members of the Nomination REBFER SRR ZEGNENER]

Committee during the year under review was tabulated as follows: HEZNT .

Number of attendance/
Number of meetings
HERY EEREY

Mr. Xu Chengfa BT E 1/1

Mr. Yim Chun Leung ik d 1/1

Mr. Shi Nanlu i e B S A 1/1
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(iii) Audit Committee

The Audit Committee comprises a total of three members, being

three independent non-executive Directors, Mr. Ng Sze Yuen Terry

(chairperson of the Audit Committee), Mr. Xu Chengfa and Mr. Yim

Chun Leung. Mr. Ng Sze Yuen possess the appropriate professional

qualification, and accounting and financial management expertise.

The role and functions of the Audit Committee include the following:

(@)

to be primarily responsible for making recommendations to
the Board on the appointment, reappointment and removal
of the external auditor, and to approve the remuneration and
other terms of engagement of the external auditor, and any
questions of its resignation or dismissal;

to review and monitor the external auditor's independence
and objectivity and the effectiveness of the audit process in
accordance with applicable standards. The Audit Committee
should discuss with the auditor the nature and scope of the
audit and reporting obligations before the audit commences;

to discuss with the auditor the nature and scope of the
audit and reporting obligations and ensure co-ordination
where more than one audit firm is engaged before the audit
commences;

to develop and implement policy on engaging an external
auditor to supply non-audit services. For this purpose,
“external auditor” includes any entity that is under common
control, ownership or management with the audit firm or any
entity that a reasonable and informed third party knowing
all relevant information would reasonably conclude to be
part of the audit firm nationally or internationally. The Audit
Committee should report to the Board, identifying and
making recommendations on any matters where action or
improvement is needed;

(iii)
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Review of the Company’s financial information

(e)

to monitor the integrity of the Company’s financial statements
and annual report and accounts, interim report and, if
prepared for publication, quarterly reports, and to review
significant financial reporting judgments contained in them;

in reviewing these reports (the Company’s annual report
and accounts, interim report and, if prepared for publication,
quarterly report) before submission to the Board, the Audit
Committee should focus particularly on:

(i) any changes in accounting policies and practices;

(ii) major judgmental areas;

(i) significant adjustments resulting from the audit;

(iv)  the going concern assumption and any qualifications;

(v)  compliance with accounting standards;

(v compliance with the Listing Rules and legal
requirements in relation to financial reporting;

(vi)  the fairness and reasonableness of any connected
transaction and the impact of such transaction
on the profitability of the Group and whether such
connected transactions, if any, have been carried out in
accordance with the terms of the agreement governing
such transactions;
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(viii)

()

whether all relevant items have been adequately
disclosed in the Group’s financial statements and
whether the disclosures give a fair view of the Group’s
financial conditions;

any significant or unusual items that are, or may need
to be, reflected in such reports and accounts; and

the cash flow position of the Group;

and to provide advice and comments thereon to the Board;

(@ inregard to (e) and (f) above:

U

(i)

members of the Audit Committee should liaise with the
Board and senior management of the Group and the
Committee must meet, at least twice a year, with the
Company'’s auditor; and

the Audit Committee should consider any significant
or unusual items that are, or may need to be, reflected
in the reports and accounts, it should give due
consideration to any matters that have been raised by
the Company’s staff responsible for the accounting
and financial reporting function, compliance officer or
auditor;

(h)  to discuss problems and reservations arising from the interim

and final audits, and any matters the auditor may wish to

discuss (in the absence of management where necessary);
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Overseeing the Company’s financial reporting system, risk

management and internal control systems

)

to review the Company’s financial controls and, unless
expressly addressed by a separate Board risk committee,
or by the Board itself, to review the Company’s risk
management and internal control systems;

to discuss the risk management and internal control systems
with management to ensure that management has performed
its duty to have effective systems. This discussion should
include the adequacy of resources, staff qualifications
and experience, training programmes and budget of the
Company’s accounting and financial reporting function;

to consider major investigation findings on risk management
and internal control matters as delegated by the Board or
on its own initiative and management’s response to these
findings;

where an internal audit function exists, to ensure co-
ordination between the internal and external auditor, and to
ensure that the internal audit function is adequately resourced
and has appropriate standing within the Company, and to
review and monitor its effectiveness;

to review the Group’s financial and accounting policies and
practices;

to review the external auditor’'s management letter, any
material queries raised by the auditor to management about
accounting records, financial accounts or systems of control
and management’s response;

to ensure that the Board will provide a timely response to the
issues raised in the external auditor's management letter;
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to conduct exit interviews with any Director, manager,
financial controller or internal credit control manager upon
their resignation in order to ascertain the reasons for his
departure;

to prepare work reports for presentation to the Board and to
prepare summary of work reports for inclusion in the Group’s
interim and annual reports;

to consider the appointment of any person to be a Audit
Committee member, auditor and accounting staff either to
fill a casual vacancy or as an additional Audit Committee
member, auditor and accounting staff or dismissal of any of
them;

to report to the Board on the matters set out above;

to review arrangements employees of the Company can use,
in confidence, to raise concerns about possible improprieties
in financial reporting, internal control or other matters. The
Audit Committee should ensure that proper arrangements
are in place for fair and independent investigation of these
matters and for appropriate follow-up action;

to act as the key representative body for overseeing the

Company’s relations with the external auditor; and

to consider other matters, as defined or assigned by the
Board from time to time.

A total of two meetings of the Audit Committee were held during

the year under review. The work performed by the Audit Committee

included the following:

reviewed the annual report and annual results announcement
of the Company;

reviewed the interim report and interim results announcement
of the Company ;

reviewed the accounting principles and practices adopted by
the Group and other financial reporting matters;
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(iv)

- reviewed the results of external audit and had discussion with
external auditor on any significant findings and audit issues;

- reviewed the internal control reports and had discussion
with internal control consultant on any significant findings
and internal control issues for the first half of the year under
review;

— reviewed the internal control reports and had discussion with
internal auditor on any significant findings and internal control
issues for the second half of the year under review;

- discussed with the external auditor before the audit
commenced, the nature and scope of the audit and the
respective relevant issues; and

- considered and approved the service contract of the auditor
for the year under review.

The individual attendance of the members of the Audit Committee
during the period under review was tabulated as follows:

— BRIIEBBEFAER Iﬁﬁ’)ﬂfﬁ%k
BN LB EE AN BETE
e

— ZBRERABRES URNEFOESF
ERNEAEREREASERERE
BENERREET R

— BEABRE UMR THOEF
EREAERERKAIEFHEFEE
SN ERIZBENETT S

— REZFEGA RPN RS
ZOMBERBEURSERER ;
P4

— EERMERIRESTEZUEMR

PN
G4

REIERAREAN EZEEEEME
BERIT :

BY{E 7]

Number of attendance/
Number of meetings

HERY EHRRH
Mr. Ng Sze Yuen, Terry C Y npivbivic = 2/2
Mr. Xu Chengfa BRI E 2/2
Mr. Yim Chun Leung BRI E 2/2
Corporate Governance Committee (iv) t¥EEREZET
The Corporate Governance Committee comprises a total of three TrEEAEZEEH

members, being one executive Director, Mr. Shi Nanlu (chairperson
of the Corporate Governance Committee), and two independent
non-executive Directors, Mr. Ng Sze Yuen Terry and Mr. Yim Chun
Leung.

The role and functions of the Corporate Governance Committee
include the following:

(@)  to develop and review the Group’s policies and practices on
corporate governance and make recommendations to the
Board;
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(b) to review and monitor the training and continuous
professional development of Directors and senior
management;

(c)  to review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices
on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

(d) to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and
compliance manual (if any) applicable to employees and
Directors; and

(e) to review the Company’s compliance with the code
provisions of the CG Code and the disclosures in the
Corporate Governance Report.

One meeting of the Corporate Governance Committee were
held during the year under review. The Corporate Governance
Committee had discussed and reviewed the Board’s and the
Group’s compliance with the code provisions of the CG Code
and the prevailing Listing Rules during the year under review. The
Corporate Governance Committee had also reviewed the internal
control reports and had discussion with internal control consultant
on any significant findings and internal control issues for the first
half of the year under review and had revised and restated Code
for Securities Transactions by Directors and Employees and Inside
Information Policy;

The individual attendance of the members of the Corporate
Governance Committee during the year under review was tabulated

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
R IR

b WAKEREFKSHREEAEN
BIlIRSEEEXERE ;

© WEKERARDEETERKE
EREHENEERRER ;

@ FIE-BREREREEREFER
IR TEARGRTFM WA ; &

€ WHARBDBTEEEARTIHNT
AMEXHIERRTE(EEERRSE)
MBI 8

REBRFERTEEEAZEGEHETT —
REZ-LXEERLZEEETHRAERE
FERFEENROBFERNETEEER
STRUBYSFRIR SR IR1T E AR RIRB I o
EEEREEGTECERATRS L5t
REFOBEFEERNERNERERRAERE
HIEERENTRBRBETH R URETR
EINEERARREEETESFRSTRIA
NRHBEER ;

REEFERN EXEREZEERNEN
BRI HERIT -

as follows:
Number of attendance/
Number of meeting
HERYEHRH
Mr. Shi Nanlu el e 1/1
Mr. Ng Sze Yuen, Terry e wbaivie =l 1/1
Mr. Yim Chun Leung BT SE 11

Further details of the terms of reference of Board committees are
available on websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL SYSTEM

The Group recognizes that good risk management is essential for the
long-term and sustainable growth of a business. The Board puts particular
emphasis on determining the risk-tolerance levels in achieving the Group’s
strategic objectives and is responsible for the risk management and
internal control systems and reviewing their effectiveness. Such systems
are designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve
business objectives, and can only provide reasonable and not absolute
assurance against material misstatement or loss. The management also
learns from other outstanding companies and takes into consideration
of the Company’s unique business and operating environment in
formulating the risk management and control framework. All employees
are committed to continually enhancing the risk management framework,
linking to our corporate strategies as well as integrating it into day-to-day
operation.

Objective of the Risk Management and Internal
Control

The objectives of the risk management and internal control framework of
the Group include:

° to strengthen the Company’s risk management and internal control
in compliance with the Listing Rules requirement;

° to establish and constantly improve the risk management and
internal control system;

° to implement a top-down and companywide risk management
system that covers every aspect of the business; and

° to keep baseline risks within the acceptable range.
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Main Features of Risk Management System -
Three-tier Risk Management Approach

The Group has adopted a three-tier risk management approach to
identify, assess, mitigate and handle significant risks. At the first line of
protection, business units are responsible for identifying, assessing and
monitoring risks associated with each business or deal. The management,
as the second line of defense, defines rule sets and models, provide
technical support, develops new systems and oversees portfolio
management. It ensures risks are within the acceptable range and that the
first line of protection is effective. As the final line of protection, the internal
audit department ensures that the first and second lines of protection are
effective through constant inspection and monitoring.

| |

First Line of Second Line of
Protection Protection
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Main Features of Internal Control System

Our internal control systems are developed with reference to the
Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission
principles which involved five elements as internal environment, risk
assessment, control activities, information and communication and
internal supervision. The aim of internal control is to reasonably guarantee
the compliance of its operation and management with regulations and
laws, assets security, and authenticity and integrity of financial report and
related information, improve the efficiency and effect of operating activities
and promote the realization of development strategy of the Group.

AR EIERREERE

FEBZAREZEZRHI2REBERER
THERELZEFTHELEAZEF(Committee
of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway
Commission) R BIFITE » B ke W ERIR IR ~ &Lz 5T
A BEIEES BEARBEBURANBEEERIE
ER NEEZESTAERIAAKLEEES
Ref BEZ2 UBREREMAENEER
BoReREEH I NERYR  REAEERE
R R o

Information and Internal
Communication Environment
HRiBE PIERRIR

Company’s
Objectives
YAGI =
Internal :
Supervision
PUEBEEE

Control
Activities

EREEE

Principal Risks and Key Controls

1. Market risks

The Group’s revenue is mainly derived from customers from PRC.
The Group is exposed to the risks associated with the PRC market
which include the risks of policy change, interest rate change,
demand-supply imbalance and the overall economic conditions.
The market risks may pose an adverse impact on the Group’s
business, financial condition or results of operations.
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The project team will carefully scrutinize each project for
related risks and returns. These include assessment of relevant
government policies, market demand and conditions and economic
data. The management is responsible for supervision, conducting
regular operation reviews and keeping the Board fully informed
through regular reports, and prompt decisions can therefore be
made if changes are required.

Business and operational risks

Distinctive risks factors in property related businesses such as
default of buyers, tenants and strategic business partners, and
inadequacies or failures of internal processes, people and systems
may have different levels of negative impact on the results of the
Group’s operation. Industrial accidents may happen although
precautionary measures is established, which may damage the
Company’s reputation or cause financial loss to the Group.

The internal audit team will review key activities of the Group and
ensures all material controls, including financial and operational, are
functioning effectively. Precautionary and contingency measures are
also set up to ensure the Group is protected against major potential
loss, damage or impact to our operations. Insurance coverage
against accidental losses and/or other hazards is used in protecting
our assets and reputation against any potential liabilities.

Financial risks

The investment and business operation are exposed to risks from
exchange rates, interest rates and liquidity. Amid global financial
uncertainties, the financial risks encountered by the Group had
increased accordingly.

The Group closely monitors the financial risks and when appropriate
will adopt measures to manage and hedge corresponding risks by
using of derivatives such as interest rate and currency swaps. The
Group’s cash and financing are centrally managed and controlled
at the corporate level to achieve a better borrowing terms and
coherent financial risk management. To meet our obligations as and
when needed, the Group maintains sufficient facilities with various
banks and financial institutions. The maturity of deposits and loans
is carefully planned and managed to reduce liquidity risk.
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4. Talent risks

Talent shortage and high employee turnover will have a negative
impact on the Group’s present and future performance. We believe
that human resources are of critical importance for the success of
the Company.

To attract, motivate and retain talented employees, the Group
evaluate our employee remuneration packages and monitor them
against market trends. We provide on-the-job training for new staff
and offer career advancement opportunities for suitable staff to
develop their full potential at various stages of their career. We also
encourage communication with all levels of staff to gather feedback
and suggestions for future improvement.

Review of Internal Control System

The internal audit department of the Company (“Internal Audit
Department”) in the year under review was responsible for the internal
control functions. The Internal Audit Department is required to provide
internal control assessment reports to the Audit Committee and the Board
on a regular or ad hoc basis.

The Board recognized its responsibility to ensure the Group maintains a
sound and effective risk management and internal control system. The
Directors had conducted a review of the effectiveness of the system of
internal control of the Group during the Year. Such review had covered
all material controls including financial, operational and compliance
controls and risk management functions. No major issue but areas for
improvement have been identified. The Board and the Audit Committee
considered that the key areas of the Group’s internal control systems are
reasonably implemented.
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HANDLING AND DISSEMINATION OF
INSIDE INFORMATION

The procedures and internal controls for the handling and dissemination
of inside information are as follows:

° the Group conducts its affairs with close regard to the disclosure
requirement under the Listing Rules as well as the “Guidelines on
Disclosure of Inside Information” published by the Securities and
Future Commission in June 2012;

° the Group has implemented and disclosed its policy on fair
disclosure by pursuing broad, non-exclusive distribution of
information to the public through channels such as financial
reporting, public announcements and its website;

o the Group has strictly prohibited unauthorized use of confidential or
inside information;

° the Group has established and implemented procedures for
responding to external enquiries about the Group’s affairs, so that
only the executive Directors of the Company, company secretary
and investor relations officers are authorized to communicate with
parties outside the Group; and

o employees or Directors possessing inside information should
report the same to an executive Director, who will then report to
the Board. The Board will then discuss and handle the relevant
disclosures or dissemination of inside information accordingly.

COMPANY SECRETARY

The appointment and removal of the Company Secretary is subject to
the Board’s approval in accordance with the articles of association of the
Company.

The Company Secretary is responsible for advising the Board through the
chairperson and/or the chief executive officer on governance matters and
assisting the Board in discharging its obligations to Shareholders pursuant
to the Listing Rules. He is also responsible for ensuring that the activities
of the Board conducted efficiently and effectively, and procedures and all
applicable laws and regulations complied with, and facilitating induction
and professional developments of the Directors, the company secretary
has taken no less than 15 hours of relevant professional training.
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ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT
Financial Reporting

The Directors acknowledge that they are responsible for the preparation
of accounts which give a true and fair view of the Group. The Company
has selected appropriate accounting policies and has applied them
consistently based on prudent and reasonable judgments and estimates.

During the year under review, all Directors have been given on a quarterly
basis the latest information report about the financial position and
business development of the Group. The Directors endeavor to ensure
a balanced and understandable assessment of the Company’s position
and prospects in annual reports, interim reports, inside information
announcements and other disclosures required under the Listing Rules
and other statutory requirements.

The statement of the auditor of the Company about its reporting
responsibilities on the accounts of the Group is set out in the section
headed “Independent Auditor’'s Report” in this annual report.

OPERATION OF MEETING AND SUPPLY
OF AND ACCESS TO INFORMATION

Notice of at least 14 days should be given of a regular board meeting to
give all directors an opportunity to attend. For all other board meetings,
reasonable notice should be given.

Board or committee papers will as far as practicable be sent to all
Directors at least three days before the intended date of a Board meeting
or a Board committee meeting.

Management has supplied the Board and its committees with adequate
information and explanations so as to enable them to make an informed
assessment of the information put before the Board and its Board
committees for approval. Management is also invited to join the Board or
Board committee meetings where appropriate.

Draft and final version of minutes of the meetings should be sent to all
Board and Board committee members for their comment and records.
Minutes of the meetings are kept by our Company Secretary, and the
Board and Board committee members may inspect the documents and
minutes of the Board and the Board committees at any time.
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AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

The audit fee of the Group in respect of audit services provided by the
independent auditor, Ernst & Young, for the Year was RMB1,680,000
(2020: RMB1,700,000).

During the year under review, the independent auditor was also engaged
to review the interim results of the Company at a fee of RMB420,000
(2020: RMB300,000) and no other non-audit services took place (2020:
Nil).

NON-COMPETE UNDERTAKINGS

Each of the controlling shareholders and the Company entered into
the Amended Non-Compete Undertakings to amend the Existing Non-
Compete Undertakings, which will supersede and replace in its entirety
the Existing Non-Compete Undertakings. In summary, pursuant to the
Amended Non-Compete Undertakings, any member of the Zhong An
Group will be entitled to be engaged in property management business
(including but not limited to residential, commercial or mixed commercial-
residential use properties and related ancillary services and for the
avoidance of doubt, does not include operations and management of
hotel and cinema) in the PRC, and the Group will no longer be engaged
in any property management business (excluding operations and
management of hotel and cinema) in the PRC. Please refer to the circular
dated 5 March 2021 for details.

DIRECTORS’ AND OFFICERS’
INSURANCE

The Company had arranged liability insurance for Directors and senior
management officers of the Company with appropriate coverage in
respect of legal action against them arising from their duties performed.
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DIRECTORS’ CONTINUING ERFETEER
PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT

All Directors are encouraged to participate in continuous professional ZAATHENFMTEEESEFEREELRE IR
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills. The B EMMBMERRAE AR T B EEFIRM
Company updates Directors on the latest development regarding the EHBRIUREMEREESIRENRITEET
Listing Rules and other applicable regulatory requirements from time i UBREEETRENLESAER TR
and time, to ensure compliance and enhance their awareness of good FH¥ RIFHEEAERMER -

corporate governance practices.

According to the records provided by the Directors, a summary of training  RIFEEIRMHMECHE  NOBEEER > EEHRE

received by Directors during the year under review is as follows: SHEINBELT

Type of continuous
Name of Directors professional development
EEH4 FEEEEREN
Executive Directors BITES
Mr. Shi Nanlu i e B S AE B
Mr. Liu Bo BTt B
Ms. Tang Yiyan FElafkzt B
Non-executive Director ERITES
Mr. Shi Zhongan ik B
Mr. Tang Min Eqies B
Independent Non-executive Directors BIIERITES
Mr. Ng Sze Yuen, Terry S wbaivie =l A/B
Mr. Xu Chengfa BRERE A/B
Mr. Yim Chun Leung iR E A/B
Notes: 5T

A attending briefing sessions and/or seminars relating to matters in financial, legal ~ A: HEBMMS AERCESATANBNE R

and corporate governance R E

B: reading seminar materials and updates relating to the latest development of the ~ B: BEAM LLTRAREMBEREERERMERY
Listing Rules and other applicable regulatory requirements st EE R REMER
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MECHANISM FOR THE PROPERTY
DEVELOPMENT ON MIXED-USE LANDS

In relation to the mechanism for the property development on Mixed-
use Lands (as defined in the prospectus of the Company dated 16 June
2014 (“Prospectus”)), each of Zhong An together with its subsidiaries,
(the “Zhong An Group”) and the Company has undertaken to each
other that it must, in respect of each of its financial year ending after the
Listing, instruct its auditor or independent financial advisers to review
such documents as the auditor or independent financial advisers may
require and confirm to its board of directors that the mechanism set out
the section headed “Relationship with our Controlling Shareholders —
Joint property development on mixed commercial-residential use land
projects” in the Prospectus had been complied with during such financial
year. During the year under review, the Directors confirm that there has
not been any occasion where an opportunity aroused for an acquisition
and development of land for property development project on mixed
commercial-residential use land projects in which the remaining Zhong
An Group (i.e. Zhong An Group, excluding the Group) (the “Remaining
Zhong An Group”) has invited the Group to participate in the Joint
Development (as defined in the Prospectus).

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted a code of conduct regarding the Directors’
securities transactions on terms no less exacting than the required
standard set out in the Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) set out in Appendix 10 to
the Listing Rules.

Having made specific enquiry of all Directors, all Directors have confirmed
that they have complied with the required standard set out in the Model
Code and the Company’s code of conduct during the year under review.

Senior management who, because of their office in the Group, are likely
to be in possession of inside information, have also been requested
to comply with the provisions of the Model Code when dealing in the
Company’s shares.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

Convening Extraordinary General Meeting and
Putting Forward Proposals at Shareholders’
Meetings

Pursuant to article 64 of the Articles, general meetings shall be convened
on the written requisition of any two or more Shareholders made to
Directors or the Secretary specifying the objects of the meeting, provided
that such requisitionists held as at the date of deposit of the requisition
shall not hold less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company
which carries the right of voting at general meetings of the Company.
If the Board does not within 21 days from the date of deposit of the
requisition proceed duly to convene the meeting to be held within a further
21 days, the requisitionist(s) themselves may convene the general meeting
in the same manner, as nearly as possible, as that in which meetings may
be convened by the Board and all reasonable expenses incurred by the
requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board shall be reimbursed to
them by the Company.

Procedures for Proposing a Person for Election
as a Director

If a shareholder, who is entitled to attend and vote at the relevant
general meeting, wishes to nominate a person (not being the nominating
shareholder) to stand for election as a Director, he or she should give to
the company secretary of the Company notice in writing of the intention
to propose a person for election as a Director and notice in writing by
that person of his or her willingness to be so elected, no earlier than the 7
clear days after the dispatch of the notice of the relevant general meeting
and no later than 7 clear days prior to the date appointed for the relevant
general meeting.

Detailed procedures for Shareholders to propose a person for election as
a Director are available on the Company’s website.

China New City Commercial Development Limited
2021 Annual Report

Rz SRAER

BRRRFIAERNIRRAE LIE
Ilillu?!z

IRIFARRI B 6415 » BRI AE A R M8 L
RRAEFINERRIARAGENNEEE
RMBFA EERXLMEBRER > ZF25H

ARBT IR EARELRABRRAE LREN
TABBEREN+DZ — - HERKIERBIE
NHANEFEUERBERABABRAE 257
ATEZERLXEBERERAKREARE  BNEEFS
BRAE— K REFEREARAEEREHR
ANEEN—YEERAZAAARRREFEN-

RBEALTSEEFENRE

HARHEERRREAG RN ERENRR
MRS —B AL (LIFFHIEGHNKRR) 28E
EREEFRENFTERARRAGENREL
BRAERARRRASEERTARANEL
HEIE mARRNARMERELEREN &
TEERLE—BAIBEES UAZBALRE
BE2ENEREN-

RERBDALTSEEENREFENRETLTHE

U TE



INVESTOR RELATIONS/WITH
SHAREHOLDERS AND INVESTORS
COMMUNICATION

The Company attaches great importance to communication with
the Shareholders. A number of means are used to promote greater
understanding and dialogue with the Shareholders. The means of
access includes the release by the Company of the various corporate
communication of the Company via the website of the Stock Exchange
and the website of the Company (http://www.chinanewcity.com.cn).
Shareholders are encouraged by the Company to attend general
meetings of the Company where the chairperson of the Company and
other members of the Board and (if appropriate) the auditor of the
Company, are available to answer questions.

In addition, our chairperson, Directors and senior management actively
participated in various investor relations activities to reach and establish
a good long-term interactive relationship with shareholders and potential
investors. We introduced our current operating conditions and future
development strategies and at the same time also received advices
from investors regarding the Company’s development, from which we
understand more about investors’ expectations of the Company. Thereby,
we can continue improving the operation management of the Company
and establish effective mutual communication channels.

Enquiries and Proposals to the Board

Shareholders are encouraged to communicate with the Company for any
enquiries in relation to the affairs of the Group. Shareholders may contact
the Company in writing to the Company’s head office in the PRC or the
Company’s principal place of business in Hong Kong or by e-mail to
cnc_ir@chinanewcity.com.cn or direct any enquiries to the Company’s
investor relations representative, Capital Markets Department, whose
contact details are set out in the annual report of which this report forms
part.
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Annual General Meeting

The 2020 annual general meeting was held on 10 June 2021 at Crystal
Hall, 4th Floor, Holiday Inn Hangzhou Xiaoshan, No. 688 Shanyin
Road, Xiaoshan District, Hangzhou, Zhejiang Province, the PRC. The
Directors and senior management together with the external independent
auditor attended the annual general meeting to answer enquiries from
shareholders and investors attending the meeting. All ordinary resolutions
proposed in the meeting were duly passed by way of poll.

Regular Meetings with Investors

During the year under review, the Directors, senior management and
investor relations team have meetings with investors, fund managers and
financial analysts from time to time, introducing the operating conditions
and development strategies of the Company and answered the questions
raised. The Company provides the investors and analysts with clear
and timely compliance information to enable them to make reasonable
investment decisions with sufficient information.

Investor Relations Plan

In 2022, we will continue to enhance communication with investors in
accordance to the main needs and concerned issues from investors and
analysts. It is expected that after the panademic, multiple activities for
investors will be conducted in the second half of 2022 through field trip,
non-deal roadshow and one-to-one meeting and publishing voluntary
disclosure announcement to mass investors in order to enhance their
understanding of the Group.

Should investors have any inquiries and/or suggestions, please contact us
at cnc_ir@chinanewcity.com.cn.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

The Company’s constitutional documents was adopted on 31 May 2014.
There was no change in the memorandum and articles of association of
the Company during the year under review.

For and on behalf of the Board
China New City Commercial Development Limited

Shi Zhongan
Chairperson
Hong Kong, 24 March 2022
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
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DIRECTORS
Executive Directors

Mr. Shi Nanlu (ARG B8 55 4E) , aged 39, is the executive Director and chief
executive officer of the Company since 3 April 2020. He is responsible
for the daily operation and management, strategic investments and new
business exploration of the Group. He joined Zhong An Group Limited
(“Zhong An Group”) in June 2010. He has served as the manager of
the capital management department, manager of the fund management
department and deputy director of the Zhong An Group. He has many
years of experience in financial management. Mr. Shi has resigned from
all of his management positions in the Zhong An Group prior to joining
the Group. He has been a vice president of the Group since June 2015.
Mr. Shi received his undergraduate degree in finance and accounting from
The University of Manitoba in Canada in June 2007.

Mr. Liu Bo (BIig54%), aged 34, is the executive Director and vice
president of the Company since 3 April 2020. He is responsible for overall
daily operations and management of the Group as well as ensuring the
Board functions properly with good corporate governance practice.
He joined the Group in July 2016. He has served as the vice president
of the Group. Prior to joining the Group, he worked in the investment
department of He Jun Capital from December 2012 to July 2013, and
in the business development department of Wan Xiang Trust from
August 2013 to June 2016. He has many years of experience in financial
investment and fund management. Mr. Liu holds a Master’'s Degree in
Actuarial Science from the Boston University in December 2012.

Ms. Tang Yiyan (BT84 1), aged 51, is the executive Director and
vice president of the Company, and is responsible for the overall property
management of our Group. She was appointed as an executive Director
on 30 September 2013. Ms. Tang has over 19 years of experience
in operations and management. Prior to joining the Group, she held
various positions including assistant to general manager of Jiaxing Jiahe
Beijing City Shopping Center Company Limited (52 #5 KIL R EEY)
EIHAER/AE]), and manager of sales department, project supervisor,
deputy general manager and vice general manager in general affairs of
Zhejiang Lai Yin Da Commercial Development Company Ltd. GHr L3 &
EmELRARAT). Ms. Tang obtained a diploma in economics and
management from the Zhejiang Province Mechanic and Politics University
G I & B TEUA K2Z) (currently known as Zhejiang University of
Economics and Management GHTASE SR AZ)) in July 1994.
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Non-executive Directors

Mr. Shi Zhongan (FffiH %2 %t %) (alias Shi Kancheng (##{R %)), aged
59, is a non-executive Director and chairperson of the Board. He was
appointed as a Director on 2 July 2013 and re-designated as non-
executive Director on 30 September 2013. He is responsible for assisting
the Board in the strategic planning of the Group, leading the Board
to ensure that it will perform its roles and carry out its responsibilities
effectively, and ensuring proper corporate governance practices and
procedures are implemented within the Group. However, he does not
participate in the day-to-day management of the business operations of
the Group.

Mr. Shi has almost 30 years of experience in property development and
property investment. Mr. Shi currently serves as the executive director
and chairman of Zhong An (stock code: 00672). Mr. Shi served as a tax
officer in the finance and revenue bureau of Xiaoshan District of Hangzhou
(formerly known as Xiaoshan City) and the general manager of Hangzhou
Xiaoshan Milkyway Real Estate Development Co., Ltd. Mr. Shi completed
an Executive Master of Business Administration Program (Finance Track)
organized by Shanghai National Accounting Institute and obtained a CFO
Quialifying Training Certificate in June 2007. From 2005 to 2006, Mr. Shi
completed a program for executive officers, focusing on globalization
and real estate developers, co-organized by Harvard University, Tsinghua
University, The University of Hong Kong and the United States Military
Academy and a program for presidents of real estate companies
organized by Zhejiang University in July 2006. Mr. Shi obtained a doctoral
degree of business administration program jointly organized by Shanghai
Advanced Institute of Finance (SAIF) and W. P. Carey School of Business,
Arizona State University (ASU) in the US in May 2017. Mr. Shi is also a
director of certain members of the Remaining Zhong An Group and the
Group. Mr. Shi is the sole director and the sole shareholder of Whole
Good Management Limited, which is the controlling shareholder of the
Group.

Mr. Tang Min ( ELR% ), aged 66, is the non-executive Director of the
Company and vice chairperson of the Board since 3 April 2020. He is
responsible for the formulation of development strategies. He is a senior
economist.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Independent non-executive Directors

Mr. Ng Sze Yuen, Terry (R 7t5E%E), aged 62, is an independent
non-executive Director and vice chairperson of the Board. He was
appointed as an independent non-executive Director on 31 May 2014.
He has over 34 years of experience in operation and management and
is now the chief executive officer and an executive director of L’AVENUE
International Holdings Limited, a private company in Hong Kong. His
leadership responsibilities include strategic planning, financial investments,
management of property development and investment portfolio, both in
Hong Kong and overseas. Since October 2017, he has been appointed
as an independent non-executive director of Sun Hing Printing Holdings
Limited (stock code: 01975), a company whose shares are listed on the
main board of the Stock Exchange and provides independent views to
the board as well as its audit committee and nomination committee. Mr.
Ng was an executive director of Hang Lung Group Limited (stock code:
00010), Hang Lung Properties Limited (stock code: 00101) and Giordano
International Limited (stock code: 00709), companies whose shares are
listed on the main board of the Stock Exchange, respectively. He also
worked at the Stock Exchange and held various positions. Mr. Ng is a
fellow member of CPA Australia.

Mr. Xu Chengfa (ZEmE5c4E), aged 69, is an independent non-
executive Director. He was appointed as an independent non-executive
Director on 31 May 2014. Mr. Xu has over 24 years of experience in
banking operations and management. He worked in the Hong Kong
Branch of Bank of Communications Co., Ltd. (stock code: 03328),
a company whose shares are listed on the main board of the Stock
Exchange and held various positions including senior manager of
investment banking department, senior manager of corporate services
department, assistant general manager, deputy general manager, deputy
chief executive officer and consultant.

Mr. Yim Chun Leung (B&#R5%c4), aged 60, is an independent non—
executive Director. He was appointed as an independent non-executive
Director on 31 May 2014. Mr. Yim has over 37 years of experience in
auditing, accounting and corporate finance fields. He is the independent
non-executive Director who has the qualifications and experience to meet
the requirements under Rule 3.10(2) of the Listing Rules.
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Mr. Yim is a non-practicing member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants, a fellow of the Association of Chartered Certified
Accountants and a fellow of the Institute of Chartered Accountants in
England and Wales. He also possesses a master’'s degree in business
administration.

Mr. Yim is also an executive director of Jacobson Pharma Corporation
Limited (@ company whose shares are listed on the main board of the
Stock Exchange, stock code: 02633) which, together with its group
companies, are vertically integrated with the research, development,
production, sale and distribution of generics, specialty drugs, and
branded healthcare products. He has been appointed as a non-executive
director of JBM (Healthcare) Limited (stock code: 02161) since 22
September 2020, whose shares are listed on the main board of the Stock
Exchange. Mr. Yim had served in numerous companies listed on the main
board of the Stock Exchange which included an executive director and
chief executive officer of LVGEM (China) Real Estate Investment Company
Limited (formerly known as New Heritage Holdings Ltd.) (stock code:
00095) since December 2004 and July 2014 respectively until he resigned
in March 2016, the financial controller of Soundwill Holdings Limited
(stock code: 00878) from May 2002 to June 2004, the chief financial
officer of Sinolink Worldwide Holdings Limited (stock code: 01168)
from December 2000 to February 2002, an executive director of N P H
International Holdings Limited (currently known as Concord New Energy
Group Limited, stock code: 00182) from January 1998 to April 1999 and
the finance director of Tysan Holdings Limited (stock code: 00687) from
January 1994 to January 1998.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Yu Gaofeng (Bim &5 4)is the Vice President of the Group,
in charge of investment development and operation management.
Mr. Yu joined the Group in September 2019. Prior to joining the
Group, he worked in Zhong An Group Limited from February 2004 to
September 2019. He has been engaged in the real estate, marketing
planning, general manager of the project company and the director of
the president’s office. He has many years of experience in real estate
development. Mr. Yu obtained a bachelor degree in civil engineering
(engineering management) from Zhejiang University in February 2009.
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THE REPORT OF DIRECTORS

The board (“Board”) of directors (the “Directors”) of China New
City Commercial Development Limited (the “Company”) are pleased
to present their annual report to shareholders of the Company (the
“Shareholders”) and the audited financial statements of the Company
and its subsidiaries (hereinafter collectively referred to as the “Group”) for
the year ended 31 December 2021 (“the year under review”).

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company. The Group is principally
engaged in commercial property development, leasing and hotel
operations. The nature of the principal activities has not changed during
the year under review.

BUSINESS REVIEW, KEY
PERFORMANCE INDICATORS AND
FUTURE DEVELOPMENT

A discussion on the business review of the Group and an analysis of the
performance of the Group based on certain financial key performance
indicators for the year under review are set out in the section headed
“Management Discussion and Analysis” of this annual report.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The Group’s profit for the year under review and the state of affairs of the
Company and the Group at 31 December 2021 are set out in the financial
statements on pages 89 to 96.

The Board does not recommend the payment of any final dividend for the
year ended 31 December 2021 (2020: Nil).

SUMMARY OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL INFORMATION

A summary of the published results and assets, liabilities and non-
controlling interests of the Group for the last five financial years, as
extracted from the audited financial statements is set out on page 252.
This summary does not form part of the audited financial statements.
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PROPERTY. AND EQUIPMENT, AND
INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Details of movements in the property and equipment, and investment
properties of the Group during the year under review are set out in notes
12 and 13 to the financial statements respectively. Further details of the
Group’s investment properties are set out on pages 173 to 188.

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND
UNCERTAINTIES

The Group’s principal risks and uncertainties are set out under the
paragraph headed “Principal Risks and Key Controls” in the section
headed “Corporate Governance Report” of this annual report.

KEY RELATIONSHIPS

An account of the Group’s key relationships with its employees,
customers and suppliers are set out in the paragraph headed
“Relationships with Employees, Customers and Suppliers” under the
section headed “Management Discussion and Analysis” of this annual
report.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES

A discussion on the Group’s environmental policies and performance is
set out in the paragraph headed “Environment Policies and Performance”
under the section headed “Management Discussion and Analysis” of this
annual report.

BORROWINGS AND INTEREST
CAPITALISED

Borrowings repayable on demand or within one year are classified under
current liabilities. Details of the long-term borrowings are set out in note
30 to the consolidated financial statements. Interest and other borrowing
costs capitalised by the Group during the year are set out in note 7 to the
consolidated financial statements.
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SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movements in share capital of the Company during the year
under review are set out in note 31 to the financial statements.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Other than the Scheme as disclosed in the section headed “The Report
of Directors — Share Option Scheme” of this annual report and note 32 to
the financial statements respectively, no equity-linked agreements were
entered into by the Company during the year under review or subsisted at
the end of the year under review.

RESERVES

Details of the movements in the reserves of the Group during the year
under review are set out in the consolidated statement of changes in
equity and note 33 to the financial statements.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 December 2021, the Company’s accumulated losses amounted
to approximately RMB82,363,000 and the Company’s share premium
amounted to RMB719,697,000. By passing an ordinary resolution of the
Company, dividends may also be declared and paid out of share premium
account or any other fund or account which can be authorized for this
purpose in accordance with the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The details of the share option scheme (the “Scheme”) approved by
the Shareholders on 20 May 2015 (the “Adoption Date”) are disclosed
pbelow pursuant to the requirements under Chapter 17 of the Rules
(the “Listing Rules”) Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”):

1. Purposes of the scheme

The purpose of the Scheme is to enable the Group to grant
options to selected participants as incentives or rewards for their
contribution to the Group. The Directors consider the Scheme, with
its broadened basis of participation, will enable the Group to reward
the employees, the Directors and other selected participants for
their contributions to the Group. Given that the Directors are entitled
to determine any performance targets to be achieved as well as the
minimum period that an option must be held before an option can
be exercised on a case by case basis, and that the exercise price of
an option cannot in any event fall below the price stipulated in the
Listing Rules or such higher price as may be fixed by the Directors,
it is expected that grantees of an option will make an effort to
contribute to the development of the Group so as to bring about an
increased market price of the Shares in order to capitalise on the
benefits of the options granted.

2. Participants of the Scheme

The Board may, at its absolute discretion, invite any person
belonging to any of the following classes of participants, to take up
options to subscribe for Shares:

(@ any employee (whether full-time or part-time including any
executive Director but excluding any non-executive Director)
of the Company, any of the Company’s subsidiaries or any
entity (“Invested Entity”) in which any member of the Group
holds an equity interest;

(b) any non-executive Directors (including independent non-
executive Directors) of the Company, any of the Company’s
subsidiaries or any Invested Entity;
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(c) any supplier of goods or services to any member of the
Group or any Invested Entity;

(d)  any customer of any member of the Group or any Invested
Entity;

(e) any person or entity that provides research, development or
other technological support to any member of the Group or
any Invested Entity;

(f) any adviser (professional or otherwise) or consultant to any
area of business or business development of any member of
the Group or any Invested Entity;

(@ any other group or classes of participants who have
contributed or may contribute by way of joint venture,
business alliance or other business arrangement to the
development and growth of the Group;

and, for the purposes of the Scheme, the offer for the grant of
option may be made to any company wholly owned by one or more
persons belonging to any of the above classes of participants.

For avoidance of doubt, the grant of any options by the Company
for the subscription of Shares or other securities of the Group to
any person who falls within any of the above classes of participants
shall not, by itself, unless the Board otherwise determine, be
construed as a grant of option under the Scheme.

The eligibility of any of the above class of participants to an offer for
the grant of any option shall be determined by the Board from time
to time on the basis of the Board’s opinion as to his contribution to
the development and growth of the Group.
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3. Maximum number of the Shares available
for Subscription

@)

The maximum number of Shares which may be allotted and
issued upon the exercise of all outstanding options granted
and yet to be exercised under the Scheme and any other
share option scheme adopted by the Group must not in
aggregate exceed 30% of the share capital of the Company
in issue from time to time.

The total number of the Shares which may be allotted and
issued upon the exercise of all options (excluding, for this
purpose, options which have lapsed in accordance with the
terms of the Scheme and any other share option scheme of
the Group) to be granted under the Scheme and any other
share option scheme of the Group must not in aggregate
exceed 10% of the number of Shares in issue as at the date
of approval of the Scheme (“General Scheme Limit”").

Subject to (a) above but without prejudice to (d) below, the
Company may seek approval of the Shareholders in general
meeting to refresh the General Scheme Limit provided that
the total number of Shares which may be allotted and issued
upon exercise of all options to be granted under the Scheme
and any other share option scheme of the Group must not
exceed 10% of the number of Shares in issue as at the
date of approval of the refreshed limit and, for the purpose
of calculating the refreshed limit, options (including those
outstanding, cancelled, lapsed or exercised in accordance
with the Scheme and any other share option scheme of
the Group) previously granted under the Scheme and any
other share option scheme of the Group will not be counted.
The circular sent by the Company to the Shareholders shall
contain, among other information, the information required
under Rule 17.02(2)(d) of the Listing Rules and the disclaimer
required under Rule 17.02(4) of the Listing Rules.
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(d)  Subject to (a) above and without prejudice to (c) above,
the Company may seek separate Shareholders’ approval
in general meeting to grant options beyond the General
Scheme Limit or, if applicable, the refreshed limit referred
to in (c) above to participants specifically identified by the
Company before such approval is sought. In such event,
the Company must send a circular to the Shareholders
containing a generic description of the specified participants,
the number and terms of options to be granted, the purpose
of granting options to the specified participants with an
explanation as to how the terms of the options serve such
purpose and such other information required under Rule
17.02(2)(d) of the Listing Rules and the disclaimer required
under Rule 17.02(4) of the Listing Rules.

Maximum entitlement of each participant

The total number of Shares issued and which may fall to be issued
upon the exercise of the options granted under the Scheme
and any other share option scheme of the Group (including both
exercised or outstanding options) to each grantee in any 12-month
period shall not exceed 1% of the number of Shares in issue for
the time being (the “Individual Limit”). Any further grant of options
in excess of the Individual Limit in any 12-month period up to
and including the date of such further grant must be separately
approved by the Shareholders in general meeting of the Company
with such grantee and his close associates (or his associates if
the grantee is a connected person of the Company) abstaining
from voting. The number and terms (including the exercise price)
of options to be granted must be fixed before the approval of the
Shareholders and the date of the Board meeting for proposing such
further grant should be taken as the date of grant for the purpose of
calculating the exercise price under note (1) to Rule 17.03(9) of the
Listing Rules.
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5. Grant of options to the Directors, chief

executive or substantial shareholders
of the Company or their respective
associates

(@  Any grant of options under the Scheme to a Director, chief
executive or substantial shareholder of the Company or
any of their respective associates must be approved by
independent non-executive Directors (excluding independent
non-executive Director who or whose associates is the
proposed grantee of the options).

(b)  Where any grant of options to a substantial shareholder
or an independent non-executive Director or any of their
respective associates would result in the Shares issued and
to be issued upon exercise of all options already granted and
to be granted (including options exercised, cancelled and
outstanding) to such person in the 12-month period up to
and including the date of such grant:

(i) representing in aggregate over 0.1% of the Shares in
issue; and

(ii) having an aggregate value, based on the closing price
of the Shares at the date of each offer for the grant, in
excess of HK$5 million;

such further grant of options must be approved by Shareholders
in general meeting. The Company must send a circular to the
Shareholders. The grantee, his associates and all core connected
persons of the Company must abstain from voting in favour at
such general meeting, except that any connected person may vote
against the relevant resolution at the general meeting provided
that his intention to do so has been stated in the circular. Any vote
taken at the meeting to approve the grant of such options must be
taken on a poll. Any change in the terms of options granted to a
substantial shareholder or an independent non-executive Director
or any of their respective associates must be approved by the
Shareholders in general meeting.
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Minimum period for which an option must
be held before it can be exercised and the
exercise period of the option:

An option may be exercised in accordance with the terms of the
Share Option Scheme at any time during a period to be determined
and notified by the Board to each grantee, which period may
commence from the date of the offer for the grant of options is
made, but shall end in any event not later than 10 years from
the date of grant of the option subject to the provisions for early
termination thereof. Unless otherwise determined by the Board and
stated in the offer for the grant of options to a grantee, there is no
minimum period required under the Scheme for the holding of an
option before it can be exercised.

Amount payable on acceptance of the
option and the period within which
payment must be made:

A nominal consideration of HK$1 is payable on acceptance of the
grant of an option and options may be accepted by a participant
within 21 days from the date of the offer of grant of the option.

Basis of determining the exercise price:

The exercise price for the Shares under the Scheme shall be a price
determined by the Board, but shall not be less than the highest of
(i) the closing price of the Shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s
daily quotations sheet on the date of the offer for the grant, which
must be a business day; (iij the average closing price of Shares
as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations for the five
business days immediately preceding the date of the offer for the
grant; and (iii) the nominal value of a Share.

Remaining life of the Scheme:

The Scheme became effective on 20 May 2015 and unless
otherwise cancelled or amended, will remain in force for a period of
10 years from that date.

6.
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OUTSTANDING OPTIONS

On 18 February 2020, the Company granted share options to the
employees of the Company and other eligible participants (the
“Grantees”) to subscribe for an aggregate of up to 173,800,000 ordinary
shares of HK$0.10 each in the share capital of the Company under the
Scheme adopted by the Company on 20 May 2015 at an exercise price
per share of HK$0.998. The number of share options so granted to the
respective classes of Grantees are summarised as follows:

Classes of Grantees

e R 1T B BV R B

1£20205F2813H » KA B RIBAR QB 11201545
SA20H Mz ZetBmA R R EERAMEE
wamE ((RBA) BHERE URESHER
%173,800,000/% A4 A B ¢ A A 5 IR I 1E0. 1078
T EER SRERMITEERC.BEIT T
ZHER A ANERES BB T

Number of share
options granted

AR ANER RHUNEREHRE
Employees BE 154,682,000
Suppliers Note g mAE 13,904,000
Advisors o [BE R 5,214,000
Total: =Ea 173,800,000

Note: The purpose of the Scheme is to enable the Group to grant share options to
selected participants as incentives or rewards for their contribution to the Group.
Particularly, the share options are granted to the suppliers of the Group to attract
and maintain ongoing business relationships, and to the advisers of the Group
to recognise their contribution in terms of providing strategic advice in relation to
the overall management of the Group and to optimise the Group’s performance

efficiency.

None of the Grantees is a Director, chief executive or substantial
shareholder of the Company, or an associate (as defined in the Listing
Rules) of any of them. The vesting period of the share options granted
was from 13 February 2020 to 12 February 2022, both dates inclusive.
The closing price before the date of grant of the share options under
the Scheme on 13 February 2020 was HK$1.00. The fair value of the
share options granted during the year ended 31 December 2020 was
HK$27,895,000, which was estimated as at the date of grant using a
binomial option pricing model.

During the year under review, no option was granted, exercised, cancelled
or lapsed under the Scheme. As at 31 December 2021, the number
of shares in respect of which options had been granted and remained
outstanding under the Scheme was 173,800,000.
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PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
articles of association or the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands,
which would oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro rata basis
to existing shareholders.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The sales attributable to the five largest customers of the Group
accounted for approximately 2% of the Group’s consolidated revenue for
the year under review.

The purchases attributable to the five largest suppliers of the Group
accounted for about 24% of the Group’s consolidated purchases for the
year under review.

The largest supplier of the Group accounted for about 12% of the
Group’s consolidated purchases for the year under review.

None of the Directors, their close associates (as defined in the Listing
Rules) or any Shareholders (who or which to the knowledge of the
Directors owns more than 5% of the Company’s issued share capital) has
any interest in any of the Group’s five largest suppliers.

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the year under review and up to the date of this
report were as follows:

Executive Directors

Mr. Shi Nanlu (Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Liu Bo (Vice President)
Ms. Tang Yiyan (Vice President)

Non-executive Director

Mr. Shi Zhongan (alias Shi Kancheng) (Chairperson)
Mr. Tang Min (Vice Chairperson)

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Ng Sze Yuen, Terry (Vice Chairperson)
Mr. Xu Chengfa
Mr. Yim Chun Leung
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The Company has received, from each of the independent non-executive
Directors, an annual confirmation of his independence pursuant to
Rule 3.18 of the Listing Rules and the Company considers all of the
independent non-executive Directors to be independent.

CHANGES IN DIRECTORS’
INFORMATION

Save as disclosed in the “Biographical Details of Directors and Senior
Management” of this annual report, there were no change in the Directors
information subsequent to the publication of the interim report of the
Company for the six months ended 30 June 2021.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN
CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

No transactions, arrangements and contracts of significance to which the
Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party and in which a Director
or his/her connected entity had a material interest, whether directly or
indirectly, subsisted at any time during the year or at the end of the year.

DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT’S BIOGRAPHIES

Biographical details of the Directors and senior management of the Group
are set out on pages 57 to 60 of this annual report.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Each of Mr. Shi Nanlu and Mr. Liu Bo, all being the executive Directors,
has entered into a service contract with the Company pursuant to which
he agreed to act as the executive Director for a term of three years
with effect from 3 April 2020, which is automatically renewable for a
successive term of one year from the next day upon the expiry of the
appointment.

Ms. Tang Yiyan, being executive Director, has entered into a service
contract with the Company pursuant to which she agreed to act as the
executive Director for a term of three years with effect from 31 May 2014,
which is automatically renewable for a successive term of one year from
the next day upon the expiry of the appointment.
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Mr. Shi Zhongan, being non-executive Director, has been appointed
for an initial term of three years with effect from 31 May 2014, which is
automatically renewable for a successive term of one year from the next
day upon the expiry of the appointment.

Mr. Tang Min, being the non-executive Director, has entered into a service
contract with the Company for an initial term of three years with effect
from 3 April 2020, which is automatically renewable for a successive term
of one year from the next day upon the expiry of the appointment.

Each of Mr. Ng Sze Yuen, Terry, Mr. Xu Chengfa and Mr. Yim Chun Leung,
all being independent non-executive Directors, has been appointed for
an initial term of three years with effect from 31 May 2014, which is
automatically renewable for a successive term of one year from the next
day upon the expiry of the appointment.

No Director (including the Directors proposed to be re-elected at the
AGM) has a service contract with the Company which is not determinable
by the Company within one year without payment of compensation, other
than statutory compensation.

DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT’S REMUNERATION

The Directors’ fees are subject to Shareholders’ approval at general
meetings. Other emoluments are determined by the Board with reference
to directors’ duties, responsibilities and performance and the results of the
Group. Details of the Directors’ remuneration during the year under review
is set out in note 8 to the consolidated financial statements.

During the years ended 31 December 2021 and 31 December 2020, no
remuneration was paid by the Group to any of the directors and chief
executive or the five highest paid individuals as an inducement to join or
as compensation for loss of office.

No forfeited contribution is available to reduce the contribution payable in
the future years as of 31 December 2021.
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The band of the remuneration of senior management personal and related
number of members of senior management personnel are as follows:

EAREIEABFMAER U KBRS REEA
BEAHWNT :

o

2021 2020

20215 20204

Number of Number of

Remuneration band (HK$) AR B CBEE) individuals Individuals
A N

Nil to 1,000,000 2% 1,000,0007T - 2
Over 1,000,000 #381,000,0007T 4 1
4 3

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Under the Articles of the Company, the Company had a permitted
indemnity provision (as defined in section 469 of the Companies
Ordinance) in force for the benefit of the Directors throughout the year
under review and as at the date of approval of this report of the Directors,
pursuant to which the Company shall indemnify any Director against any
liability, loss suffered and expenses incurred by the Director in connection
with any legal proceedings in which he is involved by reason of being
a Director, except in any case where the matter in respect of which
indemnification is sought was caused by the fraud or dishonesty of the
Directors. The Company has maintained insurance cover for Directors’
and officers’ liabilities in respect of legal actions against the Directors
arising out of corporate activities. The insurance coverage is reviewed
on an annual basis. During the year under review, no claims were made
against the Directors.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
THE SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES
AND DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY
OR ANY ASSOCIATED CORPORATION

As at 31 December 2021, the interests and short positions of the
Directors and the chief executive of the Company in the shares,
underlying shares and debentures of the Company or any associated
corporation (within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures
Ordinance, Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong (the “SFO”), as
recorded in the register required to be kept under Section 352 of the
SFO or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to the Model Code, were as follows:
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122021F12B310 > A RBEFRESITHA
BRARB RN ER (FEBEGHE571
BERESKRAERA (EHFRBEEA) SXVE
BYRE) BIRM - BRERMD RERERERTA
RIRE S R ERA E352F R EFERN M
Rz EmAR R WRBRETRASTANE R
NE MRz Bm Rk AT

Name of Approximate

Group member/ percentage of

Name of Director associated corporation Capacity/nature of interest Number of share(s) held shareholding

FEEREAE/

EE4 LB R a1/ it E PR 8B BRERLAT AT
(Note 1)
(Hiz#1)

Mr. Zhongan The Company Interest of controlled corporations 1,356,889,594 shares of 67.48%
(Note 2) HK$0.10 each (L)
ik NG SR EEN R (Wa2) 1,356,889,594 R SR E
0.10BTRMHL)

Zhong An Interest of controlled corporation 3,262,411,200 shares of 57.89%
(Note 3) HK$0.10 each (L)
by SETIEENES (153 3,262,411,200 SR EE

Whole Good Beneficial owner
24F BLnBEAA

0.10BTTRABL)

1 share of US$1.00 (L) 100%
1REET.00ETTRMBL)

FEF AL ERERAD
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Notes:

= The letter “L” denotes the person’s long position in the shares and underlying

shares of the Company or the relevant associated corporation.

2, Among these 1,356,889,594 ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each in the Company
(“Shares”), 1,325,586,000 Shares are held by Ideal World Investments Limited
(“Ideal World”), a wholly owned subsidiary of Zhong An. The entire issued shares
of Zhong An are owned as to about 57.89% by Whole Good, which is wholly
owned by Mr. Shi Zhongan. In addition, 31,303,594 Shares are held by Whole
Good. By virtue of the SFO, Mr. Shi Zhongan is taken to be interested in the
Shares in which each of Ideal World and Whole Good is interested.

3. These shares are held by Whole Good. By virtue of the SFO, Mr. Shi Zhongan
is deemed to be interested in the shares of Zhong An in which Whole Good is

interested.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2021, none of the Directors
or chief executive of the Company had any interests and short positions
in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company or
any associated corporation (within the meaning of Part XV of SFO), as
recorded in the register required to be kept under Section 352 of the
SFO, or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to the Model Code.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2021, none of the Directors
and chief executives of the Company had or were deemed under the SFO
to have any interests or short positions in the shares, underlying shares
and debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations
as recorded in the register required to be kept under Section 352 of the
SFO, or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to the Model Code.
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MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed in the Prospectus and in this annual report, no
contracts of significance concerning the management and administration
of the whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company were
entered into or subsisted during the year under review.

NON-COMPETE UNDERTAKINGS

The Company has received the written confirmation from Ideal
World, Zhong An, Whole Good and Mr. Shi Zhongan (collectively, the
“Controlling Shareholders”) in respect of the compliance with the
provisions of the amended non-compete undertakings (“Amended
Non-compete Undertakings”), entered into between the Controlling
Shareholders and the Company as set out in the circular dated 5 March
2021.

The independent non-executive Directors had reviewed and confirmed
that the Controlling Shareholders have complied with the Non-compete
Undertakings and the Non-compete Undertakings has been enforced by
the Company in accordance with its terms during the year under review.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE
SHARES OR DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Directors’ and chief executive’s
interests and short positions in the shares, underlying shares and
debentures of the Company or any associated corporation”, at no time
during the year under review were rights to acquire benefits by means of
the acquisition of shares in or debentures of the Company granted to any
Director or their respective spouses or minor children, or were any such
rights exercised by them; or was the Company or any of its subsidiaries a
party to any arrangement to enable the Directors to acquire such rights in
any other body corporate.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES

As at 31 December 2021, so far as is known to the Directors, the
following persons (other than a Director or the chief executive of the
Company) had an interest or short position in the Shares and underlying
Shares as recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company
under Section 336 of the SFO:
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Percentage of
the Company’s
issued share
Name of shareholder Capacity/nature of interest Number of Shares held capital
EEATBERIT
RERBTE 517 #EtE FrfERn B 2= o
(Note 1)
(HyzE1)
|deal World Beneficial owner 1,325,586,000 Shares (L) 65.92%
BEmEAA 1,325,586,000 JZAZ 14 (L)
Zhong An Interest of controlled corporation (Note 2) 1,325,586,000 Shares (L) 65.92%
ME RESIEENER (H52) 1,325,586,000 BZBZ1A(L)
Whole Good Interest of controlled corporation (Note 2) 1,325,586,000 Shares (L) 65.92%
24f SEGEEN R (H5t2) 1,325,586,000 ARAZA(L)
Beneficial owner 31,303,594 Shares (L) 1.56%
BEmEAA 31,303,594 B&AZ1A(L)
Notes: Bt
1. The Letter “L” denotes the person’s long position in the Shares. 1. FRMNARZALREBOHEFE -

2. These Shares are held by Ideal World, the wholly owned subsidiary of Zhong An. 2. ZERDHARLELEN B R EIdeal WorldfFH o R

The entire issued shares of Zhong An are owned as to about 57.89% by Whole ZWEEEETROBDYY HRETRLELER
Good, which is wholly owned by Mr. Shi Zhongan. By virtue of the SFO, each E) FBH57.890%m - IRIEFZ S MPERM R
of Zhong An, Whole Good and Mr. Shi Zhongan is taken to be interested in the T2 R L e S BIE AR deal World#E
Shares in which Ideal World is interested. E%& SRIRRD PR A o

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2021, other than the Bk EXXFFIREEE SN 1R2021FE128318 » FRALD
Directors and the chief executive of the Company whose interests are set BEERBSITHAS ERFHN EXES
out in the paragraph headed “Directors’ and chief executive’s interests &S THA BR4A T 2 (E RIAB B A E YR
and short positions in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the 7~ 1ERAR ) K BB IR KA1 —ER) Fb
Company or any associated corporation” above, no person had interest % A £ IR1D AR D ¥R B BN IR I
or short position in the Shares or underlying Shares which were required 55 % KR HIE B E336IK R ER AT FEENE
to be recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company SR ERIKE o

pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO.
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RETIREMENT SCHEMES

The Group participates in defined contribution retirement benefit schemes
organized by the PRC municipal and provincial government authorities
for the Group’s eligible employees in the PRC, and operates a Mandatory
Provident Fund scheme for the employees in Hong Kong. Particulars of
these retirement plans are set out in note 2 to the consolidated financial
statements.

TAX RELIEF

The Company is not aware of any tax relief or exemption available to the
Shareholders by reason of their holding of the Shares.

CHARITABLE CONTRIBUTIONS

During the year under review, the Group donated RMB314,000 (2020:
RMB3,250,000).

PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and,
to the knowledge of the Directors, they confirm that the Company has
maintained at least 25% of the Company’s total issued share capital held
by the public for the year under review and as at the date of this annual
report.

PURCHASE, REDEMPTION OR SALE OF
LISTED SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

Neither the Company, nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, redeemed or
sold any of the Company’s listed securities during the year.
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EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING YEAR

The Board is not aware of any significant event requiring disclosure that
has taken place subsequent to 31 December 2021 and up to the date of
this annual report.

DISCLOSURE UNDER RULE 13.20 OF
THE LISTING RULES

The Directors were not aware of any circumstances resulting in the
responsibility of disclosure under Rule 13.20 of the Listing Rules regarding
the provision of advances by the Company to an entity.

AUDITOR

Ernst & Young will retire and a resolution for its reappointment as auditor
of the Company will be proposed at the AGM.

On Behalf of the Board of
China New City Commercial Development Limited

Shi Zhongan
Chairperson

Hong Kong, 24 March 2022
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

st
EY:x

To the shareholders of China New City Commercial Development
Limited

(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands as an exempted company with
limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of China New City
Commercial Development Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(the “Group”) set out on pages 89 to 251, which comprise the
consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 2021, and
the consolidated statement of profit or loss, the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity
and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended,
and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary
of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
December 2021, and of its consolidated financial performance and its
consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”) issued by the
International Accounting Standards Board (the “IASB”) and have been
properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (‘“HKSAs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA”). Our responsibilities under those standards
are further described in the Auditor’'s responsibilities for the audit of
the consolidated financial statements section of our report. We are
independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of
Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe
that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.

J N AZ B

RPEAETEEERARAFDZERR

(RSB ML I AR FIRAE])

ER

BB EZENFEOE251 BN RN T i 2
ZRARLE (MBRE)) kHENELE (TE%
B)) MRS BIRE I R OEE20214
12A3TANGEMBRRRABEZALFE
WEcEa R REetEREX ReEnEs)
K REREREXRUKRGEMHRERMNT &
EIEGTHERE-

EMRA REMBERROIREBEER S ER R
B8 ((ERGHENZEE)) BEh 2 BEKRMH
REZED (ERMBHREEN) EEQATMK
R BSEEN2021F12831H ZE &M BRI
MR BEEREZEZOLEFEZEREUER
RREFGRERE TEREBESERAGRHZ
BERETEAER-

ERNER

RHCREESBEHMAE (EEEHAAE)
BmE(EBESER) ((BFRBEER)) &
TEST - RMEZFE TAENSEEELR
& R BEDFL AT 47 S R B IR AR IEFIE(E ) BB
PHREE—STBEL - RIBEFTB GRS EM
WEEEsarEETA (TsFR) - BB IL
R BEEEEHRMERBTRIBTHEMERSE
BEE-FFIEE  RFIFTESHNERERE
RRBEEMARMNBFERREHER

PR LR EERAR
—E-_FER

i

81



82

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
LIRS R

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement,
were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole,
and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate
opinion on these matters. For each matter below, our description of how
our audit addressed the matter is provided in that context.

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s
responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements
section of our report, including in relation to these matters. Accordingly,
our audit included the performance of procedures designed to respond to
our assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated
financial statements. The results of our audit procedures, including the
procedures performed to address the matters below, provide the basis for
our audit opinion on the accompanying consolidated financial statements.

P EtFIA

FRESAFTEEREBERMINFEEHE BHHEK
HGRoVMBRANENRABEENFE-ZFF
BEREERMBAERGOMBRRAKREARR
RETREN - R THELEFREHEBH
BER-BMUTERFE RANBESHNAEREZE
BZ MBI X AR # o

RPERTARE (B2 F S I BRE
FRENEMF —HENERE BREAMZEE
EREE-FIL RPN EFBENTREL R
B BRRENERARNFEMROIET B
SHERNARBEREBUTEENER  AEM
PRSI BRANEAEREHRER

Key audit matter

BB EE

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

HANB N ARRARESEE

Valuation of investrment properties

REYFEZ1EE

As at 31 December 2021, the Group’s investment properties
amounted to RMB5,291 million, which represented 34% of
the Group’s total assets. Investment properties were stated
at fair value. Management was required to exercise significant
judgement in determining the fair value of investment properties
as disclosed in note 3 to the consolidated financial statements.
12021128310 EEEKREYE S AR 155,291,000,000
T HENEEBBEEENSI% KREMENRAANEET
Rom AR EMBIMRMEAMKE  ERERNEETREYE
ZRRBER BETEARAL-
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We performed audit procedures including:
BMETHNSESIEFEE !

We evaluated the competence and independence of
the external valuation expert engaged by the Group. We
reviewed rental contracts, compared the prices of the
investment properties with the unit prices of adjacent
similar properties that were benchmarked in the valuation
process, assessed assumptions relating to future market
rents, compared the current prices in the active market for
adjacent similar properties, and assessed the discount rates
and future maintenance costs applied based on historical
experiences with the involvement of our internal valuation
specialists, who focused on the term vyield, reversionary yield
and market unit rent. We also assessed the adequacy of the
disclosures in the consolidated financial statements.
BT EEEMES 2N EEERNEN KRB -
BMBREEEY REBREERFREEYENEREN
AAELUE Z BEHL  URHEMOASEEZEAER
S BLR AR i 5 E SAER AR R ~ BTG BB T 35 L B AR
HEUMENEFER > MTGHIREE LK RERNITE
KR ARRMEERA > T EHHFRARRE - ERNAER K
MBEUEE - BT ERAEHBRENREN TR
o



Key audit matter
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How our audit addressed the key audit matter

HANB N ARRARESEE

Valuation of investment properties (continued)

REYFEZ141E (B

The Group engaged an external valuation expert to perform
the valuation of investment properties. The valuation methods
applied included the direct comparison approach and income
approach which involved various assumptions, such as
estimated rental revenues, discount rates, occupancy rates,
historical transactions and market knowledge.
SEEEERBFEIIBEEERLVETREMEZGE KB
HEFLFOEEEHILERIRSERRZIMAE  SFE G
STHEESWA TR HBEX BERZ KT BHH

The related disclosures are included in notes 2.4, 3 and 13 to
the consolidated financial statements.

MR BEEN G E M EIRERM 2.4~ 38130

Net realisable value of completed properties held for sale and properties under development

HIFEEZ B ERYERZERTYEZ T EEFE

As at 31 December 2021, the Group’s properties under
development and completed properties held for sale amounted
to RMB3,974 million, which represented 26% of the Group’s
total assets. These properties were stated at the lower of cost
and net realisable value. The net realisable value was estimated
by management based on expected selling prices, the cost of
completion of properties under development, and the costs to
be incurred in selling the properties based on prevailing market
conditions. The estimation of the net realisable value involved
significant judgement.
R2021F12A3 1B EEBERTPYERFFHEZE R
I A AR 13,974,000,00070  HHER SEMBEE
26% c ZEMEUM AR PIBIRFEZRREIR -EEEER
RBTHR RBBRREE - TR ERPYERERBEEY
ERFTELEZHAG I ZRFE R FEGTIRE
HRH

The related disclosures are included in notes 2.4, 3, 14 and 23
to the consolidated financial statements.

MR BN G E M EIRERMFE2.4~3 145230

We performed audit procedures including:
BrETHNSEAREFEE

We reviewed the Group’s net realisable value estimation
and checked the expected selling prices to prices of
similar properties presold by the Group recently or adjacent
properties sold. For the cost of completion of properties
under development and the cost to be incurred in selling
the properties, we evaluated management’s estimation
methodology, which had been updated to reflect the latest
information and the refined construction and selling costs
budget process.
RMEEREEE SR FEMs kEREMAEENRS
EETHIATRERAMYESN S E M ZENER - BT E
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Key audit matter

BB EE

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

BAINEF M ARRARESNEE

Impairment assessment of gooawill acquired in business combinations

REB G W KB B &L R IE IS

As at 31 December 2021, goodwill, arising from the acquisition
of subsidiaries, was fully impaired and the carrying value of
goodwill amounted to nil. Under IFRSs, the Group is required
to perform an impairment test for goodwill at least on an
annual basis and adjust the carrying amount based on the test
result. The impairment test is based on the recoverable value
of the cash-generating units (“CGUs”) to which the goodwil
was allocated. An impairment loss of RMB99 million has been
recognised for goodwill for the year ended 31 December 2021.
20215128310 WERB AT EENEE SR RERK
HEREABEAZS T -REERYBREER EEEEAS
FHBEEZVDET —REANRLREANEHGERBEIRE
BoRENADLREBEESEEE 2 ReELH BT ((REEH
Bit)) N EBEEIT B E2021F12831HIEFE &
L ERREREAR99,000,0007T

Management’s assessment process was complex and
significant judgement was involved, including the degree of
subjectivity of expected future cash flow forecasts, associated
growth rates and the discount rate applied.
BIEENMLBRERE RIS RERFIE  SEMERNE
HARRIRERETEN HE RERARENFEH M-

The related disclosures are included in notes 2.4, 3 and 16 to
the consolidated financial statements.

R BN R A M R R MEE2.4 3Kk16°

China New City Commercial Development Limited
2021 Annual Report

We performed audit procedures including:
BrIETNETERaE

We have evaluated the basis of goodwill allocation to CGUs.
EAE B kEEE s REELETNEE.

We involved our internal valuation specialists to assist us in
evaluating the models and certain assumptions used by the
Group in the impairment testing of goodwill, and evaluated
the rationality and reasonableness of the cash flow forecast
model and management’s key assumptions including the
discount rate and long-term average growth rate.
RUERFANESLEERSE LB RMAFEEERER
AmEREARPEANREERETRSE LHERERE
FEARLREEEN I EME (BRGEREXERATEIE
B NBBEREEN -

We also assessed the adequacy of the disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements.

BB EGRaMBRETRENTD M-



OTHER INFORMATION INCLUDED IN
THE ANNUAL REPORT

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information.
The other information comprises the information included in the Annual
Report, other than the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s
report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the
consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit
or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we
have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this
other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to

report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE
DIRECTORS FOR THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view
in accordance with IFRSs issued by the IASB and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors of the
Company are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue
as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the
directors of the Company either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors of the Company are assisted by the Audit Committee in
discharging their responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s financial
reporting process.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
LIRS R

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR
THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's
report that includes our opinion. Our report is made solely to you, as a
body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards
or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee
that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud
or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate,
they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of
users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We
also:

° Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

° Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on
the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

China New City Commercial Development Limited
2021 Annual Report
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR
THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by the directors.

o Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained
up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going
concern.

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

° Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group to
express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We
are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of
the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit
findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we
identify during our audit.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
AR
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
LIRS R

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR
THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that
may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where
applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore
the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report
unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or
when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should
not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences
of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest
benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Cheung Ng.

Ernst & Young
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong

24 March 2022

China New City Commercial Development Limited
2021 Annual Report
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS

»‘T (&) j: \il%

Year ended 31 December 2021 #; 220215128310 LEFE

2021 2020
20214 20204
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
23 ARBEFT ARBEF T
Revenue A 5 871,066 700,370
Cost of sales HE A (654,569) (530,215)
Gross profit EF 216,497 170,155
Other income and gains, net HAWA R > /B 5B 5 374,689 186,665
Selling and distribution expenses HERDIHEEX (182,698) (164,303)
Administrative expenses TERX (249,476) (201,024)
Other expenses Hifx 5 (151,826) (43,288)
Finance costs MHEER 7 (223,094) (219,197)
Share of losses of: FEMELL T ABIEIE -
A joint venture BEhE 20 (805) -
Fair value gain upon transfer to BEELEYEZ
investment properties NAEERTR 13 - 356,806
Changes in fair value of WEMENQ N EEES)
investment properties 13 (60,311) 23,030
(Loss)/profit before tax PRiS AT (B518) FUH 6 (277,024) 108,844
Income tax expense Frigfimsz 10 (25,791) (83,763)
(Loss)/profit for the year EE (§518) F)H (302,815) 25,081
Attributable to: LU FEf -
Owners of the parent ISYNSIEZZ =N (295,136) 44,429
Non-controlling interests JEIER T (7,679) (19,348)
(302,815) 25,081
(Loss)/earnings per share BREEERESIFEA
attributable to ordinary equity FELER% (B518) & #
holders of the parent 11
Basic B RMB (14.7 cents) RMB2.2 cents
AREW4.7)S AR#E2.29
Diluted e RMB (14.7 cents) RMB2.2 cents
AR¥(14.7)5 ARI2.25
continued/...
i=p o
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

ke A 7%

Year ended 31 December 2021 & FE2021F12831H IEEE

2021 2020
2021% 20204
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBFT ARBEF T
(Loss)/profit for the year TEE (§518) F)H (302,815) 25,081
Other comprehensive (loss)/income Hih2m (B518) &
Other comprehensive loss that may be REEREEENDEE
reclassified to profit or loss in BmiEMEmEE !
subsequent periods:
Exchange differences: PEERELE !
Exchange differences on translation of B IBINETERIE 2 E 58
foreign operations (1,778) (14,755)
Net other comprehensive loss that may REZHBOESEHDEE
be reclassified to profit or loss B EMEEmEIEFEE
in subsequent periods (1,778) (14,755)
Other comprehensive (loss)/income that REZPERBAEEM D
will not be reclassified to profit or ZEGTNHEME2E (518
loss in subsequent periods: W
Equity investments designated at fair value 15E &3¢ A AEESTA
through other comprehensive income: H2mRmRARE .
Changes in fair value NAEEED (65,480) 17,200
Income tax effect g2 16,370 (4,300)
Net other comprehensive (loss)/income REEHREBEAEEND
that will not be reclassified to profit or BEEGNEMEE
loss in subsequent periods (18 W FEE (49,110) 12,900
Total comprehensive (loss)/income XEEZRE (HB) W=
for the year 4H%E (353,703) 23,226
Attributable to: LAUFREAS
Owners of the parent ISYNCIEZ DN (346,024) 42,574
Non-controlling interests JEERR (7,679) (19,348)
(353,703) 23,226
continued/...
B
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
SR MBHIRDIR

31 December 2021 [2202112331H

2021 2020
20214 20204
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
Viog=3 AR¥FT ARFTT
Non-current assets EREEE
Property and equipment EYSES 12 2,402,079 2,483,582
Investment properties KEYZE 13 5,245,954 5,359,845
Properties under development FaEldeeky/E 14 1,065,488 955,398
Right-of-use assets FREEE 15 140,850 318,126
Goodwill 2 16 - 98,995
Other intangible assets HihEmrEE 17 30,787 32,522
Equity investments designated at fair value f57E 2 A A EEFT A EM
through other comprehensive income E2EKRENEREE 18 335,050 392,590
Long term prepayments RHBFA(TRR 19 283,138 338,761
Investment in a joint venture REGE RN ZRE 20 32,441 =
Deferred tax assets RIEFRIBE E 21 23,826 11,889
Restricted cash ZREIRE 26 12,000 =
Total non-current assets BIERENEE 9,571,613 9,991,708
Current assets REMEE
Completed properties held for sale FIFHEBR T 23 1,087,065 1,255,130
Properties under development FREE Y2 14 1,821,537 1,153,750
Inventories 78 35,333 24,631
Trade receivables FEUR B8 5 BR =R 24 41,246 37,636
Prepayments, other receivables and a1 FIE ~ EMh R EUE K
other assets Hh&EE 25 382,358 539,276
Amounts due from related companies FEUR BB A B RIB 36 585,040 1,009,969
Financial assets at fair value through BAREESABRZ
profit or loss SRIEE 68 113
Restricted cash SREIIRE 26 332,965 114,776
Cash and cash equivalents BERIREEEY 26 1,603,069 994,112
Investment properties classified DEARFIFHEZREME
as held for sale 13 44,546 54,755
Total current assets BREEE 5,933,227 5,184,148
Current liabilities B I=RE
Trade payables FE1T B ZBRRR 27 480,901 532,399
Other payables and accruals HMME N RIERESTER 28 309,808 289,684
Contract liabilities aHaE 29 2,063,292 393,694
Amounts due to related companies FE{T BB A B RN IB 36 818,234 605,910
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings 5t B $R17 & EL fth & 30 1,527,310 665,555
Lease liabilities HEaE 15 29,100 35,061
Tax payable FE(SFRIE 10 430,804 549,082
Total current liabilities wREmas 5,659,449 3,071,385
Net current assets MENEEFRE 273,778 2,112,763
Total assets less current liabilities WEERRSHER 9,845,391 12,104,471
continued/...
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

A BRI

31 December 2021 2021&E12831H

2021 2020
202145 20204
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
k3 AR#FT AREEFTT
Non-current liabilities EREEE
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings 5+ B 817 & ELfthf& =R 30 3,107,940 4,803,094
Deferred tax liabilities RILRIEEE 21 865,211 907,819
Lease liabilities HEas 15 138,645 316,140
Total non-current liabilities HMIEREEaE 4,111,796 6,027,053
Net assets FEE 5,733,595 6,077,418
Equity gy
Equity attributable to owners of the parent & A B A ABELEZR
Share capital N 31 160,220 160,220
Reserves L] 33 5,339,922 5,674,558
5,500,142 5,834,778
Non-controlling interests PR 233,453 242,640
Total equity S 5,733,595 6,077,418
Shi Nanlu Liu Bo
1t 3 B 2K
Director Director
EBE EBE

China New City Commercial Development Limited
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

s e MRS

Year ended 31 December 2021 #; 220215128310 LEFE

Attributable to owners of the parent

BARRRAES
Share Statutory  Exchange Non-
Share premium Capital  Fair value Other surplus  fluctuation Retained controlling Total
capital account reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve profits Total interests equity
faf ‘ 24 ‘ iR ER R
ik BER  RMEE 0 BERE  BMEE  BEEE O RBRE  REUE 3t & aEn
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ABBTR  ABETT ABETR ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR
Note 31 Notes 316336 Note 33lb) Note 32 Note 33
Hidst Bis1ks3p Hiasp V534 HiE336)
At1 January 2020 2020£181R 160,443 721,694 1,281,751 6,750 5974 81,716 244,637 3,281,086 5,784,051 367,484 6,141,535
Proft for the year ERTIE . . . - - - - 4409 U9 oy 2508t
Other comprehensive income EREMRENE
for the year:
Exchange diferences related to EEENERZEREE
foreign operations S S S S S S (14,755) S (14,755) S (14,759)
Changes in far velue of investiments ~ RARBEFAENZE
atfair value through other WENEENAAES
comprehengive income, net of tax 28 1iRE - - - 12,900 - - - - 12,900 - 12,900
Total comprehensive income EREENGEE
for the year . . . 12900 . ST M9 D54 (93 232%
Repurchase of shares BERR (229 (1,997) - - - - - - 2,220 - 2220
Disposal of a subsidiary LE-BIEAT - - - - - - - - - (95,496) (95,498)
Equity-settied share option arangements LR SN B RIER S - - - - 10373 - - - 10378 - 10373
At 31 December 2020 HR2020E12831H 160,220 719697 1,281,751 19,650 16,347 81,716" 200882 3325515 5,834,778 242,640 6,077,418
At 1 January 2021 HR2021E18 1R 160,220 719697 1,281,751* 19,650* 16,347* 81,716* 200882+ 3325515 5834778 242,640 6,077,418
Loss for the year ERER - . . 5 . . - @51 (51%) (619 (302815
Other comprehensive loss ERHEMEEGE
for the year:
Exchange diferences related to AEEN R ERER
foreign operations - - - - - - (1,778) - (1,778) - (1,778
Changes in fair velue of investments AR BEFALNZE
at fair value through other WENEENAREE
comprehensive income, net of tax 28 NRRE - - - (49,110) - - - - (49,110) - (49,110)
Total comprehensive loss EREEERLEE
for the year - - - (49,110) - - (1,778) (295,136) (346,024) (7,679) (353,703)
Disposal of subsidiaries HERBAT - - - - - - - - = (1,508) (1,508)
Equity-settled share option amangements  LER S ERERESE - - - - 11,388 - - - 11,388 - 11,388
At 31 December 2021 RoWIE128318 160220 TIO8T 128175 (9460F 2073 BTG 2804 3030379 5500142 203458 5733505
* These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves of  * ZERBROBEGEUBRARAGREREARE
RMB5,339,922,000 (2020: RMB5,674,558,000) in the consolidated statement of 5,339,922,0007T (20204 : A R#5,674,558,0007T

financial position.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

SR Bl R R

Year ended 31 December 2021 & FE2021F12831H IEEE

2021 2020
202145 20204
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
k3 ARBFT ARBEF T
Cash flows from operating activities  EEXFEWIREHRE
(Loss)/profit before tax FRISAT (B538) F)H (277,024) 108,844
Adjustments for: B
Depreciation of property and equipment MERREITE 12 110,719 98,695
Amortisation of other intangible assets Hihm & s 17 1,735 1,735
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEETE 15 49,821 41,707
Fair value gain upon transfer to BEBEELBEYEN
investment properties NABERZ 13 - (356,806)
Changes in fair value of investment SEVENARBE
properties #H) 13 60,311 (23,030)
Loss on disposal of items of investment HEREYXEE Y
properties 518 6 3,977 36,153
Changes in fair value of financial assets at A BEESTAEBTZ
fair value through profit or loss SREBEEZ ANEE
=) 6 42 (163)
Share of profits and losses of: EELT AT
a joint venture MBS
EBEPE 20 805 -
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HEMBAB ZWm 5 (56,515) (84,937)
Gain on disposal of right-of-use assets HEFRAEEE WG 5 (25,823) -
Gain on disposal of items of property HEMERRBEEZ
and equipment Wz 6 (14,427) -
Impairment of goodwill BERE 6 98,995 =
Impairment provision for property and MERFREZ BERE
equipment 6 11,436 S
Equity-settled share option expense UEREE 7 BRERAS 32 11,388 10,373
Finance costs &R 7 223,094 219,197
Dividend income from equity BAREER AEM
investments at fair value through other 2ENE A
comprehensive income KRERREWA 5 (54,315) =
144,219 51,768
Increase in properties under development B8 &% 42380 (818,766) (556,278)
Decrease in completed properties FEEEEB TYERLD
held for sale 335,844 231,513
Increase in trade receivables FEWL & 5 BR =R 0 (4,813) (8,261)
Decrease/(increase) in deposits and & K B FE U IE
other receivables B () 144,767 (230,191)
(Increase)/decrease in prepayments and BENRREMEE
other assets agm) wEb (31,069) 332,033
Decrease/(increase) in long term EEFEMTURL 7 G5)
prepayments 55,623 (208,945)
(Increase)/decrease in inventories =& @gm b (12,091) 3,069
Increase in restricted cash for FEEMEMIBRRHIRE
pre-sales proceeds 10 (194,652) (73,907)
Decrease in trade payables FE B ZERUR D (14,517) (93,449)
Increase in other payables and accruals HhpE B R ETE R
B 40,061 84,996
Increase in contract liabilities SHaEEM 1,696,359 158,357
continued/...
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
HABlEnRSR
Year ended 31 December 2021 & E2021F128331H IEFE

2021 2020
2021% 20204
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
k23 AR®FT ARBETF T
Cash generated from/(used in) REEEES  GER®
operations HE 1,340,965 (309,295)
Interest paid BEFE (346,809) (396,872)
Income tax and land appreciation tax paid B {1 FriS0 K T #h g ER (181,137) (94,695)
Net cash flows generated REHRESE GER W
from/(used in) operating activities HEREFEE 813,019 (800,862)
Cash flows from investing activities REEBELENRERE
Investment on equity investments feEABRANEES A
designated at fair value through other Hit2mEmka=mn
comprehensive income RAKRENRE (7,940) (718)
Investment on financial assets at fair value 2 AR BEF ARBEZZ
through profit or loss THEERE - 332)
Investments in a joint venture REGEhE (33,246) =
Dividends received from equity investments 15T &% A REET A
designated at fair value through other Hih2m W=
comprehensive income KREMERKRE 54,315 =
Proceeds from disposal of financial assets HEEAABEAEBRZ
at fair value through profit or loss EREBEE SR - 1,032
Purchases of items of property and BEYERREER
equipment (118,941) (62,306)
Proceeds from disposal of items of HEMERRBEEME
property and equipment ;I8 26,245 22,267
Increase in investment properties LB EIL N0 (8,728) (71,883)
Proceeds from disposal of investment HEREYEMEMRIE
properties 47,612 588,863
Repayment from related companies Eali/NCIF=2-N 424,929 50,306
Disposal of subsidiaries HEWB AR 34 99,190 2,112)
Increase in restricted cash ZRHIIREIE 0 (35,537) (17,676)
Net cash flows generated KREEBELENRSE
from investing activities MEREE 447,899 507,441
Cash flows from financing activities MEEHEENRERE
Advance from/(repayment of loans from) 2R B RAHE HRIERRR
related companies (AR B BFUERN) 212,324 (105,797)
New interest-bearing bank and other Mt ERIT A
borrowings HAMER 1,323,312 1,645,529
Repayment of interest-bearing bank and ~ 1BiEst BIR1T R
other borrowings HhfEm (2,156,711) (632,985)
Principal portion of lease payments AEMRNERE IS (30,178) (24,241)
Repurchase of shares AR - (2,220)
Net cash flows (used in)/generated BUEEE) GER) EEW
from financing activities REREFEE (651,253) 880,286
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
BABLETiRR

Year ended 31 December 2021 & FE2021F12831H IEEE

2021 2020
2021% 20204
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
k3 ARBFT ARBEF T
Net increase in cash and cash RERREEEYILMEEE
equivalents 609,665 586,865
Cash and cash equivalents at FYRERIBEEEY
beginning of year 994,112 408,493
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes, net YNEFE R & B 15 2 S48 (708) (1,246)
Cash and cash equivalents FREERASEEY
at end of year 1,603,069 994,112
Analysis of balances of cash and cash RE& KBS LEYEBROW
equivalents
Cash and bank balances B K IRITA R 26 1,603,069 994,112

China New City Commercial Development Limited
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1.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

CORPORATE AND GROUP
INFORMATION

China New City Commercial Development Limited (the “Company”)
is a limited liability company incorporated as an exempted company
in the Cayman Islands on 2 July 2013 under the Companies Law
(revised) of the Cayman lIslands. The registered office address of the
Company is Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681, Grand
Cayman KY1-1111, Cayman Islands. The Company was separately
listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “SEHK”) with the stock code “1321” on 10 July 2014
and raised capital amounting to HK$608 million from the market.

The Company is an investment holding company. The Company
and its subsidiaries (together, the “Group”) were members of Zhong
An Group Limited (“Zhong An”) and its subsidiaries (“Zhong An
Group”). Zhong An, the shares of which have been listed on the
Main Board of the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“Stock
Exchange”) since November 2007, is the holding company of
Zhong An Group.

The Group is principally engaged in commercial property
development, leasing and hotel operations.

In the opinion of the Company’s directors (the “Directors”),
the ultimate holding company of the Company is Whole Good
Management Limited, a company incorporated in the British Virgin
Islands on 3 May 2007.
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31 December 2021 2021412831H
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B E A B

31 December 2021 2021412831H

1. CORPORATE AND GROUP 1. RXEIREREFR (8)

INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Information about subsidiaries M AT EE

98

Particulars of the Company’s principle subsidiaries are as follows:

Place and date of

ARBEEMBATFEUT :

Percentage of equity

attributable to the Company
incorporation/ Issued KATEEREE S
registration ordinary shares/ Principal
Name of company and business registered capital 2021 2020  activities
ML MR
G EHMARAM BRTZER HMKE 2021 2020 EEEE
Zhejiang Zhong An Property PRC/Mainland China RMB2,000,000 81.0% 81.0%  Property development
Development Xiaoshan Co., Ltd.“) 3 April 1997
WIRZEHERLREERATY FE/RERH A #2,000,0007T MEER
199744 H3H
Chunan Minfu Property Co., Ltd.®! PRC/Mainland China RMB6,000,000 100.0% 100.0%  Property development
24 October 2003
FERGIREEXERRATY B/ hERH AR #6,000,0007 MEER
2003F10824H
Shanghai Zhong An Property PRC/Mainland China RMB10,000,000 90.0% 90.0%  Property development
Development Co., Ltd.“! 19 January 2004
LERZEMEREERATY E/ FREl R AE#10,000,0007T MEERE
200415198
Zhejiang Huijun Real Estate Co., Ltd.? PRC/Mainland China US$27,600,000 99.7% 99.7%  Property development
1 April 2005
MIERELBRAFY FE/ R 27,600,000% 7T MEER
20054818
Hangzhou Zhong An Highlong PRC/Mainland China RMB1,000,000 90.0% 90.0%  Project management
Commercial Buildings Co., Ltd.# 20 September 2005
MR R EREEEERA HEl/ R it AR 1,000,007 EEER
200594208
Hangzhou Zheng Jiang Real Estate PRC/Mainland China RMB50,000,000 92.5% 92.5%  Property development
Development Co., Ltd. 16 March 2006
MME IR EREERARY HEL/ Pt AR 50,000,0007 MEER
2006435168
Henlly Enterprise Management PRC/Mainland China US$149,061,280 100.0% 100.0%  Property development
(Hangzhou) Co., Ltd.? 4 December 2006
EFIEEEE (M) BRAF? e/ FRE P 149,061,280% 7T MEER
2006512848
Hangzhou Xiaoshan Zhong An PRC/Mainland China RMB10,000,000 90.0% 90.0%  Hotel management
Holiday Inn Co., Ltd.“ 28 May 2007
RNRELRZBEREERRATY B/ hERH AR #10,000,0007¢ BEER
200755280

China New City Commercial Development Limited
2021 Annual Report



CORPORATE AND GROUP
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Information about subsidiaries (continued)

Place and date of

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BB

31 December 2021 2021412831H

QEREBEH (8)

MEBARER (8)

Percentage of equity
attributable to the Company

incorporation/ Issued KATEGEREE O
registration ordinary shares/ Principal
Name of company and business registered capital 2021 2020  activities
AL R R
G EXMARAM BRTLER HMRE 20215 2020 EFEEY
Yuyao Zhong An Time Square Commercial PRC/Mainland China RMB5,000,000 90.0% 90.0%  Project management
Management Co., Ltd.# 6 December 2011
BRRZRAESHEEERERATY  E/FERY AR 15,000,000 HEEE
20115128601
Yuyao Zhong An Time Square PRC/Mainland China RMB100,000,000 90.0% 90.0%  Property development
Development Co., Ltd.“ 5 August 2013
BRREEREEREERATY e/ RE R AR #100,000,0007% MEER
2013%8A5H
Yuyao Zhong An Time Square PRC/Mainland China US$16,000,000 93.0% 93.0%  Property development
Property Co., Ltd.? 13 August 2013
BHRRZRRBEEEEERARY B/ RERH 16,000,000 7C MEER
201385130
Zhejiang Zhong An Sheng Long PRC/Mainland China RMB50,000,000 90.0% 90.0%  Project management
Commercial Co., Ltd. 9 September 2013
IR R EEEFRAR B/ ARt A #50,000,0007 EEERE
2013%9A9H
Cixi Zhong An Property Co., Ltd.“ PRC/Mainland China RMB50,000,000 90.0% 90.0%  Property development
6 December 2013
BERZEEFRAFY e/ REl R A #50,000,0007 MEERE
2013512568
Hangzhou Zhong An Sheng Long PRC/Mainland China RMB20,000,000 90.0% 90.0%  Property development
Liyumen Property Co., Ltd.* 21 April 2014
MMREREEBFIEXARATY e/ R At AR #20,000,0007T MEER
201445218
Hangzhou Xixi Hujin Property Co., Ltd."  PRC/Mainland China US$60,000,000 100.0% 100.0%  Property development
18 November 2015
MMFEZESBEARAT HE/ Pt 60,000,000%7¢ MEER
2015%11818H
Zhejiang Bairuite Hotel Management PRC/Mainland China RMB50,000,000 90.0% 90.0%  Hotel management
Co., Ltd.(p)" 19 May 2016
WIARSEESEEEERAG  FE/FERY A #:50,000,0007T EEEE
2016555198

R R LR EARAR
IR —EFHR
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B E A B

31 December 2021 2021412831H

1.

CORPORATE AND GROUP
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Information about subsidiaries (continued)

Place and date of

MEBARER (8)

Percentage of equity

1. AFKREEEHR (@)

attributable to the Company
incorporation/ Issued KATEGEREE O
registration ordinary shares/ Principal
Name of company and business registered capital 2021 2020  activities
MR R
G EXMARAM BRTLER HMKE 20215 2020 EFEEY
Zhejiang New Screen Theatre PRC/Mainland China RMB10,000,000 100.0% 100.0%  Theatre management
Management Co., Ltd.# 29 November 2016
WINEE REEERERAR FE/RE R K %10,000,0007% FheR
2016113298
Huaibei Briliant Hotel Co., Ltd.® PRC/Mainland China RMB6,900,000 100.0% 100.0%  Hotel management
16 October 2013
ELRREBEERAROM FE/RERH AR 6,900,000 BEEE
2013105165
Laizhou New Screen Theatre PRC/Mainland China RMB1,000,000 90.0% 90.0%  Theatre management
Management Co., Ltd.") 2 May 2017
FNHETRCEERERAR B/ hERH AR #1,000,0007 FheR
201745828
Zhong An Education Investment British Virgin Islands USS$1 100.0% 100.0%  Education development
Holdings Limited 8 May 2018
RRYBREERBRAT HEEAREE ES HEER
2018%558H
Kunming New Screen Theatre PRC/Mainland China RMB1,000,000 90.0% 90.0%  Theatre management
Management Co., Ltd.0 27 April 2017
ERMEXCEEEARAFOW FE/ R R AE#1,000,0007T TR
2017545278
Yuyao New Screen Theatre PRC/Mainland China RMB1,000,000 90.0% 90.0%  Theatre management
Management Co., Ltd.¥ 26 September 2017
BN RERCEERERAFO e/ R At AE 1,000,000 FhEE
201795260
Hefei Xinmu Cinema PRC/Mainland China RMB1,000,000 90.0% 90.0%  Theatre management
Management Co., Ltd.® 19 March 2018
BEHRERIRERERAT W R/ FEl Pt AR 1,000,007 Fhen
201835190

China New City Commercial Development Limited
2021 Annual Report



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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31 December 2021 2021412831H

CORPORATE AND GROUP 1. RXEIREERER (8)

INFORMATION (CONTINUED)
MEBARER (8)

Percentage of equity
attributable to the Company

Information about subsidiaries (continued)

Place and date of
incorporation/ Issued

AT EERET AL
registration ordinary shares/ Principal
Name of company and business registered capital 2021 2020  activities
AL R R
G EXMARAM BRTLER HMRE 20215 2020 EFEEY
Hangzhou Xiaoshan Maggie & Rose PRC/Mainland China RMB1,000,000 68.7% 68.7%  Education development
Culture Co., Ltd.P® 20 September 2018
TME B EBASUEBRAF D HEL/ Pt AR 1,000,000 HEER
2018595204
Foshan Xinmu Cinema PRC/Mainland China RMB5,000,000 90.0% 90.0%  Theatre management
Management Co., Ltd.©4 11 October 2017
BUTMBRRELBEERAT  FE/PERH AR #5,000,0007 FheER
20174108115
Xuzhou Wanxiang Real Estate PRC/Mainland China RMB258,000,000 45.9% 45.9%  Property development
Development Co., Ltd. 28 September 2018
ENTERKELERARAT W I/ RE AR #258,000,0007% MEER
2018%9H28H
Hangzhou Xinhuan Cinema PRC/Mainland China RMB1,000,000 45.0% 450%  Theatre management
Management Co., Ltd. 0l 25 April 2018
RN EZ REEERERATY E/ REIRH AE#1,000,00070 TIREE
2018545258
Ningbo New Screen Theatre PRC/Mainland China RMB1,000,000 90.0% 90.0%  Theatre management
Management Co., Ltd.0 10 May 2018
ERMETREREERAF FE,/HERH AE#1,000,0007T FhhEE
2018554108
Tiptop Global Group Limited® Samoa Us$4 75.0% 75.0%  Investment holding
8 January 2018
EED LEST REER
2018%158H
Hangzhou Zhongan Health PRC/Mainland China RMB5,000,000 90.0% 90.0%  Health management
Management Co., Ltd. 8 January 2019
MNBZRREBERAF O HE/ Pt AR 15,000,007 RRER
2019%158H

R R LR EARAR
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B E A B

31 December 2021 2021&E12831H

1. CORPORATE AND GROUP 1. RXEIRERER (8)
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Information about subsidiaries (continued) MEBATEN (&
Percentage of equity
Place and date of attributable to the Company
incorporation/ Issued KATEGEREE O
registration ordinary shares/ Principal
Name of company and business registered capital 2021 2020  activities
MM Mk
NCIE:Y ] EEMERAM BETLER MRS 20214 2020  EEEE
Chendu Xinhuan Cinema PRC/Mainland China RMB1,000,000 90.0% 90.0%  Theatre management
Management Co., Ltd.# 4 April 2019
R BR R EBERAT R/ FEl Pt AR 1,000,000 FRERE
201954541
Maggie and Rose Limited®!" England GBP1 46.5% 46.5%  Education development
11 December 2007
5 154 BREE
2007E128118
The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which, in ERIWHMWARB ZHB AT EERS
the opinion of the directors, principally affected the results for the BEFEREAEEFTRNELENENLER
year or formed a substantial portion of the net assets of the Group. EEFENEABD -EEERA WL
To give details of other subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the HifBABNHREERERMIE
directors, result in particulars of excessive length.
Notes: et -
N/A:  Not yet incorporated/established/acquired or liquidated by the Group A AEBETREMMIL I WEER
(@) Types of legal entities: (@) AEBERRER
1) Wholly-foreign-owned enterprise 1) INEBERE
@ Sino-foreign equity joint venture ) PN EERE
@) Limited liability company invested by a foreign invested enterprise ()] IERERREELAE
(4 Limited liability company (4 BREERA
()  The capital of these subsidiaries has not been fully injected as at 31 (o) ZEMB AR ZEAR2021F12H31HH
December 2021. REBEA
(© These subsidiaries are subsidiaries held by non-wholly-owned subsidiaries (© ZENBABIIARERIIFL2EHIBAR
of the Group and, accordingly, are accounted for as subsidiaries by virtue FAENKEBAR Fit> AR AEEHZ
of the Group’s unilateral control over the subsidiaries. LB ARZE FEERIRMARSNE
Ade

China New City Commercial Development Limited
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2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance
with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”),
which comprise standards and interpretations approved by the
International Accounting Standards Board (the “IASB”), and
International Accounting Standards and Standing Interpretations
Committee interpretations approved by the International Accounting
Standards Committee and the disclosure requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance. They have been prepared under
the historical cost convention, except for investment properties,
investment properties classified as held for sale, equity investments
designated at fair value through other comprehensive income and
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss which have been
measured at fair value as explained in the accounting policies set
out below. These financial statements are presented in Renminbi
(“RMB”) and all values are rounded to the nearest thousand except
when otherwise indicated.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries for the year ended
31 December 2021. A subsidiary is an entity (including a structured
entity), directly or indirectly, controlled by the Company. Control
is achieved when the Group is exposed, or has rights, to variable
returns from its involvement with the investee and has the ability
to affect those returns through its power over the investee (i.e.,
existing rights that give the Group the current ability to direct the
relevant activities of the investee).

2.1

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
WA B E R Bk
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B E A B

31 December 2021 2021&E12831H

2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION

(CONTINUED)
Basis of consolidation (continued)

When the Company has, directly or indirectly, less than a majority
of the voting or similar rights of an investee, the Group considers all
relevant facts and circumstances in assessing whether it has power
over an investee, including:

(@  the contractual arrangement with the other vote holders of
the investee;

(b)  rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and
(c)  the Group’s voting rights and potential voting rights.

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for
the same reporting period as the Company, using consistent
accounting policies. The results of subsidiaries are consolidated
from the date on which the Group obtains control and continue to
be consolidated until the date that such control ceases.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the parent of the Group
and to the non-controlling interests, even if this results in the non-
controlling interests having a deficit balance. All intra-group assets
and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows relating to
transactions between members of the Group are eliminated in full
on consolidation.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if
facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or
more of the three elements of control described above. A change
in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a loss of control, is
accounted for as an equity transaction.

China New City Commercial Development Limited
2021 Annual Report
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2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION

(CONTINUED)
Basis of consolidation (continued)

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises (i)
the assets (including goodwill) and liabilities of the subsidiary,
(i) the carrying amount of any non-controlling interest and (iii)
the cumulative translation differences recorded in equity; and
recognises (i) the fair value of the consideration received, (i) the fair
value of any investment retained and (iii) any resulting surplus or
deficit in profit or loss. The Group’s share of components previously
recognised in other comprehensive income is reclassified to profit or
loss or retained profits, as appropriate, on the same basis as would
be required if the Group had directly disposed of the related assets
or liabilities.

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING

POLICIES AND DISCLOSURES

The Group has adopted the following revised IFRSs for the first time
for the current year’s financial statements.

Amendments to IFRS 9, IAS 39,
IFRS 7, IFRS 4 and IFRS 16

Interest Rate Benchmark
Reform — Phase 2

Amendments to IFRS 16 Covid-19-Related Rent
Concessions beyond 30

June 2021

The revised standards have had no significant financial effect on
these financial statements.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B E A B

31 December 2021 2021412831H

2.3 ISSUED. BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE
INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS

The Group has not applied the following new and revised IFRSs,
that have been issued but are not yet effective, in these financial

statements.
Amendments to IFRS 3 Reference to the Conceptual
Framework’
Amendments to IFRS 10 Sale or Contribution of Assets
and IAS 28 between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture®
IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts?
Amendments to IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts®*
Amendments to IAS 1 and Disclosure of Accounting
IFRS Practice Statement 2 Policies?
Amendments to IAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current?
Amendments to IAS 8 Definition of Accounting
Estimates?
Amendments to IAS 12 Deferred Tax related to Assets
and Liabilities arising from a
Single Transaction?
Amendments to IAS 16 Property, Plant and Equijpment:
Proceeds before Intended
Use’
Amendments to IAS 37 Onerous Contracts — Cost of
Fulfiling a Contract’
Annual Improvements to Amendments to IFRS 1,
IFRSs 2018-2020 IFRS 9, lllustrative Examples
accompanying IFRS 16,
and IAS 417

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022

e Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023
B No mandatory effective date yet determined but available for adoption
4 As a consequence of the amendments to IFRS 17 issued in October

2020, IFRS 4 was amended to extend the temporary exemption that
permits insurers to apply IAS 39 rather than IFRS 9 for annual periods
beginning before 1 January 2023

China New City Commercial Development Limited
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2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE

INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS
(CONTINUED)

The Group is in the process of making an assessment of the impact
of these new and revised IFRSs upon initial application. So far, the
Group considers that, these new and revised IFRSs are unlikely to
have a significant impact on the Group’s results of operations and
financial position.

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Investments in associates and joint
ventures

An associate is an entity in which the Group has a long term interest
of generally not less than 20% of the equity voting rights and over
which it is in a position to exercise significant influence. Significant
influence is the power to participate in the financial and operating
policy decisions of the investee, but is not control or joint control
over those policies.

A joint venture is a type of joint arrangement whereby the parties
that have joint control of the arrangement have rights to the
net assets of the joint venture. Joint control is the contractually
agreed sharing of control of an arrangement, which exists only
when decisions about the relevant activities require the unanimous
consent of the parties sharing control.

The Group’s investments in associates and joint ventures are stated
in the consolidated statement of financial position at the Group’s
share of net assets under the equity method of accounting, less any
impairment losses.
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31 December 2021 2021&E12831H

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Investments in associates and joint
ventures (continued)

The Group’s share of the post-acquisition results and other
comprehensive income of associates and joint ventures is included
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and consolidated
other comprehensive income, respectively. In addition, when there
has been a change recognised directly in the equity of the associate
and joint venture, the Group recognises its share of any changes,
when applicable, in the consolidated statement of changes in
equity. Unrealised gains and losses resulting from transactions
between the Group and its joint ventures are eliminated to the
extent of the Group’s investments in the joint ventures, except
where unrealised losses provide evidence of an impairment of
the assets transferred. Goodwill arising from the acquisition of
associates or joint ventures is included as part of the Group’s
investments in associates or joint ventures.

If an investment in an associate becomes an investment in a joint
venture or vice versa, the retained interest is not remeasured.
Instead, the investment continues to be accounted for under the
equity method. In all other cases, upon loss of significant influence
over the associate or joint control over the joint venture, the Group
measures and recognises any retained investment at its fair value.
Any difference between the carrying amount of the associate or
joint venture upon loss of significant influence or joint control and
the fair value of the retained investment and proceeds from disposal
is recognised in profit or loss.

When an investment in a joint venture is classified as held for sale,
it is accounted for in accordance with IFRS 5 Non-current Assets
Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations.

China New City Commercial Development Limited
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Business combinations and goodwill

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition
method. The consideration transferred is measured at the
acquisition date fair value which is the sum of the acquisition date
fair values of assets transferred by the Group, liabilities assumed
by the Group to the former owners of the acquiree and the
equity interests issued by the Group in exchange for control of
the acquiree. For each business combination, the Group elects
whether to measure the non-controlling interests in the acquiree
that are present ownership interests and entitle their holders to a
proportionate share of net assets in the event of liquidation at fair
value or at the proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable
net assets. All other components of non-controlling interests are
measured at fair value. Acquisition-related costs are expensed as
incurred.

The Group determines that it has acquired a business when
the acquired set of activities and assets includes an input and a
substantive process that together significantly contribute to the
ability to create outputs.

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the financial
assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate classification and
designation in accordance with the contractual terms, economic
circumstances and pertinent conditions as at the acquisition date.
This includes the separation of embedded derivatives in host
contracts of the acquiree.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the previously
held equity interest is remeasured at its acquisition date fair value
and any resulting gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss.
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31 December 2021 2021&E12831H

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Business combinations and goodwill
(continued)

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer
is recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. Contingent
consideration classified as an asset or liability is measured
at fair value with changes in fair value recognised in profit or
loss. Contingent consideration that is classified as equity is not
remeasured and subsequent settlement is accounted for within
equity.

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess of the
aggregate of the consideration transferred, the amount recognised
for non-controlling interests and any fair value of the Group’s
previously held equity interests in the acquiree over the identifiable
assets acquired and liabilities assumed. If the sum of this
consideration and other items is lower than the fair value of the net
assets acquired, the difference is, after reassessment, recognised in
profit or loss as a gain on bargain purchase.

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less any
accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is tested for impairment
annually or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying value may be impaired. The Group
performs its annual impairment test of goodwill as at 31 December.
For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a
business combination is, from the acquisition date, allocated to
each of the Group’s cash-generating units, or groups of cash-
generating units, that are expected to benefit from the synergies of
the combination, irrespective of whether other assets or liabilities of
the Group are assigned to those units or groups of units.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Business combinations and goodwill
(continued)

Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable amount of
the cash-generating unit (group of cash-generating units) to which
the goodwill relates. Where the recoverable amount of the cash-
generating unit (group of cash-generating units) is less than the
carrying amount, an impairment loss is recognised. An impairment
loss recognised for goodwill is not reversed in a subsequent period.

Where goodwill has been allocated to a cash-generating unit (or
group of cash-generating units) and part of the operation within
that unit is disposed of, the goodwill associated with the operation
disposed of is included in the carrying amount of the operation
when determining the gain or loss on the disposal. Goodwill
disposed of in these circumstances is measured based on the
relative value of the operation disposed of and the portion of the
cash-generating unit retained.

Fair value measurement

The Group measures its investment properties and equity
investments at fair value at the end of each reporting period. Fair
value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid
to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market
participants at the measurement date. The fair value measurement
is based on the presumption that the transaction to sell the asset
or transfer the liability takes place either in the principal market for
the asset or liability, or in the absence of a principal market, in the
most advantageous market for the asset or liability. The principal
or the most advantageous market must be accessible by the
Group. The fair value of an asset or a liability is measured using
the assumptions that market participants would use when pricing
the asset or liability, assuming that market participants act in their
economic best interest.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B E A B

31 December 2021 2021&E12831H

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Fair value measurement (continued)

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into
account a market participant’s ability to generate economic benefits
by using the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to
another market participant that would use the asset in its highest
and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in
the circumstances and for which sufficient data are available to
measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant observable inputs
and minimising the use of unobservable inputs.

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed
in the financial statements are categorised within the fair value
hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest level input that
is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole:

Level 1 - based on quoted prices (unadjusted)
in active markets for identical assets or
liabilities

Level 2 - based on valuation techniques for which the
lowest level input that is significant to the
fair value measurement is observable, either
directly or indirectly

Level 3 - based on valuation techniques for which the
lowest level input that is significant to the fair
value measurement is unobservable

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial
statements on a recurring basis, the Group determines whether
transfers have occurred between levels in the hierarchy by
reassessing categorisation (based on the lowest level input that is
significant to the fair value measurement as a whole) at the end of
each reporting period.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual
impairment testing for an asset is required (other than inventories,
deferred tax assets, financial assets, completed properties held
for sale, properties under development, investment properties and
non-current assets/a disposal group classified as held for sale), the
asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. An asset’s recoverable
amount is the higher of the asset’s or cash-generating unit’s value
in use and its fair value less costs of disposal, and is determined for
an individual asset, unless the asset does not generate cash inflows
that are largely independent of those from other assets or groups of
assets, in which case the recoverable amount is determined for the
cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs. In testing a cash-
generating unit for impairment, a portion of the carrying amount of
a corporate asset (e.g., a headquarters building) is allocated to an
individual cash-generating unit if it can be allocated on a reasonable
and consistent basis or, otherwise, to the smallest group of cash-
generating units.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying amount of an
asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In assessing value in use,
the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to
the asset. An impairment loss is charged to the statement of profit
or loss in the period in which it arises in those expense categories
consistent with the function of the impaired asset, unless the asset
is carried at a revalued amount, in which case the impairment loss
is accounted for in accordance with the relevant accounting policy
for that revalued asset.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B E A B

31 December 2021 2021&E12831H

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 24 TEZSHBEEHE (4B)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Impairment of non-financial assets
(continued)

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting period as
to whether there is any indication that previously recognised
impairment losses may no longer exist or may have decreased.
If such an indication exists, the recoverable amount is estimated.
A previously recognised impairment loss of an asset other than
goodwill is reversed only if there has been a change in the estimates
used to determine the recoverable amount of that asset, but not
to an amount higher than the carrying amount that would have
been determined (net of any depreciation/amortisation) had no
impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior years. A
reversal of such an impairment loss is credited to the statement
of profit or loss in the period in which it arises, unless the asset
is carried at a revalued amount, in which case the reversal of the
impairment loss is accounted for in accordance with the relevant
accounting policy for that revalued asset.

Related parties

A party is considered to be related to the Group if:
(@ the party is a person or a close member of that person’s
family and that person
(i) has control or joint control over the Group;
(ii) has significant influence over the Group; or
(i) is a member of the key management personnel of the
Group or of a parent of the Group;

or
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Related parties (continued)

()

the party is an entity where any of the following conditions

applies:

(i)

(vii)

(vil

the entity and the Group are members of the same
group;

one entity is an associate or joint venture of the other
entity (or of a parent, subsidiary or fellow subsidiary of
the other entity);

the entity and the Group are joint ventures of the same
third party;

one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the
other entity is an associate of the third entity;

the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the
benefit of employees of either the Group or an entity
related to the Group;

the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person
identified in (a);

a person identified in (a)() has significant influence
over the entity or is a member of the key management
personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity); and

the entity, or any member of a group of which it is a
part, provides key management personnel services to
the Group or to the parent of the Group.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B E A B

31 December 2021 2021&E12831H

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 24 FETHEHE (8)
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

Property and equipment and depreciation ME RS BERITE

Property and equipment, other than construction in progress, are WME KRB FERETRERRIN THIE A ER
stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and any impairment Rt IMEREABEBEB AR YEKK
losses. The cost of an item of property and equipment comprises BEURAEEEBEEBRERFEEEERS
its purchase price and any directly attributable costs of bringing EE RO At B U ESH B BRI B 3% R
the asset to its working condition and location for its intended use. A o A TR ] BE B IR B EE B IR A B =
Cost may also include transfers from equity of any gains or losses RREINEEEBEENGERRESNEY
on qualifying cash flow hedges of foreign currency purchases of HTEEE AW mIEIE -

property and equipment.

Expenditure incurred after items of property and equipment have MERZEBEEREREENSIE M
been put into operation, such as repairs and maintenance, is ERFEERS  —RsTAELRENE
normally charged to the statement of profit or loss in the period in mak o MERRPIRE MEARRENHA
which it is incurred. In situations where the recognition criteria are TEREERAERERNCIERAE R M
satisfied, the expenditure for a major inspection is capitalised in the BEREMYERRENEZARID
carrying amount of the asset as a replacement. Where significant AAEERZERDEDAEEREAGE
parts of property and equipment are required to be replaced at AFERNERSE WIEHERITEE-

intervals, the Group recognises such parts as individual assets with
specific useful lives and depreciates them accordingly.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to write off the EMERREEERBEGEESNEINE
cost of each item of property and equipment to its residual value Bt ERAFRANAIRER AN EE R G
over its estimated useful life. The principal annual rates used for this BB TEFITEERNT -

purpose are as follows:

Buildings 4.75% g5 4.75%
Hotel properties 2.38% BIEY 2.38%
Office equipment 9.5% to 19% MAERE 9.5%ZE19%
Motor vehicles 19% pial=:] 19%
Leasehold improvements Over the shorter THEMEEE g )
of the lease terms 19% 2 8BRFZ &

and 19%
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31 December 2021 2021412831H

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 24 TEFHHEHE (B)
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)
Property and equipment and depreciation MERZERITE (B
(continued)
Where parts of an item of property and equipment have different HYERKEBEEE 2SO B R ER
useful lives, the cost of that item is allocated on a reasonable basis FH A BAEB ZMARESH D ZE
among the parts and each part is depreciated separately. Residual BERDE MEX DS IE@RITE 5%
values, useful lives and the depreciation method are reviewed, and B AERAFRARTEEZEVERSHEK
adjusted if appropriate, at least at each financial year end. FEFAH TR WIERE @ER) o
An item of property and equipment including any significant part MERZHEEE (BIEVARBRINEME
initially recognised is derecognised upon disposal or when no future AR RHEXBHREAFREFERIE
economic benefits are expected from its use or disposal. Any gain EIEER R A E M B AR IEFE RN o R AR 1
or loss on disposal or retirement recognised in the statement of REEZFETFERRBRZEAHE
profit or loss in the year the asset is derecognised is the difference NIREED AEREEREMSRIEZ
between the net sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the REEARR M R A RR 0

relevant asset.

Construction in progress represents a building under construction, ARIRIEERIET B4R EARE
which is stated at cost less any impairment losses, and is not BIE25 BEAEHRITE - A BIREE
depreciated. Cost comprises the direct costs of construction and ANBERERRAKERAEAESZE
capitalised borrowing costs on related borrowed funds during the BERCERRET - FREIRRB T BAHE
period of construction. Construction in progress is reclassified B BREMSBEEMERRENRESE
to the appropriate category of property and equipment when Bl

completed and ready for use.
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B E A B

31 December 2021 2021&E12831H

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Investment properties

Investment properties are interests in land and buildings (including
the leasehold property held as a right-of-use asset which would
otherwise meet the definition of an investment property) held to
earn rental income and/or for capital appreciation, rather than
for use in the production or supply of goods or services or for
administrative purposes; or for sale in the ordinary course of
business. Investment properties comprise completed investment
properties and investment properties under construction. Such
properties are measured initially at cost, including transaction costs.
Subsequent to initial recognition, investment properties are stated
at fair value, which reflects market conditions at the end of the
reporting period.

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair values of investment
properties are included in the statement of profit or loss in the year
in which they arise.

Any gains or losses on the retirement or disposal of an investment
property are recognised in the statement of profit or loss in the year
of the retirement or disposal.

The Group determines whether completed properties held for
sale and properties under development would be transferred to
investment properties when, only when, there is a change in use,
evidenced by the following criteria: (a) the Group has prepared
a business plan that reflects the future rental income generated
by the property and this is supported with evidence that there is
demand for rental space; (b) the Group can demonstrate that it
has the resources, including the necessary financing or capital, to
hold and manage an investment property; (c) the change in use is
legally permissible; (d) if the property must be further developed for
the change in use, the development has commenced and (e) the
change in use is approved by the board.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BB

31 December 2021 2021412831H

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 24 FETHHEEHRE (8)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Properties under development

Properties under development are stated at the lower of cost
and net realisable value and comprise land costs, construction
costs, borrowing costs, professional fees and other costs directly
attributable to such properties incurred during the development
period.

Properties under development which are already under construction
or expected to be under construction within twelve months or have
an explicit business plan for construction are classified as current

RS

FRETYED R AR P E T FEME D
BEETIR BB LA A BEMEE
AT BEERRZYMENRERHE

EEGEMMR A

TREPREHR/FN+EENERNE
BRREREFS B ZHERYESIERR
PEE - HMRAZETYMESERIERDE

assets. Other properties under development are classified as non- o
current assets.
Completed properties held for sale FiEHEBERTITY=E

Completed properties held for sale are stated at the lower of cost
and net realisable value. Cost is determined by an apportionment
of the total costs of land and buildings attributable to the unsold
properties. Net realisable value takes into account the selling price,
less estimated costs to be incurred in selling the properties based
on prevailing market conditions.
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31 December 2021 2021&E12831H

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Other intangible assets (other than
goodwill)

Other intangible assets acquired separately are measured on initial
recognition at cost. The cost of other intangible assets acquired in a
business combination is the fair value at the date of the acquisition.
The useful lives of other intangible assets are assessed to be
either finite or indefinite. Other intangible assets with finite lives are
subsequently amortised over the useful economic life and assessed
for impairment whenever there is an indication that the other
intangible asset may be impaired. The amortisation period and the
amortisation method for an intangible asset with a finite useful life
are reviewed at least at each reporting period.

The principal estimated useful lives of other intangible assets are as

follows:

Estimated
Category useful life
Brandname 20 years
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BB

31 December 2021 2021412831H

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

24 FEGTHRBE (4B)

Leases

The Group assesses at contract inception whether a contract is, or
contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract
conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a
period of time in exchange for consideration.

Group as a lessee

HE

FEERSNRBRFGENESAEE
HEFHEE-HENB/BRAEMRTE
—RABANERR B E 2 ERERIE A

ZetREERNEEHEE-

FEBEREAEA

AEMHFAAHEERBE—HEIUKTES
FEoOEEHMEERBEBEEEBEERI
FEREESEEREUEHBEEMNR I
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underlying assets. Fo

The Group applies a single recognition and measurement approach
for all leases, except for short-term leases and leases of low-
value assets. The Group recognises lease liabilities to make lease
payments and right-of-use assets representing the right to use the

(@) Right-of-use assets (@) (EEBEEE
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Right-of-use assets are recognised at the commencement
date of the lease (that is the date the underlying asset is
available for use). Right-of-use assets are measured at cost,
less any accumulated depreciation and any impairment
losses, and adjusted for any remeasurement of lease
liabilities. The cost of right-of-use assets includes the amount
of lease liabilities recognised, initial direct costs incurred, and
lease payments made at or before the commencement date
less any lease incentives received. Right-of-use assets are
depreciated on a straight-line basis over the shorter of the
lease terms and the estimated useful lives of the assets as
follows:
Buildings 5to 20 years BF 5Z204F
MEEEENER RN EE RS
REGEBREREB AR IRITHE
BEEEE GEREENMSTE
FE st EITE -

If ownership of the leased asset transfers to the Group by
the end of the lease term or the cost reflects the exercise
of a purchase option, depreciation is calculated using the
estimated useful life of the asset.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Leases (continued)

Group as a lessee (continued)

©®)

Lease liabilities

Lease liabilities are recognised at the commencement date
of the lease at the present value of lease payments to be
made over the lease term. The lease payments include
fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments) less
any lease incentives receivable, variable lease payments
that depend on an index or a rate, and amounts expected
to be paid under residual value guarantees. The lease
payments also include the exercise price of a purchase
option reasonably certain to be exercised by the Group and
payments of penalties for termination of a lease, if the lease
term reflects the Group exercising the option to terminate the
lease. The variable lease payments that do not depend on an
index or a rate are recognised as an expense in the period
in which the event or condition that triggers the payment
occurs.

In calculating the present value of lease payments, the
Group uses its incremental borrowing rate at the lease
commencement date because the interest rate implicit in the
lease is not readily determinable. After the commencement
date, the amount of lease liabilities is increased to reflect the
accretion of interest and reduced for the lease payments
made. In addition, the carrying amount of lease liabilities is
remeasured if there is a modification, a change in the lease
term, a change in lease payments (e.g., a change to future
lease payments resulting from a change in an index or rate)
or a change in assessment of an option to purchase the
underlying asset.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Leases (continued)

Group as a lessee (continued)
(c)  Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition
exemption to its short-term leases of machinery and
equipment (that is those leases that have a lease term of 12
months or less from the commencement date and do not
contain a purchase option). It also applies the recognition
exemption for leases of low-value assets to leases of office
equipment and laptop computers that are considered to be
of low value.

Lease payments on short-term leases and leases of low-
value assets are recognised as an expense on a straight-line
basis over the lease term.

Group as a lessor

When the Group acts as a lessor, it classifies at lease inception (or
when there is a lease modification) each of its leases as either an
operating lease or a finance lease.

Leases in which the Group does not transfer substantially all the
risks and rewards incidental to ownership of an asset are classified
as operating leases. When a contract contains lease and non-lease
components, the Group allocates the consideration in the contract
to each component on a relative stand-alone selling price basis.
Rental income is accounted for on a straight-line basis over the
lease terms and is included in revenue in the statement of profit
or loss due to its operating nature. Initial direct costs incurred in
negotiating and arranging an operating lease are added to the
carrying amount of the leased asset and recognised over the lease
term on the same basis as rental income. Contingent rents are
recognised as revenue in the period in which they are earned.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BB

31 December 2021 2021412831H

24 FEGTHRBE (4B)

HE (R
FEBEAREA B
© EHEERGEEEENS

FEBERGHAERIARREAR
Higss R EVRENEE GEEHIR
A BERBEHEI2EARUTAESR
BEBEEERZFEE HIR
HRRERBRELTSBHRNEE
R~ BEEED EREEEEE
HEZHEREHRE-

EHREHERCEEEEAENEE
MRRIEE RN IRBEGEEDS
s o

FEBEASHEA

EAEEFERBEAR HRNEEMGE
(REBREAETR) REXBEHEEDE
PSS ERMERE-

AEETARBREEHEARMNENER
BoRBRKEHRNEBEDERKEERE-
EEMESAERIFFEAEEMSBOR &
EEZEHBUEERSOTNAEIE
FEMEMBD - HEWAREGENEE
HRAAR TRECEEEMF AR
KAZWA - EERZHEEREMEE
NS EEMASt A EEEENREE
WEREEWARRNEERBERRA
55 0 3 ZATHE 2 S H B A B9 HA FE A A8 2 U
Ao

RN R RERAT
T lrey 123



124

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B E A B

31 December 2021 2021&E12831H

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Investments and other financial assets

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as
subsequently measured at amortised cost, fair value through other
comprehensive income, and fair value through profit or loss.

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition depends
on the financial asset’s contractual cash flow characteristics and
the Group’s business model for managing them. With the exception
of trade receivables that do not contain a significant financing
component or for which the Group has applied the practical
expedient of not adjusting the effect of a significant financing
component, the Group initially measures a financial asset at its fair
value, plus in the case of a financial asset not at fair value through
profit or loss, transaction costs. Trade receivables that do not
contain a significant financing component or for which the Group
has applied the practical expedient are measured at the transaction
price determined under IFRS 15 in accordance with the policies set
out for “Revenue recognition” below.

In order for a financial asset to be classified and measured at
amortised cost or fair value through other comprehensive income,
it needs to give rise to cash flows that are solely payments of
principal and interest (“SPPI”) on the principal amount outstanding.
Financial assets with cash flows that are not SPPI are classified
and measured at fair value through profit or loss, irrespective of the
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 24 FEFHHEEHRE (4B)
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

Investments and other financial assets RERHEMEMEE (@
(continued)

Initial recognition and measurement (continued) METER KRt E (@)

The Group’s business model for managing financial assets refers AEREETREENERERNISAESE
to how it manages its financial assets in order to generate cash HeEnEeEEEMBEEN AR - EHBER
flows. The business model determines whether cash flows will ETRENETSRKBRRENIRERN
result from collecting contractual cash flows, selling the financial E-HEETMEER U LME - LEHM
assets, or both. Financial assets classified and measured at AR fERGTENEHEERSEERESM
amortised cost are held within a business model with the objective BEENBREGNRESEMENEBENANF
to hold financial assets in order to collect contractual cash flows, BrmELAABEFARMEZENREDEE
while financial assets classified and measured at fair value through FEENEsHEEEEEREURES
other comprehensive income are held within a business model MRS RERHENEBEXRNFTR I
with the objective of both holding to collect contractual cash EE PMEFBEXAATENEMEELZE
flows and selling. Financial assets which are not held within the NABEFABEDERE.

aforementioned business models are classified and measured at fair
value through profit or loss.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are FFEHREEEREELN S AR
recognised on the trade date, that is, the date that the Group BAREEREBENEHEZBEENH
commits to purchase or sell the asset. Regular way purchases or e R REENIERREARRERT
sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery GEANTE—EHEARNEENTHREE
of assets within the period generally established by regulation or BE-

convention in the marketplace.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Investments and other financial assets
(continued)

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends on their

classification as follows:

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently measured
using the effective interest method and are subject to impairment.
Gains and losses are recognised in the statement of profit or loss

when the asset is derecognised, modified or impaired.

Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive

income (debt instruments)
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For debt investments at fair value through other comprehensive
income, interest income, foreign exchange revaluation and
impairment losses or reversals are recognised in the statement of
profit or loss and computed in the same manner as for financial
assets measured at amortised cost. The remaining fair value
changes are recognised in other comprehensive income. Upon
derecognition, the cumulative fair value change recognised in other
comprehensive income is recycled to the statement of profit or loss.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Investments and other financial assets
(continued)

Financial assets designated at fair value through other
comprehensive income (equity investments)

Upon initial recognition, the Group can elect to classify irrevocably
its equity investments as equity investments designated at fair
value through other comprehensive income when they meet the
definition of equity under IAS 32 Financial Instruments: Presentation
and are not held for trading. The classification is determined on an
instrument-by-instrument basis.

Gains and losses on these financial assets are never recycled to
the statement of profit or loss. Dividends are recognised as other
income in the statement of profit or loss when the right of payment
has been established, it is probable that the economic benefits
associated with the dividend will flow to the Group and the amount
of the dividend can be measured reliably, except when the Group
benefits from such proceeds as a recovery of part of the cost of
the financial asset, in which case such gains are recorded in other
comprehensive income. Equity investments designated at fair value
through other comprehensive income are not subject to impairment
assessment.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are carried in the
statement of financial position at fair value with net changes in fair
value recognised in the statement of profit or loss.

This category includes equity investments which the Group had
not irrevocably elected to classify at fair value through other
comprehensive income. Dividends on equity investments classified
as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are also
recognised as other income in the statement of profit or loss when
the right of payment has been established, it is probable that the
economic benefits associated with the dividend will flow to the
Group and the amount of the dividend can be measured reliably.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Derecognition of financial assets

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset or
part of a group of similar financial assets) is primarily derecognised
(i.e., removed from the Group’s consolidated statement of financial
position) when:

° the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired;
or

° the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from
the asset or has assumed an obligation to pay the received
cash flows in full without material delay to a third party under
a “pass-through” arrangement; and either (a) the Group
has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the
asset, or (b) the Group has neither transferred nor retained
substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, but has
transferred control of the asset.

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows
from an asset or has entered into a pass-through arrangement,
it evaluates if, and to what extent, it has retained the risk and
rewards of ownership of the asset. When it has neither transferred
nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset nor
transferred control of the asset, the Group continues to recognise
the transferred asset to the extent of the Group’s continuing
involvement. In that case, the Group also recognises an associated
liability. The transferred asset and the associated liability are
measured on a basis that reflects the rights and obligations that the
Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over the
transferred asset is measured at the lower of the original carrying
amount of the asset and the maximum amount of consideration
that the Group could be required to repay.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises an allowance for expected credit losses
(“ECLs”) for all debt instruments not held at fair value through
profit or loss. ECLs are based on the difference between the
contractual cash flows due in accordance with the contract and all
the cash flows that the Group expects to receive, discounted at an
approximation of the original effective interest rate. The expected
cash flows will include cash flows from the sale of collateral held
or other credit enhancements that are integral to the contractual
terms.

General approach

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures for
which there has not been a significant increase in credit risk since
initial recognition, ECLs are provided for credit losses that result
from default events that are possible within the next 12 months (a
12-month ECL). For those credit exposures for which there has
been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition,
a loss allowance is required for credit losses expected over the
remaining life of the exposure, irrespective of the timing of the
default (a lifetime ECL).

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether the credit
risk on a financial instrument has increased significantly since initial
recognition. When making the assessment, the Group compares
the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument as at the
reporting date with the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the date of initial recognition and considers
reasonable and supportable information that is available without
undue cost or effort, including historical and forward-looking

information.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

General approach (continued)

The Group considers a financial asset in default when contractual
payments are 90 days past due. However, in certain cases, the
Group may also consider a financial asset to be in default when
internal or external information indicates that the Group is unlikely
to receive the outstanding contractual amounts in full before
taking into account any credit enhancements held by the Group. A
financial asset is written off when there is no reasonable expectation
of recovering the contractual cash flows.

Financial assets at amortised cost are subject to impairment under
the general approach and they are classified within the following
stages for measurement of ECLs except for trade receivables which
apply the simplified approach as detailed below.

Stage 1 - Financial instruments for which credit
risk has not increased significantly since
initial recognition and for which the loss
allowance is measured at an amount equal
to 12-month ECLs

Stage 2 - Financial instruments for which credit risk
has increased significantly since initial
recognition but that are not credit-impaired
financial assets and for which the loss
allowance is measured at an amount equal
to lifetime ECLs

Stage 3 - Financial assets that are credit-impaired
at the reporting date (but that are not
purchased or originated credit-impaired) and
for which the loss allowance is measured at
an amount equal to lifetime ECLs
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

Simplified approach

For trade receivables that do not contain a significant financing
component or when the Group applies the practical expedient
of not adjusting the effect of a significant financing component,
the Group applies the simplified approach in calculating ECLs.
Under the simplified approach, the Group does not track changes
in credit risk, but instead recognises a loss allowance based on
lifetime ECLs at each reporting date. The Group has established a
provision matrix that is based on its historical credit loss experience,
adjusted for forward-looking factors specific to the debtors and the
economic environment.

For trade receivables that contain a significant financing component
and lease receivables, the Group chooses as its accounting policy
to adopt the simplified approach in calculating ECLs with policies as
described above.

Financial liabilities

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as loans and
borrowings, or payables, as appropriate.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and, in
the case of loans and borrowings and payables, net of directly
attributable transaction costs.

The Group’s financial liabilities include trade and other payables,
amounts due to related companies, lease liabilities and interest-
bearing bank and other borrowings.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Financial liabilities (continued)

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities depends on
their classification as follows:

Financial liabilities at amortised cost (loans and borrowings)

After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and borrowings are
subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective
interest rate method unless the effect of discounting would be
immaterial, in which case they are stated at cost. Gains and losses
are recognised in the statement of profit or loss when the liabilities
are derecognised as well as through the effective interest rate
amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or
premium on acquisition and fees or costs that are an integral part of
the effective interest rate. The effective interest rate amortisation is
included in finance costs in the statement of profit or loss.

Financial guarantee contracts

Financial guarantee contracts issued by the Group are those
contracts that require a payment to be made to reimburse the
holder for a loss it incurs because the specified debtor fails to
make a payment when due in accordance with the terms of a debt
instrument. A financial guarantee contract is recognised initially as
a liability at its fair value, adjusted for transaction costs that are
directly attributable to the issuance of the guarantee. Subsequent
to initial recognition, the Group measures the financial guarantee
contracts at the higher of: (i) the ECL allowance determined in
accordance with the policy as set out in “Impairment of financial
assets”; and (i) the amount initially recognised less, when
appropriate, the cumulative amount of income recognised.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Derecognition of financial liabilities

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the
liability is discharged or cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the
same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of an
existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or
modification is treated as a derecognition of the original liability
and a recognition of a new liability, and the difference between the
respective carrying amounts is recognised in the statement of profit
or loss.

Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount
is reported in the statement of financial position if there is a currently
enforceable legal right to offset the recognised amounts and there
is an intention to settle on a net basis, or to realise the assets and
settle the liabilities simultaneously.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value.
Cost is determined on the weighted average basis. Net realisable
value is based on estimated selling prices less any estimated costs
to be incurred to completion and on disposal.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows,
cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and demand
deposits, and short term highly liquid investments that are readily
convertible into known amounts of cash, are subject to an
insignificant risk of changes in value, and have a short maturity of
generally within three months when acquired, less bank overdrafts
which are repayable on demand and form an integral part of the
Group’s cash management.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of financial position,
cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and at banks,
including term deposits, and assets similar in nature to cash, which
are not restricted as to use.

Provisions

A provision is recognised when a present obligation (legal or
constructive) has arisen as a result of a past event and it is probable
that a future outflow of resources will be required to settle the
obligation, provided that a reliable estimate can be made of the
amount of the obligation.

When the effect of discounting is material, the amount recognised
for a provision is the present value at the end of the reporting period
of the future expenditures expected to be required to settle the
obligation. The increase in the discounted present value amount
arising from the passage of time is included in finance costs in the
statement of profit or loss.

A contingent liability recognised in a business combination is initially
measured at its fair value. Subsequently, it is measured at the
higher of (i) the amount that would be recognised in accordance
with the general policy for provisions above; and (i) the amount
initially recognised less, when appropriate, the amount of income
recognised in accordance with the policy for revenue recognition.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 24 FESTHENE (8)
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

Employee retirement benefits B S RAKEF

Pursuant to the relevant regulations of the PRC government, the BBPBEBANERER T HE A&
companies comprising the Group operating in Mainland China (the ENAE ((HEEBAR) BL2NTE
“PRC group companies”) have participated in a local municipal BN BRI EE 8 (TexstE) » &5t
government retirement benefit scheme (the “Scheme”), whereby BERFPHEAERNDELABDETIEARATE
the PRC group companies are required to contribute a certain —E L AmEZsT MR A5 T aURKE
percentage of the salaries of their employees to the Scheme to FMIRHEZ ANEBEEZENE KT
fund their retirement benefits. The only obligation of the Group with BB Z T BB R E I HERR o 5% 5
respect to the Scheme is to pay the ongoing contributions under BIETHNHEREZERFTABGRBIME
the Scheme. Contributions under the Scheme are charged to the fEEI BER AEERZETEIERERT A
statement of profit of loss as incurred. Contributions paid to the BRR B AREBERZENERKREE

Scheme for an employee are not available to reduce the Group’s
future obligations to the Scheme even if the employee leaves.

Employee benefits to all eligible employees of the overseas mAENIBARFMBEERESRENE
subsidiaries are made in accordance with the rules set forth in the BEMIRIEERS Bt EFTSHRAE
collective labor agreement, and recorded as an expense in the o R BB ARARMS  BiE8&EN
period they are due as a charge to the statement of profit or loss. 5

Income tax FRigiR

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax and land FriSR B 3G BN HA S R EE AR TR A R + 38
appreciation tax. Income tax relating to items recognised outside Mo BEEmUIMNERNIER BRANME
profit or loss is recognised outside profit or loss, either in other MEBDMUIINEMEZE R EAERNE
comprehensive income or directly in equity. BRERRNER

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the amount ERRNEEEMBEUERRRBEER/W
expected to be recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities, ElEEEZNZEETFTUGRE ERAE
based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or EXEBEREMERRS BRI RS
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period, taking B ZBREEANERSHEFRAEKER
into consideration interpretations and practices prevailing in the HITZRE (RRFE L) KFETE

countries in which the Group operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all temporary IRIEMRIBTL R SHARME EREENR
differences at the end of the reporting period between the tax bases HEHERBIRES BERNVREE 2B
of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial BERNEERBaEAFREE-

reporting purposes.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Income tax (continued)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary
differences, except:

° Deferred tax assets arise in the following transactions: the
initial recognition of goodwill, or the initial recognition of
assets or liabilities arising from a transaction that has the
following characteristics: the transaction is not a business
combination and, at the time the transaction occurs, affects
neither accounting profit nor taxable income or deductible
losses; and

o in respect of taxable temporary differences associated with
investments in subsidiaries and joint ventures, when the
timing of the reversal of the temporary differences can be
controlled and it is probable that the temporary differences
will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary
differences, and the carryforward of unused tax credits and any
unused tax losses. Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent
that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against which
the deductible temporary differences, and the carryforward of
unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be utilised, except:

° when the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible
temporary differences arises from the initial recognition of
an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business
combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects
neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

° in respect of deductible temporary differences associated
with investments in subsidiaries and joint ventures, deferred
tax assets are only recognised to the extent that it is probable
that the temporary differences will reverse in the foreseeable
future and taxable profit will be available against which the
temporary differences can be utilised.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 24 FEEHBEHE (8)
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

Income tax (continued) Frigit (&)

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of FERMBEERAEGESREGHRTU
each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no longer st WERKOIBER B EHERRF)E
probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or BRE2BHIHIELERBEE ER T LUH
part of the deferred tax asset to be utilised. Unrecognised deferred o RERNIEIERIBEENRSRSHAR
tax assets are reassessed at the end of each reporting period and IRBFTUEH®T  WERIFENE E5E
are recognised to the extent that it has become probable that RMABU B 2 BB EBD IR IERIEE E T
sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the F LA

deferred tax asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that FERIBEERBBESUBRSHREET
are expected to apply to the period when the asset is realised or RABLEETHNRE (RRBEA) AE
the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have BomBAREHEEdEHaRTUENR
been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting A HBE BRI EET B o

period.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if a legally HEE B RERGIIT ZHEF) I HLE
enforceable right exists to set off current tax assets against current —ERRNEBR AN S RLEE FBEE
tax liabilities and the deferred taxes relate to the same taxable entity EIEWWEIAERERBEBEREE) UL
and the same taxation authority on either the same taxable entity FEREEENERREEEREENRR
or different taxable entities which intend either to settle current tax SRBERENEBBZIARERRNER
liabilities and assets on a net basis, or to realise the assets and REMRRNIBEEEEZANBEEGERE 8
settle the liabilities simultaneously, in each future period in which EIER I KB — FER IR B e B — R #5
significant amounts of deferred tax liabilities or assets are expected HE A BRERIBEE ERIRIERIES
to be settled or recovered. BEABIEE -
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair value where there
is reasonable assurance that the grant will be received and all
attaching conditions will be complied with. When the grant relates
to an expense item, it is recognised as income on a systematic
basis over the periods that the costs, for which it is intended to
compensate, are expensed.

Where the grant relates to an asset, the fair value is credited to a
deferred income account and is released to the statement of profit
or loss over the expected useful life of the relevant asset by equal
annual instalments or deducted from the carrying amount of the
asset and released to the statement of profit or loss by way of a
reduced depreciation charge.

Revenue recognition

Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised when control
of goods or services is transferred to the customers at an amount
that reflects the consideration to which the Group expects to be
entitled in exchange for those goods or services.

When the consideration in a contract includes a variable amount,
the amount of consideration is estimated to which the Group will
be entitled in exchange for transferring the goods or services to
the customer. The variable consideration is estimated at contract
inception and constrained until it is highly probable that a significant
revenue reversal in the amount of cumulative revenue recognised
will not occur when the associated uncertainty with the variable
consideration is subsequently resolved.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Revenue recognition (continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)

When the contract contains a financing component which provides
the customer with a significant benefit of financing the transfer
of goods or services to the customer for more than one year,
revenue is measured at the present value of the amount receivable,
discounted using the discount rate that would be reflected in
a separate financing transaction between the Group and the
customer at contract inception. When the contract contains a
financing component which provides the Group with a significant
financial benefit for more than one year, revenue recognised under
the contract includes the interest expense accreted on the contract
liability under the effective interest method. For a contract where the
period between the payment by the customer and the transfer of
the promised goods or services is one year or less, the transaction
price is not adjusted for the effects of a significant financing
component, using the practical expedient in IFRS 15.

(@)  Revenue from the sales of properties

For property development and sales contracts for which
the control of the property is transferred at a point in time,
revenue is recognised when the purchasers obtain the
physical possession or the legal title of the completed
properties and the Group has the present right to payment
from the purchasers.

(b)  Revenue from hotel operation

Revenue from hotel operation is derived from room rental,
food and beverage sales and income from the provision of
other ancillary services, and is recognised when the services
are rendered.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Revenue recognition (continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)
(c)  Revenue from property management and other services

Revenue from property management and other services
is recognised over the scheduled period on a straight-line
basis because the customer simultaneously receives and
consumes the benefits provided by the Group.

Revenue from other sources

Rental income is recognised on a time proportion basis over the
lease terms. Variable lease payments that do not depend on an
index or a rate are recognised as income in the accounting period in
which they are incurred.

Other income

Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis using the effective
interest method by applying the rate that exactly discounts the
estimated future cash receipts over the expected life of the financial
instrument or a shorter period, when appropriate, to the net
carrying amount of the financial asset.

Dividend income is recognised when the shareholders’ right to
receive payment has been established, it is probable that the
economic benefits associated with the dividend will flow to the
Group and the amount of the dividend can be measured reliably.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Contract liabilities

A contract liability is recognised when a payment is received or a
payment is due (whichever is earlier) from a customer before the
Group transfers the related goods or services. Contract liabilities
are recognised as revenue when the Group performs under the
contract (i.e., transfers control of the related goods or services to
the customer).

Commission in obtaining contracts

Sales commissions incurred directly attributable to obtaining a
contract, if recoverable, are capitalised and recorded in other
assets. Capitalised sales commissions are charged to profit or loss
when the revenue from the related property sale is recognised and
are included as selling and marketing expenses at that time. The
Group has elected to apply the practical expedient and did not
recognise the effects of the sales commission if the time period is
one year or less.

Share-based payments

The Company operates a share option scheme for the purpose
of providing incentives and rewards to eligible participants who
contribute to the success of the Group’s operations. Employees
(including directors) of the Group receive remuneration in the
form of share-based payments, whereby employees render
services as consideration for equity instruments (‘equity-settled
transactions”).

The cost of equity-settled transactions with employees for grants
after 7 November 2002 is measured by reference to the fair value at
the date at which they are granted. The fair value is determined by
an external valuer using a binomial model, further details of which
are given in note 32 to the financial statements.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Share-based payments (continued)

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised in employee
benefit expense, together with a corresponding increase in equity,
over the period in which the performance and/or service conditions
are fulfiled. The cumulative expense recognised for equity-settled
transactions at the end of each reporting period until the vesting
date reflects the extent to which the vesting period has expired and
the Group’s best estimate of the number of equity instruments that
will ultimately vest. The charge or credit to the statement of profit
or loss for a period represents the movement in the cumulative
expense recognised as at the beginning and end of that period.

Service and non-market performance conditions are not taken into
account when determining the grant date fair value of awards, but
the likelihood of the conditions being met is assessed as part of
the Group’s best estimate of the number of equity instruments that
will ultimately vest. Market performance conditions are reflected
within the grant date fair value. Any other conditions attached
to an award, but without an associated service requirement, are
considered to be non-vesting conditions. Non-vesting conditions
are reflected in the fair value of an award and lead to an immediate
expensing of an award unless there are also service and/or
performance conditions.

For awards that do not ultimately vest because non-market
performance and/or service conditions have not been met,
no expense is recognised. Where awards include a market or
non-vesting condition, the transactions are treated as vesting
irrespective of whether the market or non-vesting condition is
satisfied, provided that all other performance and/or service
conditions are satisfied.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Share-based payments (continued)

Where the terms of an equity-settled award are modified, as a
minimum an expense is recognised as if the terms had not been
modified, if the original terms of the award are met. In addition, an
expense is recognised for any modification that increases the total
fair value of the share-based payments, or is otherwise beneficial to
the employee as measured at the date of modification.

Where an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated as if it
had vested on the date of cancellation, and any expense not yet
recognised for the award is recognised immediately. This includes
any award where non-vesting conditions within the control of either
the Group or the employee are not met. However, if a new award
is substituted for the cancelled award, and is designated as a
replacement award on the date that it is granted, the cancelled and
new awards are treated as if they were a modification of the original
award, as described in the previous paragraph.

The dilutive effect of outstanding options is reflected as additional
share dilution in the computation of earnings per share.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction
or production of qualifying assets, i.e., assets that necessarily take
a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use
or sale, are capitalised as part of the cost of those assets. The
capitalisation of such borrowing costs ceases when the assets
are substantially ready for their intended use or sale. Investment
income earned on the temporary investment of specific borrowings
pending their expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted from the
borrowing costs capitalised. All other borrowing costs are expensed
in the period in which they are incurred. Borrowing costs consist of
interest and other costs that an entity incurs in connection with the
borrowing of funds.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Borrowing costs (continued)

Where funds have been borrowed generally and used for the
purpose of obtaining qualifying assets, a capitalisation rate of
8.77% (2020: 11.47%) has been applied to the expenditure on the
individual assets.

Dividends

Final dividends are recognised as a liability when they are approved
by the shareholders in a general meeting.

Interim dividends are simultaneously proposed and declared.
Consequently, interim dividends are recognised immediately as a

liability when they are proposed and declared.

Foreign currencies

The functional currency of the Company is the Hong Kong dollar
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(“HK$"), and the functional currencies of subsidiaries incorporated
outside Mainland China are the “HKS$”, the United States dollar
(“US$”) and the Great Britain Pound (“GBP”), respectively. The
functional currency of Mainland China subsidiaries is the RMB. As
the Group mainly operates in Mainland China, the RMB is used
as the presentation currency of the Group. Each entity in the
Group determines its own functional currency and items included
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in the financial statements of each entity are measured using that
functional currency. Foreign currency transactions recorded by the
entities in the Group are initially recorded using their respective
functional currency rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions.
Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies
are translated at the functional currency rates of exchange ruling at
the end of the reporting period. Differences arising on settlement
or translation of monetary items are recognised in the statement of
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profit or loss.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Foreign currencies (continued)

Differences arising on settlement or translation of monetary items
are recognised in the statement of profit or loss with the exception
of monetary items that are designated as part of the hedge of
the Group’s net investment of a foreign operation. These are
recognised in other comprehensive income until the net investment
is disposed of, at which time the cumulative amount is reclassified
to the statement of profit or loss. Tax charges and credits
attributable to exchange differences on those monetary items are
also recorded in other comprehensive income.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost
in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at the
dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary items measured at
fair value in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange
rates at the date when the fair value was measured. The gain
or loss arising on translation of a non-monetary item measured
at fair value is treated in line with the recognition of the gain or
loss on change in fair value of the item (i.e., translation difference
on the item whose fair value gain or loss is recognised in other
comprehensive income or profit or loss is also recognised in other
comprehensive income or profit or loss, respectively).

In determining the exchange rate on initial recognition of the related
asset, expense or income on the derecognition of a non-monetary
asset or non-monetary liability relating to an advance consideration,
the date of initial transaction is the date on which the Group initially
recognises the non-monetary asset or non-monetary liability arising
from the advance consideration. If there are multiple payments or
receipts in advance, the Group determines the transaction date for
each payment or receipt of the advance consideration.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B E A B

31 December 2021 2021&E12831H

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Foreign currencies (continued)

The functional currencies of non-PRC established subsidiaries
are currencies other than the RMB. As at the end of the reporting
period, the assets and liabilities of these entities are translated into
RMB at the exchange rates prevailing at the end of the reporting
period and their statements of profit or loss are translated into RMB
at the exchange rates that approximate to those prevailing at the
dates of the transactions.

The resulting exchange differences are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in the exchange
fluctuation reserve. On disposal of a foreign operation, the
component of other comprehensive income relating to that
particular foreign operation is recognised in the statement of profit
or loss.

Any goodwill arising on the acquisition of a foreign operation and
any fair value adjustments to the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities arising on acquisition are treated as assets and liabilities of
the foreign operation and translated at the closing rate.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, the
cash flows of non-PRC established subsidiaries are translated into
RMB at the exchange rates ruling at the dates of the cash flows.
Frequently recurring cash flows of non-PRC established companies
which arise throughout the year are translated into RMB at the
weighted average exchange rates for the year.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES

The preparation of the Group’s financial statements requires
management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that
affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets and
liabilities, and their accompanying disclosures, and the disclosure
of contingent liabilities. Uncertainty about these assumptions and
estimates could result in outcomes that could require a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of the assets or liabilities
affected in the future.

Judgements

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies,
management has made the following judgements, apart from those
involving estimations, which have the most significant effect on the
amounts recognised in the financial statements:

(i) Property lease classification - Group as a lessor

The Group has entered into commercial property leases on
its investment property portfolio. The Group has determined,
based on an evaluation of the terms and conditions of the
arrangements, such as the lease term not constituting a
major part of the economic life of the commercial property
and the present value of the minimum lease payments not
amounting to substantially all the fair value of the commercial
property, that it retains substantially all the significant risks
and rewards incidental to ownership of these properties
which are leased out and accounts for the contracts as
operating leases.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B E A B

31 December 2021 2021412831H

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES
(CONTINUED)

Judgements (continued)

(i)

(iii)

Classification between investment properties,
completed properties held for sale and owner-occupied
properties

The Group determines whether a property qualifies as an
investment property and has developed criteria in making
that judgement. Investment property is a property held to
earn rentals or for capital appreciation or both. Therefore, the
Group considers whether a property generates cash flows
largely independently of the other assets held by the Group.

Some properties comprise a portion that is held to earn
rentals or for capital appreciation and another portion that is
held for use in the production or supply of goods or services
or for administrative purposes. If these portions could be sold
separately, the Group accounts for the portions separately. If
the portions could not be sold separately, the property is an
investment property only if an insignificant portion is held for
use in the production or supply of goods or services or for
administrative purposes. Judgement is made on an individual
property basis to determine whether ancillary services are so
significant that a property does not qualify as an investment

property.

Classification of current and non-current properties
under development

The Group classifies properties under development according
to the construction progress and estimated commencement
date of pre-sale. Properties under development are classified
as current assets after the construction commences or
having a clear plan for construction. As for the rest properties
under development, the Group classify them as non-current.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES
(CONTINUED)

Estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources

of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting period, that

have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the

carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial

year, are described below:

@

Fair value of investment properties

Investment properties were revalued based on the appraised
market value by independent professional valuers. Such
valuations were based on certain assumptions, which are
subject to uncertainty and might materially differ from the
actual results. In making the estimate, the Group considers
information from current prices in an active market for similar
properties and uses assumptions that are mainly based on
market conditions existing at the end of the reporting period.

In the absence of current prices in an active market for similar
properties, the Group considers information from a variety of
sources, including:

(@  current prices in an active market for properties of
a different nature, condition or location or subject to
different lease or other contracts, adjusted to reflect
those differences;

(b)  recent prices of similar properties on less active
markets, with adjustments to reflect any changes
in economic conditions since the dates of the
transactions that occurred at those prices; and
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B E A B

31 December 2021 2021412831H

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES
(CONTINUED)

Estimation uncertainty (continued)

0]

(ii)

Fair value of investment properties (continued)

(c) discounted cash flow projections based on reliable
estimates of future cash flows, supported by the terms
of any existing leases and other contracts and (when
possible) by external evidence such as current market
rents for similar properties in the same location and
condition, and using discount rates that reflect current
market assessments of the uncertainty in the amount
and timing of the cash flows.

The principal assumptions for the Group’s estimation of
the fair value include those related to current market rents
for similar properties in the same location and condition,
appropriate discount rates, expected future market rents and
future maintenance costs. The carrying amount of investment
properties at 31 December 2021 was RMB5,290,500,000
(2020: RMB5,414,600,000). Further details, including the key
assumptions used for fair value measurement, are given in
note 13 to the financial statements.

Net realisable value of properties under development
and completed properties held for sale

The Group’s properties under development and completed
properties held for sale are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Based on the Group’s historical experience
and the nature of the subject properties, the Group makes
estimates of the selling prices, the costs of completion
of properties under development, and the costs to be
incurred in selling the properties based on prevailing market
conditions.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES
(CONTINUED)

Estimation uncertainty (continued)

(i)

(iii)

Net realisable value of properties under development
and completed properties held for sale (continued)

If there is an increase in costs to completion or a decrease in
net sales value, the net realisable value will decrease and this
may result in a provision for properties under development
and completed properties held for sale. Such provision
requires the use of judgements and estimates. Where the
expectation is different from the original estimate, the carrying
value and provision for properties in the period in which the
estimate is changed will be adjusted accordingly.

PRC land appreciation tax (“LAT”)

LAT in the PRC is levied at progressive rates ranging from
30% to 60% on the appreciation of land value, being the
proceeds from sale of properties less deductible expenditures
including land costs, borrowing costs and other property
development expenditures.

The subsidiaries of the Group engaging in the property
development business in Mainland China are subject to
LAT. However, the implementation of these taxes varies
amongst various cities in Mainland China and the Group
has not finalised its LAT returns with various tax authorities.
Accordingly, significant judgement is required in determining
the amount of land appreciation and its related taxes. The
ultimate tax determination is uncertain during the ordinary
course of business. The Group recognises these liabilities
based on management’s best estimates. Where the final
tax outcome of these matters is different from the amounts
that were initially recorded, the differences will impact the
statement of profit or loss and the provision for LAT in the
period in which the determination is made.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B E A B

31 December 2021 2021&E12831H

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES
(CONTINUED)

Estimation uncertainty (continued)

(iv)

v)

Impairment of goodwill

The Group determines whether goodwill is impaired at least
on an annual basis. This requires an estimation of the value
in use of the cash-generating units to which the goodwill is
allocated. Estimating the value in use requires the Group to
make an estimate of the expected future cash flows from the
cash-generating units and also to choose a suitable discount
rate in order to calculate the present value of those cash
flows. The carrying amount of goodwill at 31 December 2021
was nil (2020: RMB98,995,000). Further details are given in
note 16 to the financial statements.

Leases - Estimating the incremental borrowing rate

The Group cannot readily determine the interest rate implicit
in a lease, and therefore, it uses an incremental borrowing
rate (“IBR”) to measure lease liabilities. The IBR is the rate of
interest that the Group would have to pay to borrow over a
similar term, and with a similar security, the funds necessary
to obtain an asset of a similar value to the right-of-use
asset in a similar economic environment. The IBR therefore
reflects what the Group “would have to pay”, which requires
estimation when no observable rates are available (such as
for subsidiaries that do not enter into financing transactions)
or when it needs to be adjusted to reflect the terms and
conditions of the lease (for example, when leases are not in
the subsidiary’s functional currency). The Group estimates
the IBR using observable inputs (such as market interest
rates) when available and is required to make certain entity-
specific estimates (such as the subsidiary’s stand-alone
credit rating).
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES
(CONTINUED)

Estimation uncertainty (continued)

(vi)

(vii)

Impairment of non-financial assets (other than
goodwill)

The Group assesses whether there are any indicators of
impairment for all non-financial assets (including the right-of-
use assets) at the end of each reporting period. Other non-
financial assets are tested for impairment when there are
indicators that the carrying amounts may not be recoverable.
An impairment exists when the carrying value of an asset
or a cash-generating unit exceeds its recoverable amount,
which is the higher of its fair value less costs of disposal and
its value in use. The calculation of the fair value less costs
of disposal is based on available data from binding sales
transactions in an arm’s length transaction of similar assets or
observable market prices less incremental costs for disposing
of the asset. When value in use calculations are undertaken,
management must estimate the expected future cash flows
from the asset or cash-generating unit and choose a suitable
discount rate in order to calculate the present value of those
cash flows.

Fair value of unlisted equity investments

The unlisted equity investments have been valued based
on a market-based valuation technique as detailed in note
40 to the financial statements. The valuation requires the
Group to determine the comparable public companies
(peers) and select the price multiple. In addition, the Group
makes estimates about the discount for illiquidity and size
differences. The Group classifies the fair value of these
investments as Level 3. The fair value of the unlisted equity
investments at 31 December 2021 was RMB335,050,000
(2020: RMB392,590,000). Further details are included in note
18 to the financial statements.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B E A B

31 December 2021 2021412831H

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES
(CONTINUED)

Estimation uncertainty (continued)

(viii) Provision for ECLs on trade receivables and other

financial assets

The Group uses a provision matrix to calculate ECLs for trade
receivables and other financial assets. The provision rates are
based on days past due for groupings of various customer
segments that have similar loss patterns (i.e. by service type,
customer type and rating).

The provision matrix is initially based on the Group’s historical
observed default rates. The Group will calibrate the matrix
to adjust the historical credit loss experience with forward-
looking information. For instance, if forecast economic
conditions are expected to deteriorate over the next year
which can lead to an increased number of defaults in the
property development sector, the historical default rates are
adjusted. At each reporting date, the historical observed
default rates are updated and changes in the forward-looking
estimates are analysed.

The assessment of the correlation among historical observed
default rates, forecast economic conditions and ECLs is
a significant estimate. The amount of ECLs is sensitive to
changes in circumstances and forecast economic conditions.
The Group’s historical credit loss experience and forecast
of economic conditions may also not be representative of a
customer’s actual default in the future.
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4. OPERATING SEGMENT

INFORMATION

For management purposes, the Group is organised into business
units based on income derived from business and has four
reportable operating segments as follows:

(@  the commercial property development segment develops and
sells commercial properties in Mainland China and Japan;

(b)  the property rental segment leases investment properties in
Mainland China;

(c)  the hotel operations segment owns and operates hotels; and

(d) the “others” segment comprises, the Group’s property
management services business, the Group’s project
management business and other business that the
Group is involved in. On 3 February 2021, the Group had
entered into an equity transfer agreement with Zhong An
Group to dispose the entire equity interest in Zhejiang
Runzhou Property Services Co., Ltd., Yuyao Zhongli
Property Management Co., Ltd. and Hangzhou Zhonghong
Property Service Co., Ltd., all of which are engaged in
commercial property management business at an aggregate
of consideration of RMB104.65 million (equivalent to
approximately HK$125.58 million) (“Transfers”). The
Transfers was fully completed on 13 April 2021. Ever since
the completion of the Transfers, the Group is no longer
engaged in commercial property management business.

Management monitors the results of the Group’s operating
segments separately for the purpose of making decisions about
resource allocation and performance assessment. Segment
performance is evaluated based on reportable segment profit/
loss, which is a measure of adjusted profit/loss before tax from
continuing operations. The adjusted profit/loss before tax from
continuing operations is measured consistently with the Group’s
profit/loss before tax from continuing operations except that interest
income and finance costs are excluded from the measurement.

Segment assets exclude deferred tax assets, tax recoverable,
pledged deposits, cash and cash equivalents, and other
unallocated head office and corporate assets as these assets are
managed on a group basis.

Segment liabilities exclude interest-bearing bank and other
borrowings, tax payable, deferred tax liabilities and other
unallocated head office and corporate liabilities as these liabilities
are managed on a group basis.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B E A B

31 December 2021 2021&E12831H

4. OPERATING SEGMENT
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Intersegment sales and transfers are transacted with reference to
the selling prices used for sales made to third parties at the then

4. EENHEH (B)

DEEHEREESRRBEERETHE
ME =S FRREEMRANEBETR

prevailing market prices. 5
Commercial
property Property Hotel Other
Year ended HE20215 development rental operations services Total
31 December 2021 12AB1ALEE [l B MEHE BEEE HitARHS Bt
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTFRT ARBTFT ARETT ARETR ARETR
Segment revenue DEBA
Sales to external customers HINBRRIHE 410,180 122,282 173,177 165,427 871,066
Intersegment sales DEEHE - 23,855 - 5,180 29,035
410,180 146,137 173,177 170,607 900,101
Reconciliation: i
Elimination of intersegment sales DI E B (29,035)
Revenue from operations REEITA 871,066
Segment results DEER 141,222 3,398 (71,084) (240,971) (167,435)
Reconciliation: -
Interest income FISWA 113,505
Finance costs HHER (223,094)
Loss before tax WA (277,024)
Segment assets DUHEE 6,498,012 5,305,729 2,006,166 818,383 14,628,290
Reconcilation: SBAD
Elimination of intersegment receivables D EBE PR RIE (1,168,314)
Corporate and other unallocated assets BRRAMKIEEE 2,044,864
Total assets BEE 15,504,840
Segment liabilities SEaf 2,765,220 106,448 1,134,504 1,374,375 5,380,547
Reconciliation: 1
Elimination of intersegment payables IR TIEE (1,168,313)
Corporate and other unallocated liabilities EBRAMKIEERE 5,559,011
Total liabilties EE) =X 9,771,245
Other segment information: HitnpHE#
Share of losses of a joint venture A ErEEE - - - (805) (805)
Impairment loss recognized in BarEDNAESR
the statement of profit or loss - - - 110,431 110,431
Depreciation and amortisation ER 3,820 1,344 69,667 87,444 162,275
Investment in a joint venture R—REEEtERE - - - 32,441 32,44
Capital expenditure BARY 45,872 112 20,985 51,972 118,941
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BB

31 December 2021 2021412831H

4. OPERATING SEGMENT . BEHEIEE (48)

INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Commercial
property Property Hotel Other
Year ended HZE2020F development rental operations services Total
31 December 2020 128315 IEEE EmRNERYE MERE BIEEE AR st
RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000
ARET T ARBTT AREFT ARETT ARETFT
Segment revenue DEBRA
Sales to external customers HIMBERHE 248,942 144,845 182,516 124,067 700,370
Intersegment sales DEEHE = 24,378 = 1,561 25,939
248,942 169,223 182,516 125,628 726,309
Reconciliation: EE
Elimination of intersegment sales DEEHE R (25,939)
Revenue from operations REEHWA 700,370
Segment results DEEE 48,538 370,912 (70,030) (118,182) 231,238
Reconcilation: BAT -
Interest income FIEMA 96,303
Finance costs HHER (219,197)
Profit before tax AR 108,844
Segment assets NMEE 5,554,621 5,437,862 2,301,507 1,633,252 14,827,242
Reconcilation: A
Elimination of intersegment receivables NI ERENIES (845,167)
Corporate and other unallocated assets BEREMADIEEE 1,193,781
Total assets mEE 15,175,856
Segment liabilities SiafE 929,762 50,443 774,721 1,548,601 3,312,527
Reconcilation: BH -
Elimination of intersegment payables D ERRE A RIEH (845,167)
Corporate and other unallocated liabilties BRRHMKRDEER 6,631,078
Total liabilities mes 9,098,438
Other segment information: Hit 3 EER
Depreciation and amortisation ER 6,112 2,884 70,488 62,653 142,137
Capital expenditure BAREY 3,096 948 10,402 47,860 62,306
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B E A B

31 December 2021 2021412831H

4. OPERATING SEGMENT
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Geographical information

(@) Revenue from external customers

REDEBER (4B)

& &

(@ ZRBEIIMNBERZHBA

2021 2020
20214 20204

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®FT AR¥FTT

Mainland China FREIR 836,569 666,418
Others Hih 34,497 33,952
871,066 700,370

The revenue information above is based on the locations of

the customers.

(b) Non-current assets

L mER SRR ERZUE.

(b) JERBEE

2021 2020

20214 20204

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®FT AREEFTT

Mainland China A B g it 9,048,833 9,321,900
Japan HZ 86,249 91,780
Others Hith 77,655 173,549
9,212,737 9,587,229

The non-current asset information above is based on the
locations of the assets and excludes equity investments
designated at fair value through other comprehensive income
and deferred tax assets.

Information about major customers

No sales to a single customer or a group of customers under

common control accounted for 10% or more of the Group's
revenue for the years ended 31 December 2021 and 2020.

China New City Commercial Development Limited
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BB

31 December 2021 2021412831H

et V357
5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND 5. UTA » ELfUT A R Uz
)
GAINS, NET, AND OTHER EXPENSES LA R EL{th A 52
An analysis of revenue is as follows: WA DT
2021 2020
20216 20204
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARFT AREFTT
Revenue from contracts with EFREHMA
customers 748,784 555,525
Revenue from other sources B FERA
Gross rental income from investment KEREYELEREZBRASWA
property operating leases 122,282 144,845
871,066 700,370
Revenue from contracts with customers EEAHIBA
() Disaggregated revenue information i DIFRBAER
For the year ended 31 December 2021 HZE2021F128310 LEE
Commercial
property Hotel Other
development operations services Total
[EES
Segments S MERE BERE HithiR @t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETR ARBTFT ARBTFT ARBFT
Types of goods or services & R IRFER
Sale of properties MEHE 410,180 - - 410,180
Hotel operation services BEEERE - 173,177 - 173,177
Other services HAM R - - 165,427 165,427
Total revenue from contracts BB AXRALBEE
with customers 410,180 173,177 165,427 748,784
Timing of W A B SR R
revenue recognition
At a point in time R 410,180 173,177 - 583,357
Qver time — B - - 165,427 165,427
Total revenue from contracts ~ BRAKIURALLEE
with customers 410,180 173,177 165,427 748,784
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B E A B

31 December 2021 2021412831H

5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND 5. UTA » Hfthllt A B Ug a1 %
GAINS, NET, AND OTHER EXPENSES U REMERZ (&)
(CONTINUED)

Revenue from contracts with customers ERAHBA (@)
(continued)
() Disaggregated revenue information (continued) i DIFBAER (&
For the year ended 31 December 2020 B E20205F 128310 EFEE
Commercial
property Hotel Other
development operations services Total
[HES
Segments D MERRE EERE HithR# “azt
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

ARETT ARETT ARETT ARBTT

Types of goods or services & @l iRFE4ER!

Sale of properties MEHE 248,942 - = 248,942
Hotel operation services BEEERY = 182,516 = 182,516
Other services HAARTS - - 124,067 124,067

Total revenue from contracts ~ BEAKIWALEEE

with customers 248,942 182,516 124,067 555,525
Timing of W A B SR R

revenue recognition
At a point in time R 248,942 182,516 - 431,458
Over time —RRESE - - 124,067 124,087

Total revenue from contracts ~ BEAKIALEEE

with customers 248,942 182,516 124,067 565,525
Revenue from the sale of properties recognised that RBRSHVBERLAGHEEREZ
was included in contract liabilities at the beginning of the MIZESH & WA = A R #205,232,000
reporting period is amounted to RMB205,232,000 (2020: (2020% : AR #351,821,0007T) ©

RMB351,821,000).
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BB

31 December 2021 2021412831H

5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND 5. WA ~ HAthly A B Uy i %
GAINS, NET, AND OTHER EXPENSES U R HithFZ (48)
(CONTINUED)

2021 2020
20214 20204
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
M ARETT ARBF T
Other income Huk A
Subsidy income* bR N 16,217 3,232
Interest income ) B WA 113,505 96,803
Others Hith 93,887 1,530
223,609 101,565
Gains &
Gains on disposal of subsidiaries & /& A& 2z W& 34 56,515 84,937
Changes in fair value of financial A AEETABRZ
assets at fair value through THEEZ AANBEES
profit or loss - 163
Gain on disposal of right-of-use HEFREEE 2 W
assets 25,823 -
Gain on disposal of items of HEMERRBEE 2 Wm
property and equipment 14,427 =
Dividend income from equity KERAARBESAEM
investments at fair value PHEBGZHRETEEN
through other comprehensive B2 SIS A
income 54,315 -
374,689 186,665
There are no unfulfilled conditions or contingencies relating to these grants. * Z SR AT A R R R S S A E o
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B E A B

31 December 2021 2021&E12831H

5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND 5. UTA » Hfthllt A B Ug a1 %
GAINS, NET, AND OTHER EXPENSES BWURHEMEZ (8)
(CONTINUED)

2021 2020
20214 20204
RMB’000 RMB’000

AREFT ARETT

Other expenses Hhpaz
Impairment of goodwill EERE (98,995) =
Impairment provision for property and EERZENRERB

equipment (11,436) -
Loss on disposal of investment properties HE & EY R E1E (3,977) (36,153)
Foreign exchange loss SNPERSIE (557) (1,465)
Donations EiEE (314) (3,250)
Compensation BE (30,955) =
Others HAth (5,592) (2,420)

(151,826) (43,288)
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

WA B E R Bk

31 December 2021 2021412831H

(LOSS)/PROFIT BEFORE TAX 6. BR#A0 (E518) FUiE
The Group’s (loss)/profit before tax is arrived at after charging/ KNEFKRA (B18) /FIE&M 7 (6t
(crediting): A) MHIRIE
2021 2020
2021% 20205
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
Vi3 AR¥FT AREF T
Cost of properties sold EHEYMERA 23 335,844 231,513
Depreciation of property and equipment ¥R L HITE 12 110,719 98,695
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEEINE 15 49,821 41,707
Amortisation of other intangible assets Hihim & E 17 1,735 1,735
Lease payments not included in the mEE AREe G2
measurement of lease liabilities BR® 15 20,585 24,065
Auditor’s remuneration Z M & 2,100 2,000
Staff costs including directors’ and BIAN BEEERTE
chief executive’s remuneration: THRABME) - 8
— Salaries and other staff costs —TEREMETHA 150,822 150,129
— Pension scheme contributions* —@W%ﬁ%f** 21,839 9,973
Foreign exchange differences, net RER FE 557 1,465
Direct operating expenses (including E?ﬁf%% MY (BEREY
repairs and maintenance arising on ¥ELENHERER
investment properties) 4,681 4,337
Equity-settled share option expense MR BRERS 32 11,388 10,373
Loss on disposal of investment properties & B2 > B518 3,977 36,153
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HEMB AR 2 W 34 (56,515) (84,937)
Gain on disposal of right-of-use assets HEFRAREEZ Wa 5 (25,823) =
Gain on disposal of items of property and HEY) 2 & HHEER 2 W&
equipment ) (14,427) =
Dividend income from equity investments 2R B3¢ A B E st A H
at fair value through other 2EWENRAREN
comprehensive income % EUA ) (54,315) -
Fair value losses/(gains), net: NABERBE W)
A
Changes upon transfer to investment BRI EYENET)
properties 13 - (356,8006)
Changes in fair value of investment KEMEANABENEE
properties 13 60,311 (23,030)
Changes in fair value of financial assets A RBEFAEBREZ
at fair value through profit or loss TMEEZANEE
=) 42 (163)
Impairment of goodwill** HERE" 98,995 =
Impairment provision for property MR EREREE
and equipment ** 12 11,436 -
* There are no forfeited contributions that may be used by the Group as the o BWERZ KRN ER A HEAEEEAEETA

employer to reduce the existing level of contributions.

*k

loss.

Included in “Other expenses” in the consolidated statement of profit or i

BB RAHERKT

ST SR

EPI%?WZFEF%%?"@E@/&

HRIEMFES ]

_7_
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B E A B

31 December 2021 2021412831H

7. FINANCE COSTS

An analysis of the Group’s finance costs is as follows:

MEBER

REBENMFERONWT !

2021 2020
20214 20204
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTT ARETT

Interest on bank and other borrowings RITREMERFE
Interest on lease liabilities HEAaGNE

Total interest expense on financial liabilities I IEZ A ABEFFABEZNEMEE

not at fair value through profit or loss MBSz 4EEE

Less: Interest capitalised in properties B REERYEREENFE

under development

8. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF
EXECUTIVE’S REMUNERATION

Directors’ and chief executive’s remuneration for the year, disclosed
pursuant to the Listing Rules, section 383(1)(a), (b), (c) and (f) of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of the Companies
(Disclosure of information about Benefits of Directors) Regulation, is

340,718 386,653

9,266 14,735
349,984 401,388
(126,890) (182,191)
223,094 219,197

EFRFETHAGME

R EHRA S BB REMRFI5E383(1)(@)
o) R MF LKA BESEMTE
) RBIB2E 2 RE > FREFEREET
BASBEIT :

as follows:

2021 2020
20214 20204
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR%FT AEBEFTT
Fees B 600 600

Other emoluments: EHhsrey -
Salaries, bonuses and allowances e TEALRORES 1,810 1,448
Pension scheme contributions BB EIHR 44 4
1,854 1,452
2,454 2,052

China New City Commercial Development Limited
164 2021 Annual Report




NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BB

31 December 2021 2021412831H

8. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF 8. EFEKMIETHASME
EXECUTIVE’S REMUNERATION (€))
(CONTINUED)
Certain directors were granted share options as disclosed in note ETESERBRE NMBRRMEI2
32 to the financial statements. The fair value of the options was FiiE ZEERENAABENRELH
determined as at the date of grant. In respect of their services to HET MEEHAEENRBMS 1K
the Group, the relevant accounting impact was accounted for in the MHEENGREMBRERP R LMEER
consolidated financial statements for the financial year and included B B E s R AER Bt &

in the above directors’ remuneration disclosures.

(a) Independent non-executive directors (@) WIIFEHITESE
The fees paid to independent non-executive directors during FRNENBIERITEZTZHEH
the year were as follows: FIAE -
2021 2020
20214 20204
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTT ARETT

Mr. Ng Sze Yuen, Terry C=Va g ivbavic = 200 200
Mr. Xu Chengfa BERETE 200 200
Mr. Yim Chun Leung iRt 200 200
600 600
There were no other emoluments payable to the independent FERTEEMEMBIENTES
non-executive directors during the year (2020: Nil). ZEBH (20204 : ) o
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B E A B

31 December 2021 2021&E12831H

8. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF
EXECUTIVE’S REMUNERATION
(CONTINUED)

8. EERFEBITHARME

(b) Executive directors, a non-executive

— —
(=]

(b) BITEF FATEERE

director and the chief executive EITHAR
Pension
Salaries and scheme
allowances Bonuses contrib‘utions Total
e : Y Lﬁwﬁ Y
HERiE B4 HENEEN #ast
RMB’OOO RMB'OOO RMB’OOO RMB'OOO
AREBFT AREBFTT ARETT ARETFR®
2021 20214
Executive directors: HiTEE .
Ms. Tang Yiyan ElaEe L - - - -
Mr. Liu Bo B R E 795 839
795 - 839
Non-executive diirectors: FEHITESE .
Mr. Shi Zhongan sk
Mr. Tang Min BElRscE = =
Chief executive and FEITHAS
executive director:  BHTEE:
Mr. Shi Nanlu iz e 1,015 - - 1,015
1,810 - 44 1,854
2020 202935
Executive directors: HiTEE .
Ms. Tang Yiyan ElaRkzt = - - -
Mr. Liu Bol B &0 636 - 4 640
Ms. Jin Ni¥ EEEceanl - - - -
636 - 4 640
Non-executive directors: FERTTESE .
Mr. Shi Zhongan il - - = =
Mr. Tang Min® BRI ED - - - =
Chief executive and FETHASR
executive director: HITEE
Mr. Shi Nanlu/ i R B ST 812 - - 812
Mr. Dong Shuixiao™ BERRAEEY - - - =
1,448 - 4 1,452

0 Mr. Liu Bo was appointed on 3 April 2020.

® Mr. Tang Min was appointed on 3 April 2020.
@ Mr. Shi Nanlu was appointed on 3 April 2020.
™ Mr. Dong Shuixiao resigned on 3 April 2020.
i Ms. Jin Ni resigned on 3 April 2020.

There was no arrangement under which a director waived or
agreed to waive any remuneration during the year (2020: Nil).
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BB

31 December 2021 2021412831H

9. FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES 9. AAEREHAL

The five highest paid employees during the year include one (2020: FALAESHEEBGE—H®RES

two) director. Details of directors’ remuneration are set out in note (2020 : @) cBEEZENEFBEHN L

8 above. Details of the remuneration of the four (2020: three) non- XHIEE8 o FE I (20204 1 =4) JEESE
director, highest paid employees for the year are as follows: EermESHBESHFBENT

2021 2020

20214 20204

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTR ARETT

Salaries, bonuses and allowances Fhe  TEAT Ko ERh 3,605 2,233
Pension scheme contributions BT EIHEZR 62 57

3,667 2,290
The number of non-director, highest paid employees whose HFMNFUTHNIEEERSFHES
remuneration fell within the following bands is as follows: ANBENT -

Number of employees

BEA#
2021 2020
20215 20204
Nil to HK$1,000,000 2% 1,000,000/ 7T - 2
Over HK$1,000,000 8381,000,00078 7T 4 1
4 3
No share options were granted to the non-director, highest paid TEBFEEReNEESRHERRE

employees.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B E A B

31 December 2021 2021&E12831H

10. INCOME TAX

The Group’s subsidiaries incorporated in Hong Kong and United
Kingdom were not liable for income tax as they did not have any
assessable profits currently arising in Hong Kong and United
Kingdom during the year (2020: Nil).

The provision for the PRC income tax has been provided at the
applicable income tax rate of 25% (2020: 25%) on the assessable
profits of the Group’s subsidiaries in Mainland China.

LAT is levied at progressive rates ranging from 30% to 60% on
the appreciation of land value, being the proceeds from the sale
of properties less deductible expenditures including land costs,
borrowing costs and other property development expenditures. The
Group has estimated, made and included in taxation a provision for
LAT according to the requirements set forth in the relevant PRC tax
laws and regulations. Prior to the actual cash settlement of the LAT
liabilities, the LAT liabilities are subject to the final review/approval by
the tax authorities.

10. FR1§

FEEREBRREFEMAILNNE LS
RERDENEB R HEEEEERENAE
SRR BUL B BB 1SR (20204 !

") o

FEIFFSIR BT A S B T E A M A S
NTHIFERIRF B 1%25% (20204 : 25%)
MBS R

TR ERZ T I E BN EYERE
TRIRR AT R ST ) (B st s ~ B RRR
AREMYEZE R H)) URERKI0%
E60% R - AEEDRETHERARE
BER E - FHRERBEANS AL
BERERE EURTEREFE I MIZE
MEBEZE > TR EREERBRREE
BRAER, ke

2021 2020
20214 20204
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
&t ARBEFT AREFT
Current — EERTRIE—
PRC corporate income tax for the year PEFREEMER 52,771 99,454
Current — BNEARR IR —
PRC LAT for the year AR R A P T B E R 11,195 24,150
Deferred IEIEFRIE 21 (38,175) (39,841)
Total tax charge for the year FRRIEFRAZ4EEE 25,791 83,763
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BB

31 December 2021 2021412831H

z ==
10. INCOME TAX (CONTINUED) 10. FR131R (48)

A recondiliation of the tax expense applicable to profit before tax RIBEARBIREAXLHNE R BMERE
using the statutory rate for the jurisdiction in which the Company HEIECRESTEBRRAA BERRE
and the majority of its subsidiaries are domiciled to the tax expense HZARBEERREAENRBRASZHIR

at the effective tax rate is as follows: nr
2021 2020
20214 20204
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTR ARETT

(Loss)/profit before tax BrfET (F518) FIE
Tax at the statutory tax rate of 25% $425% (20204F : 25%)
(2020: 25%) EEMEFENRIE

Effect of withholding tax at 10% on the A EE E B A B Bl R E)
distributable profits of the Group’s PRC #4110 % a0 1Y f2 £

subsidiaries
Income not subject to tax BIERRR A
Expenses not deductible for tax ENGIERE b
Tax losses utilised from previous periods 2R B 4caTHiE 2 ES R IEE B
Tax losses not recognised REERIRIERIE
Provision for LAT TR EIR B
Tax effect on LAT THIEERNR BT E

Tax charge at the Group’s effective rate IR AEEBRREFAENRIER

Tax payable in the consolidated statement 4R & B FE AR R AR B TRIESS :

of financial position represents:

PRC corporate income tax FRED 1R 2EPRISHR
PRC LAT AR+ IR ER

(277,024) 108,844
(69,256) 27,211
128 9,807
(22,042) (23,921)
707 8,181
(5,701) (11,047)
113,559 55,420
11,195 24,150
(2,799) (6,038)
25,791 83,763
151,932 170,655
278,872 378,427
430,804 549,082
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B E A B

31 December 2021 2021412831H

11. (LOSS)/EARNINGS PER SHARE
ATTRIBUTABLE TO ORDINARY
EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE PARENT

The calculation of basic loss per share is based on the loss for
the year attributable to ordinary equity holders of the parent of
RMB295,136,000 (profit for 2020: RMB44,429,000) and the
weighted average number of ordinary shares of 2,010,768,000
(2020: 2,011,100,932) in issue of shares during the year, as
adjusted to reflect the rights issued during the year.

The calculation of basic earnings per share is based on:

SREAEEEZRESATDEERER
A ABEFEANEEARK295,136,0007T
(20204 F)8 : AR #44,429,0007T) » L
REABEBITIRN I ERPMNEFIE
2,010,768,0008% (20204 : 2,011,100,932
i) st 8 EFRBURMERMER-

SREXEVRETIZEFE

2021 2020
20214 20204
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®BTT AREFT
(Loss)/earnings (&518) "&#|
(Loss)/profit attributable to ordinary equity &A B @R HIT A AELL
holders of the parent sk BB BF (295,136) 44,429
Number of shares
KiHEE
2021 2020
20215 20204
Shares [ii440)
Weighted average number of ordinary FREETZER ZINETHOH
shares in issue during the year 2,010,768,000 2,011,100,932

The Group had no potentially dilutive ordinary shares in issue during
the years ended 31 December 2021 and 2020.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BB

31 December 2021 2021412831H

12. PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT 12. ER =

Hotel Office Motor  Leasehold Construction
Buildings  properties  equipment vehicles improvements in progress Total
HEME
1B8¥ BEME MARE RE MR HEIR Bt

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETRT ARETR ARETR ARBTR ARETRT ARBTR ARETR

At 1 January 2020, ®202041618H

net of accumulated depreciation MBREHTE 167,508 2,061,854 77,793 8,614 142,909 (8470) 2,450,208
Additions HE - 4,450 28,114 16,252 1,000 12,490 62,306
Transfer from properties under B Ep Yy

development - - - - - 48,088 48,088
Transfer from completed held for sale &3 B B TIFEIHEYE 44,110 - - - - - 44,110
Construction in progress completed ~ ERERTR - - 100 - 1,816 (1,916) -
Disposals HE - - (21,572) (695) - - (22,267)
Disposal of a subsidiary (note 34) HE—EHEAR (fiz34) - - (68) (100) - = (168)
Depreciation provided during the year EREHEHE [7.318) (61,276) (13,617) (3,076) (13,408) - (08,695)
At 31 December 2020, 12020128318 >

net of accumulated depreciation NBRREHTERAEE

and impairment 204,300 2,005,028 70,750 20,995 132,317 50,192 2,483,582
At 31 December 2020: 12020128311 :
Cost A 237,052 2,231,104 105,041 43,248 172,136 50,192 2,838,773
Accumulated depreciation itE (32752 (226,076) (34,201) (22,253) (39,819) - (355,191)
Net carrying amount REFE 204,300 2,005,028 70,750 20,995 132,317 50,192 2,483,682
At 1 January 2021, Roo1E1B18

net of accumulated depreciation MBRREHAE 204,300 2,005,028 70,750 20,995 132,317 50,192 2,483,582
Additions HE 230 2,856 17,747 5,934 75,814 16,360 118,941
Disposals HE (9,355) - (436) (1,780) - (247) (11,818)
Disposal of subsidiaries (note 34) HERB AT (HzE34) - - (24,608) (1,375) (40,013) (475) (66,471)
Depreciation provided during the year ER5HE I E (7,170) (60,144) (11,881) (3,436) (28,088) - (110,719)
Impairment AE - - (766) - (10,670) - (11,436)
At 31 December 2021, 2021128318

net of accumulated depreciation MNBRRHTERAEE

and impairment 188,005 1,947,740 50,806 20,338 129,360 65830 2,402,079
At 31 December 2021: R2021E128311 :
Cost (D% 222,841 2,233,960 84,961 44,564 199,221 65,830 2,851,377
Accumulated depreciation and RetinERAE

impairment (34,836) (286,220) (34,155) (24,226) (69,861) - (449,298)
Net carrying amount RESE 188,005 1,947,740 50,806 20,338 129,360 65,830 2,402,079
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B E A B

31 December 2021 2021&E12831H

12. PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT

(CONTINUED)

Although the Group had obtained the land use rights certificates of
construction in progress, building ownership certificates may be not
obtained before the completion of construction work.

At 31 December 2021, certain items of the Group’s property
and equipment with a net carrying amount of approximately
RMB1,142,363,000 (2020: RMB1,236,965,000) were pledged to
secure interest-bearing bank and other borrowings granted to the
Group as disclosed in note 30.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, impairments of
RMB11,436,000 was provided in respect of the leasehold
improvements and office equipment with carrying value in
aggregate amounted to RMB10,670,000 and RMB766,000,
respectively. The impairment was provided for these assets when
there are indicators of impairment such as the pre-education
center close down schedule implemented by the Group, leasehold
improvements unremovable and obsolete office equipment had
been fully impaired. By taking into account the fact that these
assets would not be economically viable for their remaining life and
there was no identified alternative utilisation, the directors of the
Group assessed the recoverable amount of these assets were nil
and made full provision on their carrying value.
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13. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BB

31 December 2021 2021412831H

13. IR EWE

Investment
Completed properties
investment held for
properties sale Total
BT FHEHE
REME REME st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARETT ARBTR
At 31 December 2019 and 12019128315 %20205181H
1 January 2020 5,358,640 316,960 5,675,600
Transfers from completed properties EREBUTHEHENE
held for sale 143,194 - 143,194
Fair value gain upon transfer BREBAREENS 356,806 - 356,806
Increase in investment properties REWEEM 71,883 = 71,883
Transfer to investment properties BRTHFHERENE
held for sale (689,977) 589,977 -
Disposal HE - (855,913) (855,913)
Changes in fair value of investment RENEN AN EEES)
properties 19,299 3,731 23,030
At 31 December 2020 and 120205128318 K20215E181H
1 January 2021 5,359,845 54,755 5,414,600
Increase in investment properties BEYEEM 8,728 - 8,728
Transfer to investment properties BREREHEREYE
held for sale (59,660) 59,660 -
Disposal e - (72,517) (72,517)
Changes in fair value of investment BREMENAABEED
properties (62,959) 2,648 (60,311)
At 31 December 2021 320214128318 5,245,954 44,546 5,200,500
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B E A B

31 December 2021 2021&E12831H

13. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES
(CONTINUED)

13. IR BY%E (B)

2021 2020

20215 20204

Note RMB’000 RMB’000

W&t ARBTT ARBT T

Non-current assets EREBE 5,245,954 5,359,845
Current assets BB E (€ 44,546 54,755
5,290,500 5,414,600

(@ Al investment properties of the Group were revalued at the @ XEEBZILEMERFLHBEIL

end of the year by an independent professionally qualified
valuer, CBRE Limited, at fair value. CBRE Limited is an
industry specialist in investment property valuation. The fair
value represents the amount at which the assets could be
exchanged between a knowledgeable and willing buyer and
a seller in an arm’s length transaction at the date of valuation,
in accordance with International Valuation Standards.

The following table gives information about how the fair
values of these investment properties are determined (in
particular, the valuation techniques and inputs used), as
well as the fair value hierarchy into which the fair value
measurements are categorised (Levels 1 to 3) based on the
degree to which the inputs to the fair value measurements are
observable.

Investment properties held by the Group in the consolidated
statement of financial position were valued into fair value
hierarchy level 3 as shown below. During the year, there were
no transfers of fair value measurements between Level 1 and
Level 2 and no transfers into or out of Level 3 (2020: Nil).
The valuation techniques adopted are the direct comparison
approach and the income approach (term and reversion
approach), and key inputs are:

(1) Term yield: the higher the term yield, the lower the fair
value;

(2)  Reversionary yield: the higher the reversionary yield, the
lower the fair value;

(8)  Market unit rent: the higher the market unit rent, the
higher the fair value; and

(4)  Price per square metre: the higher the price, the higher
the fair value.

China New City Commercial Development Limited
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
WA B E R Bk

31 December 2021 2021412831H

13. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 13. I EWE (&)
(CONTINUED)
(@)  (continued) (@) €)
The significant unobservable inputs BARTHZH AYE

Investment properties held
by the Group
SEEMEEREYE

Property 1 -
Property in Hangzhou
(Guomao Building)
1SRME — N
(Gl=PNE)

Significant unobservable inputs

EXTARRBARE

Term yield, taking into account yield of 4% for office portion and 5.5% for retail portion,
generated from comparable properties and adjustment to reflect the certainty of term
income secured and to be received.

5T R EI 4RV 2 A A AR i e 7 R BR B ) B BAS e B W B 2 AR BRI AT AR H =2
> WAEBID IR BRU G R A 4% K B E B A 45.5% °

Reversionary yield of 5.5% for office portion and 6% for retail portion, taking into
account annual unit market rental income and unit market value of the comparable
properties.

BetRBADSEERTWAKBEEYENSUTE BAMOERKEERS
5.5% /K ZE B 7 736% °

Market unit rent of RMB1.7/sgm/day for office portion and RMB4.9/sgm/day for retail
portion, using direct market comparables and taking into account location and other
individual factors such as road frontage, size of property and facilities.
BREETISLLRAG AL L5t R B R EEER M E RN RS EMER R
F MBBEMNEEAEEFRKERAREL7T RREHN) REFEHFRKERARE
4.97¢0 (FEEREA) °

Price of RMB9,461/sgm for office portion and RMB15,807/sgm for retail portion, using
market direct comparables and taking into account location and other individual factors
such as road frontage and size of property.
FREREMIBLEAT st MU ERBEHEREMEXNNEREMENRER  BEAS
FARAREE 46178 HAEM) kBT HRARE15,8077T (FEEHERD)

PR LR EERAR
—E-_FER

i

175



176

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B E A B

31 December 2021 2021&E12831H

13. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 13. IR EME (B)
(CONTINUED)
(@  (continued) (@) €]
The significant unobservable inputs BEAAFEZHARE @

(continued)

Investment properties held
by the Group
FEEMGEREYE

Property 2 —
Property in Shanghai
(La Vie)

2R E— LB
G 4LET)

Significant unobservable inputs

EXTARRBARE

Term yield, taking into account yield of 5%, generated from comparable properties and
adjustment to reflect the certainty of term income secured and to be received.

KT R 4RV 2 A A Wi e 7 ] BR B U] B BRAS e BN W B 2 AR BRI AT /R H =~
FHEE S BRI A5% ©

Reversionary yield of 5.5%, taking into account annual unit market rental income and
unit market value of the comparable properties.
Rt RBUTHFERSRARBEYENEMHE BEHEREER5.5%

Market unit rent of RMB7.8/sgm/day, using direct market comparables and taking into
account location and other individual factors such as road frontage, size of property
and facilities.

BREEMISLR A A A1 B K Ba B B )2 K/ e 55 1 <5 E At 8 51
H MBHEUHEERETARKERARIET.8T

Price of RMB50,464/sgm, using market direct comparables and taking into account
location and other individual factors such as road frontage and size of property.
FREEMIGLEEAT st R ERBEHEREMEXNNEREMENRER  BRAS
FHARAREES0,4647T ©
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
WA B E R Bk

31 December 2021 2021412831H

13. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 13. IR EYE (B
(CONTINUED)
(@)  (continued) (@) €)
The significant unobservable inputs BEARTERHAZRE @
(continued)

Investment properties held

by the Group Significant unobservable inputs

TEEFRFEREME ERFAEREBARE

Property 3 - Term yield, taking into account yield of 5.5%, generated from comparable properties
Property in Hangzhou and adjustment to reflect the certainty of term income secured and to be received.
(Integrated Service Center) et R A 2 B O e e 2 I PRFE V) B BAS Ke B B 2 TR BRI A TR 2
ik Y/E Sl nPANEY/ES FHEE > THEAU T 2R %35.5% ©

(R &R )

Reversionary yield of 6%, taking into account annual unit market rental income and unit
market value of the comparable properties.
Rt RBUTSEFERSRARBEYENEMTE BEEREER6%

Market unit rent of RMB3.7/sgm/day, using direct market comparables and taking into
account location and other individual factors such as road frontage, size of property
and facilities.

BREEMIBLR A A A 1 B K Ba 8 B 1) 2 K/ e 58 B <5 E At 8 51 X
H mHEUHEEREBTARKERAREI 7T

Price of RMB13,562/sgm, using market direct comparables and taking into account
location and other individual factors such as road frontage and size of property.
FREEMIGLEET s MU ERBEHEREMEXNNEREMENRER  BREAS
FHRARAREES5627T
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B E A B

31 December 2021 2021&E12831H

13. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 13. IR EME (B)
(CONTINUED)
(@  (continued) (@) €]
The significant unobservable inputs BEAAFEZHARE @

(continued)

Investment properties held
by the Group
FEEMGEREYE

Property 4 —

Property in Hangzhou

(Retail portion of Highlong Plaza)
ATEME — NP2
(1BMEESmEmEHED)

Significant unobservable inputs

EXTARRBARE

Term yield, taking into account yield of 5.5%, generated from comparable properties
and adjustment to reflect the certainty of term income secured and to be received.
KT R 4RV 2 A A Wi e 7 ] BR B U] B BRAS e BN W B 2 AR BRI AT /R H =~
FHEE > THEA T Z %35.5% ©

Reversionary yield of 6%, taking into account annual unit market rental income and unit

market value of the comparable properties.
Rt RBUTHEFERSRARBEYENEMHE ERREER6%

Market unit rent of RMB6.4/sgm/day, using direct market comparables and taking into
account location and other individual factors such as road frontage, size of property
and facilities.

BREEMISLR A A A1 B K Ba B B )2 K/ e 55 1 <5 E At 8 51
H MBHEUHEERAEBTARKERARIE6.4TT

Price of RMB21,645/sgm, using market direct comparables and taking into account
location and other individual factors such as road frontage and size of property.
FREEMIGLEEAT s R ERBEHEREMEXNNEREMENRER  BRAS
FARARAREE21,6457T

China New City Commercial Development Limited
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
WA B E R Bk

31 December 2021 2021412831H

13. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 13. IR EYE (B
(CONTINUED)
(@)  (continued) (@) €)
The significant unobservable inputs BEARTERHAZRE @
(continued)

Investment properties held

by the Group Significant unobservable inputs

TEEFRFEREME ERFAEREBARE

Property 5 - Term yield, taking into account yield of 5.75%, generated from comparable properties
Property in Hangzhou and adjustment to reflect the certainty of term income secured and to be received.
(Landscape Garden) Kt R EIEY)EEE NG KA R Y) EES & EIE W E 2 R A MEH 2
SEEMIE —HUINp 2 FHEE > TRRAU T 2R %35.75% ©

(LL7k3t)

Reversionary yield of 6.25%, taking into account annual unit market rental income and
unit market value of the comparable properties.
Rt RBUTHFERERARBEYENBEATE EHENEER6.25% -

Market unit rent of RMB2.3/sgm/day, using direct market comparables and taking into
account location and other individual factors such as road frontage, size of property
and facilities.

BREEMIBLR A A A 1 B K Ba 8 B 1) 2 K/ e 58 B <5 E At 8 51 X
H mHEUHEERETARKERARE23TT

Price of RMB9,429/sgm, using market direct comparables and taking into account
location and other individual factors such as road frontage and size of property.
FREEMIGLEET s MU ERBEHEREMEXNNEREMENRER  BREAS
TFHRAREE 4297t ©
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B E A B

31 December 2021 2021&E12831H

13. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 13. IR EME (B)
(CONTINUED)
(@  (continued) (@) €]
The significant unobservable inputs BEAAFEZHARE @

(continued)

Investment properties held
by the Group
FEEMGEREYE

Property 6 —

Property in Hangzhou
(Hidden Dragon Bay)
B = —HUINP

Significant unobservable inputs

EXTARRBARE

Term yield, taking into account yield of 5%, generated from comparable properties and
adjustment to reflect the certainty of term income secured and to be received.

KT R 4RV 2 A A Wi e 7 ] BR B U] B BRAS e BN W B 2 AR BRI AT /R H =~
FHEE > THEAUM T R 235% ©

Reversionary yield of 6%, taking into account annual unit market rental income and unit

market value of the comparable properties.
Rt RBUTHEFERSRARBEYENEMHE ERREER6%

Market unit rent of RMB4.4/sgm/day, using direct market comparables and taking into
account location and other individual factors such as road frontage, size of property
and facilities.

BREEMISLR A A A1 B K Ba B B )2 K/ e 55 1 <5 E At 8 51
H mHEUHEERAEBTARERARBI4TT

Price of RMB13,282/sgm, using market direct comparables and taking into account
location and other individual factors such as road frontage and size of property.
FREEMIGLEEAT s R ERBEHEREMEXNNEREMENRER  BRAS
FARARAREES,2827T
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
WA B E R Bk

31 December 2021 2021412831H

13. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 13. IR EYE (B
(CONTINUED)
(@)  (continued) (@) €)
The significant unobservable inputs BEARTERHAZRE @
(continued)

Investment properties held

by the Group Significant unobservable inputs

TEEFRFEREME ERFAEREBARE

Property 7 — Term yield, taking into account yield of 5.75%, generated from comparable properties
Property in Yuyao and adjustment to reflect the certainty of term income secured and to be received.
(Intime City) 5T R [E AR 2E E A RO R i e 73 IR BRFE ) B ERAS K BN A U B 2 FE ERUR AT /E L 2
TR — BRIk 3R FHEE > TRRAU T 2R %35.75% ©

(GRZ=M)

Reversionary yield of 6.25%, taking into account annual unit market rental income and
unit market value of the comparable properties.
Rt RBUTHFERERARBEYENBEATE EHENEER6.25% -

Market unit rent of RMB4.2/sgm/day, using direct market comparables and taking into
account location and other individual factors such as road frontage, size of property
and facilities.

BREEMIBLR A A A 1 B K Ba 8 B 1) 2 K/ e 58 B <5 E At 8 51 X
H mHEUHEERAETARKERARBI2TT

Price of RMB11,461/sgm, using market direct comparables and taking into account
location and other individual factors such as road frontage and size of property.
FREEMIGLEET s MU ERBEHEREMEXNNEREMENRER  BREAS
FHRARANREEN, 461700
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B E A B

31 December 2021 2021&E12831H

13. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 13. IR EME (B)
(CONTINUED)
(@  (continued) (@) €]
The significant unobservable inputs BEAAFEZHARE @

(continued)

Investment properties held
by the Group
FEEMGEREYE

Property 8 —

Property in Yuyao

(Retail portion of Time Square |)
8 —ER Pk =
(BFHES—REEI o)

Significant unobservable inputs

EXTARRBARE

Term yield, taking into account yield of 5.75%, generated from comparable properties
and adjustment to reflect the certainty of term income secured and to be received.
KT R 4RV 2 A A Wi e 7 ] BR B U] B BRAS e BN W B 2 AR BRI AT /R H =~
FHEE > TRRAU T 2R 235.75% ©

Reversionary yield of 6.25%, taking into account annual unit market rental income and
unit market value of the comparable properties.
Rt RBUTHFEERSWRARBEYENEMTE EHENEER6.25% -

Market unit rent of RMB3.0/sgm/day, using direct market comparables and taking into
account location and other individual factors such as road frontage, size of property
and facilities.

BREEMISLR A A A1 B K Ba B B )2 K/ e 55 1 <5 E At 8 51
H mBEUHEERETARKERARIES0T

Price of RMB11,389/sgm, using market direct comparables and taking into account
location and other individual factors such as road frontage and size of property.
FREEMIGLEEAT st R ERBEHEREMEXNNEREMENRER  BRAS
FHEAKANRET11,3897T
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13. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES
(CONTINUED)

(@  (continued)

The significant unobservable inputs

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
WA B E R Bk

31 December 2021 2021412831H

REME (@)

(a) ()
EXRFAHRBARE (8

(continued)
Reconciliation of fair value measurements categorised within Level DEABE=—HMARNBESRZ ARNEEST
3 of the fair value hierarchy: EZHER:

Commercial
properties
ik YES
RMB’000
ARBFT

Carrying amount at 1 January 2020 R2020E1B1B Z EEE A 2,920,300
Net gain from a fair value adjustment recognised in RELEYEN D BRESERID

changes in fair value of investment properties AR BEEE L EE (20,000)
Carrying amount at 31 December 2020 and R2020%F 128318 &

[ 202141818 2 IREE 2,900,300
Net loss from a fair value adjustment recognised in ;3/\;;5\%% NREEEERES Y

changes in fair value of investment properties AR BEEES EIBTE (20,900)
Carrying amount at 31 December 2021 HRo021E12831 A 2 BREE

Under the discounted cash flow method, fair value is estimated
using assumptions regarding the benefits and liabilities of
ownership over the asset’s life including an exit or terminal value.
This method involves the projection of a series of cash flows on a
property interest. A market-derived discount rate is applied to the
projected cash flow in order to establish the present value of the
income stream associated with the asset. The exit yield is normally
separately determined and differs from the discount rate.

The duration of the cash flows and the specific timing of inflows
and outflows are determined by events such as rent reviews, lease
renewal and related reletting, redevelopment or refurbishment.
The appropriate duration is driven by market behaviour that is
a characteristic of the class of property. The periodic cash flow
is estimated as gross income less vacancy, non-recoverable
expenses, collection losses, lease incentives, maintenance costs,
agent and commission costs and other operating and management
expenses. The series of periodic net operating income, along with
an estimate of the terminal value anticipated at the end of the
projection period, is then discounted.

2,879,400
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EEFRANAE RN DR BENRKG
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B E A B

31 December 2021 2021&E12831H

13. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

(CONTINUED)

(@  (continued)

A significant increase (decrease) in the estimated rental value and
the market rent growth rate per annum in isolation would result in
a significant increase (decrease) in the fair value of the investment
properties.

A significant increase (decrease) in the long term vacancy rate and
the discount rate in isolation would result in a significant decrease
(increase) in the fair value of the investment properties. Generally,
a change in the assumption made for the estimated rental value is
accompanied by a directionally similar change in the rent growth
per annum and the discount rate and an opposite change in the
long term vacancy rate.

There are six properties — the International Office Center, the Office
portion of Highlong Plaza, the Serviced apartment portion of
Highlong Plaza and the Retail and Serviced apartment portion of
Xixi New City, four properties in Hangzhou, and the Retail portion
and Office portion of Time Square I, a property in Yuyao are valued
and categorised into Level 2 fair value hierarchy. The valuation
technique adopted is the direct comparison approach, and the key
input is price per square metre. The higher the price, the higher the
fair value.

The significant observable input for the International Office
Center is the price of RMB36,500/sgm, using market direct
comparables and taking into account location and other individual
factors such as road frontage and size of property. As at 31
December 2021, the investment property part of the International
Office Center was valued and categorised into Level 2 fair value
hierarchy with a carrying amount of RMB1,693,000,000 (2020:
RMB1,767,000,000).

China New City Commercial Development Limited
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13. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

(CONTINUED)

(@  (continued)

The significant observable input for the Office portion of Highlong
Plaza is the price of RMB12,000/sgm, using market direct
comparables and taking into account location and other individual
factors such as road frontage and size of property. As at 31
December 2021, the investment property part of the Office portion
of Highlong Plaza was valued and categorised into Level 2 fair
value hierarchy with a carrying amount of RMB34,700,000 (2020:
RMB38,000,000).

The significant observable input for the Serviced apartment portion
of Highlong Plaza is the price of RMB14,300/sgm, using market
direct comparables and taking into account location and other
individual factors such as road frontage and size of property.
As at 31 December 2021, the investment property part of the
Serviced apartment portion of Highlong Plaza was valued and
categorised into Level 2 fair value hierarchy with a carrying amount
of RMB14,000,000 (2020: RMB14,000,000).

The significant observable input for the investment property part
of the Retail portion of Xixi New City is the price of RMB47,100/
sgm, using market direct comparables and taking into account
location and other individual factors such as road frontage
and size of property. As at 31 December 2021, the investment
property part of the Retail portion of Xixi New City was valued and
categorised into Level 2 fair value hierarchy with a carrying amount

of RMB19,400,000 (2020: RMB28,300,000).

13

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
WA B E R Bk

31 December 2021 2021412831H

REME (@)

(@) €=
EEESHATMNERTRRH A
BAEBTHKAR12,000cHEE %
CHEFTHEERMBLERELS RUE
U BRHE R~ M E RN FEEME R R E
EEE - R2021F12831H  [EEEZ A
RN EYEIDEETHEL DLE
AARBEEHRFMp EEEAARE
34,700,0007% (20204 : AR 38,000,000
7T) ©

ERESREXNABTHMNEARTEE
EABIRAS T L KARE14,300THE
B ZEHEFERERTHRBLEBIAT &
B UK ERET B B~ M2 K/ NEEH 1@ R
REETR2021F128318 18R EH
RPN ABE DN EY =0 BT
BUDEAANBESERE2R KREE
# AR #14,000,0007T (20204 : AR
14,000,0007T) ©

FEMBMEESCHNRENES DN
BARUBRHARBELASFEARKARE
47,200t B ZEREFEREETS
EEBGEN st R I B U R ERATE R - WK
INEHMERFEKREE - R20215128
31H FEM T T E 20 VIR E Y EI
PEETHELDEAAAEBESRR2
4 BREE A AR 119,400,000t (2020
£ 1 AR #%28,300,0007T) °

EPI%?E’FEF%%%"EE@/&T 185

_7_



186
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31 December 2021 2021&E12831H

13. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES
(CONTINUED)

(@  (continued)

The significant observable input for the Retail portion of Time
Square Il is the price of RMB4,900/sgm and that for the Office
portion of Time Square Il is the price of RMB5,400/sgm, using
market direct comparables and taking into account location
and other individual factors such as road frontage and size of
property. As at 31 December 2021, the investment property part
of the Retail and Office portion of Time Square Il was valued and
categorised into Level 2 fair value hierarchy with a carrying amount

of RMB33,000,000 (2020: RMB50,000,000).

The significant observable input for the investment property part
of the serviced apartment portion of Xixi New City was the price of
RMB37,000/sgm, using market direct comparables and taking into
account location and other individual factors such as road frontage
and size of property. As at 31 December 2021, the investment
property part of the Serviced apartment portion of Xixi New City
was valued and categorised into Level 2 fair value hierarchy with a

carrying amount of RMB617,000,000 (2020:RMB617,000,000).

China New City Commercial Development Limited
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13. IR BY%E (B)

(@) #&)

RRES _HZEMHNEBRITREHA
HIEAEFHKARE4L000THER
MR ES AN AP E RO
R|ABBRETEHAKARES,4007TH
B ZEHEEREZETIBLE AT
R i1 B DA B 38 B8 ~ W) 2 K/ N E H A E
AERBE - 1R2021F12831H ) EHEF
REZ NS ERINASE R EYE
BoETHELDBEARABESRE?
4 BRTE{E A& AR 133,000,000t (2020
£ AR#50,000,0007T) °

BAEMBTHREAABREEHINS
NEATBERHARBEAESFTHAARAR
#37,000c BN ZEHEFEREET
BEEBCET 5t R (L B U K BR T i B 2
ANEEMERRREE  1£2021F128
31H > BEHEEZNBHNRFENABTHNE
BEYERHETHELDEAAAEE
Lok BREEA ARE617,000,0007T
(2020%F : AR #617,000,0007T) °



13. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

(CONTINUED)

(@  (continued)

Fair value hierarchy

13.

The following table illustrates the fair value measurement hierarchy

of the Group’s investment properties:

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BB

31 December 2021 2021412831H

REME (@)

(@) €=
NREBESZFR

TRAPLEEREYEZ ARNBEFE

I

Fair value measurement as at
31 December 2021 using

K2021F12B31 HERU TRENAABEHE

Quoted Significant Significant
prices in observable  unobservable
Recurring fair value UTRBEZEEMAREE  active markets inputs inputs
measurement for: HE: (Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
EIRTIS BEATHRE EAFAHR
HIRE BABE BARE
(B4R 5 (24 71) (3% A1) &zt
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARETT AR®FT NG S
Commercial properties [EgizkYES - 2,411,100 2,879,400 5,290,500

Recurring fair value
measurement for:

UTRBEZERELARER

i

Fair value measurement as at
31 December 2020 using

RR2020F 12831 HERU TRBN AN BEH2

Quoted

prices in
active markets
(Level 1)
BT IS
HRE
(B3
RMB’000
ARETT

Significant Significant

observable unobservable

inputs inputs
(Level 2) (Level 3) Total

EXOUBE EXAFUEFR
BARE BAHR
(2R 5)) (B3R5 Hast
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTT ARBTT  AREBTR

Commercial properties

ERERYES

2,614,300 2,900,300 5,414,600

RE AL RRERAD
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31 December 2021 2021&E12831H

13. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES
(CONTINUED)

Fair value hierarchy (continued)

()

13. IR BY%E (B)

AREEFR (@)

The Group’s investment properties situated on the leasehold b)) AEENREYE (IRFPEAHD
land in Mainland China are all leased for 30 to 50 years. FAE i) FHEA N FHB0E504 ©
Investment properties leased out under operating leases © REKLESHECHEINREYZE
The Group leases out investment properties under operating AEBRRBERKEHEZHHEEHKE
lease arrangements. All leases run for a period of one to ME-MEHER—Z=2+EHEF I
fifteen years, with an option to renew the leases after the EERIAHBRTEENER 25
expiry dates, at which time all terms will be renegotiated. B TEITHE - AEEREAA
The Group’s total future minimum lease receivables under BUHRREHERRE=PMENE
non-cancellable operating leases arising from investment BREAERWIBAEZENT
properties are as follows:
2021 2020
20215 20204
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARBEF T
Within one year —FR 49,561 68,417
In the second to fifth years, inclusive £ _ZE %L E (BIEEHEMSE) 98,411 140,728
After five years AEUE 17,585 33,942
165,557 243,087
At 31 December 2021, certain of the Group’s investment d F2021FE12831H  BEM 30
properties with a carrying amount of RMB2,681,570,000 FiiEE ~EBEREBEAARE
(2020: RMB3,185,130,000) were pledged to secure interest- 2,681,570,0007T (20204 : AR
bearing bank and other borrowings granted to the Group as 3,185,130,0007T) WETKREWEE
disclosed in note 30. EREEERS BRITER R EHAM
BV
As at 31 December 2021, the Group entered into certain € F2021F12H31H  "EBEFTILE

sales agreements to sell certain investment properties with a
carrying amount of RMB44,546,000 (2020: RMB54,755,000).
Besides, the Group also received deposits of approximately
RMB37,710,000 (2020: RMB35,338,000), and the amount
received was recognised as contract liabilities as at 31
December 2021.
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FTHERZULERABEAAR
#644,546,0007C (20204 : AR
54,755,0007t) B FTIREME -
o REBFBRERESHAR
#37,710,0007T (2020%F : AR
35,338,0007T) © 2021412831
B> BWEREEERILEGNEE.



14. PROPERTIES UNDER

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BB

31 December 2021 2021412831H

14. FE Y%

DEVELOPMENT

2021 2020
20214 20204
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
izt AR%FT ARETTT
Carrying amount at 1 January R1B1HEREE 2,109,148 1,432,835
Additions wNE 945,656 738,469
Transfer to construction in progress BERETRTRE 12 - (48,088)

Transfer to completed properties held BERERFHEBB TYE
for sale 23 (167,779) (14,068)
Carrying amount at 31 December R12831HEREE 2,887,025 2,109,148
Current assets TMENEE 1,821,537 1,153,750
Non-current assets ERIEE 1,065,488 955,398
2,887,025 2,109,148

Except for one property located in Japan, the Group’s properties
under development are located in Mainland China.

BR—EMEMUR BRI RERFEDY
FEUR R A

2021 2020
20214 20204

Japan B RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®FT AEBEFTT

Freehold KA ZERE 76,274 80,037

The carrying amounts of the properties under development situated
on the leasehold land in Mainland China are as follows:

FE YR (I RERMBIAE T #) B
IREEWNT :

2021 2020

20214 20204

Mainland China o [ g 3t RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥FT AR¥F T

Lease terms between 30 and 50 years FHHA30E =505 2,810,751 2,029,111

At 31 December 2021, certain of the Group’s properties under
development with a carrying amount of RMB485,411,000 (2020:
RMB485,411,000) were pledged to secure interest-bearing bank
and other borrowings granted to the Group as disclosed in note 30.

R2021F128318  "EBEE THEFY
(REES ARK485,411,0007T (2020
£ 1 AR #8485,411,0007T) » U} 5E30FF 1K
B EBEABRTAERSERITERRE
S TRV IE I ©
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B E A B

31 December 2021 2021412831H

15. LEASES
The Group as a lessee
The Group has lease contracts for buildings used in its operations.
Leases of buildings generally have lease terms between 5 and
20 vyears. Generally, the Group is restricted from assigning and
subleasing the leased assets outside the Group.

(a) Right-of-use assets

The carrying amounts of the Group’s right-of-use assets and
the movements during the year are as follows:

15.f0 8
SEBEEAEBEA
rEEBBERANEESEGT 2 EFTHES
NeotHERFZHEHR RN F5E20F
—Rms > AEBRFNSEHELDERABR
KEBZHEEEE-
(@) FHEEE

FEBRRFANZEREEEREE

BB
2021 2020
20214 20204
RMB’000 RMB’'000

AREFT ARKET T

As at 1 January ®181H8
Additions RE
Depreciation charge mEZH
Disposals HE

As at 31 December 128318

China New City Commercial Development Limited
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318,126 316,788
73,687 43,045
(49,821) (41,707)
(201,142) =
140,850 318,126




15. LEASES (CONTINUED)

The Group as a lessee (continued)

(b)

Lease liabilities

The carrying amount of lease liabilities and the movements

during the year are as follows:

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
WA B E R Bk

31 December 2021 2021412831H

15. & (8)
FEBEREBA @

(b)

HEAR

T

RERZEABEAEEREERES U

2021 2020
20214 20204
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBEFT AREFT
Carrying amount at 1 January M1B1B ZRmEE 351,201 332,397
New leases wHEE 73,687 43,045
Accretion of interest recognised FAEDZH SIE 0
during the year 9,266 14,735
Payments e (39,444) (38,976)
Disposals HE (226,965) =
Carrying amount at 31 December R12B31B ZEREE 167,745 351,201
Analysed into DA
Current portion MENE 29,100 35,061
Non-current portion JERBNEL 138,645 316,140

The maturity analysis of lease liabilities is disclosed in note 41

to the financial statements.

HEERZIARADNERME

HKRMIFE4 0
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B E A B

31 December 2021 2021412831H

15. LEASES (CONTINUED) 15. fHE (&)
The Group as a lessee (continued) SEEEAEARBEAN (@
() The amounts recognised in profit or loss in relation to (c) HFHERMNERZPEIRZEEEM
leases are as follows: T
2021 2020
2021% 20204
RMB’000 RMB’000

AREFT ARETT

Interest on lease liabilities HEAEFE 9,266 14,735
Depreciation charge of FREEEZITESH
right-of-use assets 49,821 41,707
Expense relating to short-term leases ~ EAfEHRFRE REBELSEMRES
and leases of low-value assets BRAZEX
(included in administrative expenses) GIATTER) 20,585 24,065
Total amount recognised in RIEm PR 2 488
profit or loss 79,672 80,507
(d) Extension and termination options (d) JEHARARILEEIERE
The Group has no lease contracts that include extension and AEET RGO LA RR IEERE
termination options. ZHEEH-
(e) Variable lease payments (e) TFIEMAEMNR
The Group has no lease contract that contain variable AEBIEGSIENRZHES
payments. #o
() The total cash outflow for leases is disclosed in note 35(c) to (H HEEZEE&RHBBEWENRMBR
the financial statements. FHMIEE35(C) ©

China New City Commercial Development Limited
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15. LEASES (CONTINUED)

The Group as a lessor

The Group leases its investment properties consisting one of
commercial property in Shanghai, two commercial properties in
Yuyao and five commercial properties in Hangzhou under operating
lease arrangements. The terms of the leases generally require
the tenants to pay security deposits and provide for periodic rent
adjustments according to the then prevailing market conditions.
Rental income recognised by the Group during the year was
RMB122,282,000 (2020: RMB144,845,000), details of which are
included in note 5 to the financial statements.

At 31 December 2021, the undiscounted lease payments

15.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
WA B E R Bk

31 December 2021 2021412831H

HE (&)
AEEERHEA

AEERBLESHELHIHEEREY
= EREE—"ERLEZEAYE-W
ERBRKRAERNNZEAYE -HE
BN —MREBRELEZNREBE RIRIEE R
MREHBERS AEBREANRERZ
FHEWA A ARK122,282,0007T (2020
F 1 AR ¥8144,845,0007T) » AR IBEH R
TSR RMIZES ©

H2021FE12831H » K%@ﬁﬁ?ﬁéﬁiﬁ%ﬂ)ﬁ

receivable by the Group in future periods under non-cancellable ST 7 A 08 4 AR 1 A SR 2k A R R UK
operating leases with its tenants are as follows: ZARAIRMBENTAOT -

2021 2020

20214 20204

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBEFT ARBEF T

Within one year —FR 49,561 68,417

After one year but within two years ZHR—F B/ LORME 26,575 38,143

After two years but within three years ZRMEELDR=F 25,234 35,956

After three years but within four years ZR=FEDRIUE 23,913 34,574

Atfter four years but within five years ZRMUFEELRAF 22,689 32,055

After five years EEMUE 17,585 33,942

165,557 243,087
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31 December 2021 2021412831H

5
16. GOODWILL 16.H &

Goodwill
[k
RMB’000
ARETT
Cost at 1 January 2020, net of accumulated impairment R2020F1 B 1B Z fiAs > 3 BR R 5 RVE 98,995
Impairment during the year FRREE _
Cost and net carrying amount at 31 December 2020 R2020F 12831 H Z A K2 AR EDF B 98,995

At 31 December 2020: 7220205128318 -
Cost D% 98,995
Accumulated impairment RETRE =
Net carrying amount IREEE 98,995
Cost at 1 January 2021, net of accumulated impairment R2021F1B18 2 B4 NBRREHRE 98,995
Impairment during the year FNEE (98,995)
Cost and net carrying amount at 31 December 2021 12021F128318 2 A & AR EE B -

At 31 December 2021: 720215128311 .
Cost %N 98,995
Accumulated impairment KEtRE (98,995)
Net carrying amount IREEE -

China New City Commercial Development Limited
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16. GOODWILL (CONTINUED)

Impairment testing of goodwiill

Goodwill acquired through business combinations is allocated to
the pre-education business cash-generating unit for impairment
testing.

The recoverable amount of the pre-education business cash-
generating unit has been determined based on a value in use
calculation using cash flow projections based on financial budgets
covering a five-year period approved by senior management. The
discount rate applied to the cash flow projections was 19.76%
(2020: 21.52%) and cash flows beyond the five-year period were
extrapolated using a growth rate of 2.24% (2020: 2.85%), which
was the same as the long term average growth rate of the pre-
education industry.

Assumptions were used in the value in use calculation of the
pre-education business cash-generating unit for 31 December
2021. The following describes each key assumption on which
management has based its cash flow projections to undertake
impairment testing of goodwiill:

Budgeted gross margins — The basis used to determine the value
assigned to the budgeted gross margins is the average gross
margins achieved in the year immediately before the budget year,
increased for expected efficiency improvements, and expected
market development.

Discount rate — The discount rate used is before tax and reflects
specific risks relating to the relevant unit.

The values assigned to the key assumptions on the market
development of the pre-education business and the discount rate
are consistent with external information sources.

During the year, Covid-19 has negatively continued to affect the
pre-education business operation, leading to decrease in pre-
education business development and triggering the impairment
provision. The directors have consequently determined impairment
of goodwill based on the valuation report issued by an independent
professional valuer.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
WA B E R Bk

31 December 2021 2021412831H

16.E8 2 (&)

e ZmERR

BREGAHEBZEEIRESAHS
EBRSENET LUETREANS

BHHEERRESELE T W D&EE
BRIEEAEBEAEERENRESREEE
Frib R E A FRBZ M BEE 2 REnR
EBABE -REeE =B AMERZ IR
K #19.76% (20204 : 21.52%) > miBE
hFHARB 2 IRE M EEH2.24% (20204 !
2.85%) ZIGREHEH  ZIGREHMUSHIH
ATEZ REFHIEREXER -

SHER2021FE12831H 2 2B KR
CTERETZEABERTEARR TX
HEEEAETHERENARELE
RERESRBTEA 2 SIEBRERR

REENX-AREENEFREENX
NEEFMFBNEESEEAEFERN —
FAPMERNFHENR HREHHN
RIFF KRBT ISERMA TR

MIRE-FIERNMRERRRA ZHE
7 fiz PR £2 48 F) B8 L 48 R RO 45 RE LB o

DEEBFBEEB T HERKERE
ZBERBRRZBEEISFERRIR—K-

FR Covid- 19 BHBR BB XEHZE
ERAEEFE ERBHBEEFEET
[ A B R E BHE o AU > EEERESE
VEXGHEMHAENGHERSETHER
o

PR LR EERAR
—E-_FER

i
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B E A B

31 December 2021 2021&E12831H

16.

17.

GOODWILL (CONTINUED)

Impairment testing of goodwill (continued)

As the recoverable amount of the pre-education business cash-
generating unit was less than the carrying amount, impairment loss
of RMB98,995,000 was recognised in the consolidated financial

statements for the year ended 31 December 2021.

OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS

16.H 2 (18)

£ #598,995,0007T ©

17. Rt ER R E

BEZRENR (8)

BN A EBREEL B e ur(g
SRRERIREE 8E2021F12831H1E
FENGEMBRRNOCERBEREBA

Brandname
mhE 2B
RMB’000
ARETT
31 December 2021 2021%12H31H
Cost at 1 January 2021, net of accumulated amortisation 73202151818 Z a2 » R R 5t 32,522
Amortisation provided during the year FRELZEHE (1,735)
At 31 December 2021 72021512831 H 30,787
At 31 December 2021: R2021F128318
Cost DN 34,690
Accumulated amortisation Rty (3,903)
Net carrying amount EREFE 30,787
Brandname
mhE a8
RMB’000
ARETT
31 December 2020 2020%12831H
Cost at 1 January 2020, net of accumulated amortisation ~ 722020F1 B 1H Z a7 > 105k R st 85 34,257
Amortisation provided during the year FEREL Z 5 (1,735)
At 31 December 2020 7220205%12831H 32,522
At 31 December 2020: 202051283181 :
Cost BN 34,690
Accumulated amortisation RET (2,168)
Net carrying amount IRERE 32,522

China New City Commercial Development Limited
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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31 December 2021 2021412831H

18. EQUITY INVESTMENTS 18. 35
DESIGNATED AT FAIR fth
VALUE THROUGH OTHER
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

EaAREE
2milimE 22 i

2021 2020
20214 20204
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTT ARETT

Equity investments designated at EEBRARBEA
fair value through other Ht2EmWmzREEE
comprehensive income
Zhejiang Xinnongdu Industrial Co., Ltd. AIBHMBEERRAFR 335,050 358,290
Unlisted equity investments, at fair value:  JF EHRRARE » A RDEE .
Qian Ning Health Industry Co., Ltd. MIZEREEEXRRAR - 25,000
Anhui Five Star Food Co., Ltd. ZHAERRRMNBIRAE - 3,300
Shenzhen Xin Shi City Development FIEAMTERBREBRAR
Investment Co., Ltd. - 6,000
335,050 392,590
The above equity investments were irrevocably designated at fair HRAEERA LR ELEE BB %
value through other comprehensive income as the Group considers oA ERB AR HEMIEEZERE
these investments to be strategic in nature. BEAMBEFSAHMEZE R

FEF AL ERERAD
Tz lkey 197



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B E A B

31 December 2021 2021&E12831H

19. LONG TERM PREPAYMENTS

19. REATA(TRRIA

2021 2020

20214 20204

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®BTT ARETFT

Prepayment for equity investment* RERETE I RIE 243,694 234,484
Deposits for construction completion 3BT #%E 12,487 16,553
Maintenance fund MEED 15,980 15,980
Prepayments for land acquisition T 2 FE(IFRIE 9,975 11,382
Prepaid expense AR - 8,089
Deposits B 1,002 52,273
283,138 338,761

20214 2020128318 » AAERE = A
EHREMREz SREEWRAEEER
B > A IE 2 55 [ 575 722021 £ K2 20204512
B 31 B W F AR R [ PR B S ¥R 5 2E B 5505
BT 2 EAREEEEEAERZ EAEE
B o

As at 31 December 2021 and 2020, financial assets included
in long term prepayments of the Group were considered to be
low credit risk and thus the Group assessed that there was no
significant loss allowance recognised in accordance with the ECL
model under IFRS 9 as at 31 December 2021 and 2020.

* The details of prepayment for equity investment is disclosed in note 38. * R E TR R IB B IR B M 5238«

China New City Commercial Development Limited
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BB

31 December 2021 2021412831H

20. INVESTMENTS IN A JOINT VENTURE 20. R—R&E 1288

2021 2020
20214 20204
RMB’000 RMB’000

AREFT ARBT T

Share of net assets B FEEMER 32,441 =
The particular of joint venture is as follows: AETENFEBAOT
Percentage attributable to the Group
FEEEEEAE
Particulars
of issued Place of Ownership Voting Profit Principal
Name shares held registration interest power sharing activities
218 HEBES
Bl BHEE FrE#ER BER I ME TEE
Chun'an Qiandao Lake Yulang Registered Zhejiang 59% 33% 59% Project
Superstar Cultural Creativity capital of PRC management
Co., Ltd,"! RMB184,957,300 HEHL EREE
BERTENEBEENIE SRR
BIEBRAFN N
184,957,3007¢
Ul Established on 5 July 2016 M 201657 B5H AL
The movements in the investments in the joint venture during the REErLENRERRSHANEEW
reporting period are as follows: T
2021 2020
20215 20204
RMB’000 RMB’000
AREBFT ARBF T
At 1 January 2021 2021F181H = =
Investment in a joint venture R—EEaErENKRE 33,246 =
Share of losses fEILES 18 (805) =
At 31 December 2021 F22021412831H 32,441 -

RE AL RRERAD
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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31 December 2021 2021&E12831H

21. DEFERRED TAX ASSETS AND
LIABILITIES

The movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities during the year
are as follows:

Deferred tax assets

Unrealised
intragroup
profit or loss

1LEERERERAR

FRIELERBEERBBREHNT !

Fair value
adjustment of
equity
investment

Right-of-use Losses available at fair value
assetsand  for offsetting  through other

Lease  against future comprehensive
liabilities  taxable profits income Total

BRAREEA

s Hth2EKE

FER  FREBER FRMERH ZIRERE

E@mRE figafk MENER  AAEERE it

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

NEETT NG S ANEBFTL ANEETR ANEETR

At 1 January 2020 1202081810 1,976 4,468 - - 6,444
Deferred tax credt to the statement of ERRBRRERNETRE

profit or loss during the year - 3,803 1,642 - 5,445

At 31 December 2020 and 1 January 2021 R2020E12831 A R2021E1 810 1,976 8,271 1,642 - 11,889
Deferred tax (charged)/credited to the ERPERR () /EERN

statement of profit or loss during the year BRI - (1,545) 3,662 - 2117
Deferred tax credfted to the statement of FRREMEERERERD

other comprehensive income EILRIE
during the year - - - 9,820 9,820
At 31 December 2021 120215128318 1,976 6,726 5,304 9,820 23,826

In accordance with the PRC laws and regulations, tax losses could
be carried forward for five years to offset against its future taxable
profits. Deferred tax assets relating to unutilised tax losses are
recognised to the extent that it is probable that sufficient taxable
profit will be available to allow these deferred tax assets to be
utilised.

The Group has no accumulated tax losses arising in Hong
Kong that are available indefinitely for offsetting against future
taxable profits of the companies in which the losses arose. The
Group has accumulated tax losses arising in Mainland China of
RMB1,172,415,000 (2020: RMB787,899,000) that will expire in one
to five years for offsetting against future taxable profits. Deferred tax
assets have not been recognised in respect of these losses as they
have arisen in subsidiaries that have been loss-making for some
time and it is not considered probable that taxable profits will be
available against which the tax losses can be utilised.

China New City Commercial Development Limited
200 2021 Annual Report
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FLURHE A RERNAE - BRAE KR
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AEBTENEBEELRAREBEBRE
ATAMNERIIEHES HBEBEENARH
BERRAE ANEENRPEANMES
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
WA B E R Bk

31 December 2021 2021412831H

21. DEFERRED TAX ASSETS AND
LIABILITIES (CONTINUED)

ERBEREERAR (8)

FRELENEEERBELEWNT : (@

The movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities during the year
are as follows: (continued)

Deferred tax liabilities RERIEA R
Fair value
adjustment
of equity
investment Fair value

Fairvalue at fair value adjustment
adjustment of  through other  arising from

investment comprehensive acquisition of With-
properties income  a subsidiary holding tax Others Total
RAREE

st AR WrE—m

2EKE MELR
REME  ZRERE gz
MaEERE QAREEE QARERR i Rt it
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTR  ARETR  ARETR  ARETR  ARETR  ARETR

At 1 January 2020 #2020F1818 812,565 2,250 5,897 31,577 85,636 937,915
Realised during the year RERER (135,997) - (434) - (7,108) (143,537)
Deferred tax charged to the statement of FRRBEERNIBNELRE

profit or loss during the year 94,959 - - 9,807 4375 109,141
Deferred tax charged to the statement of other ~ ERR At 2ERGERNBNELRE

comprehensive income during the year = 4,300 = = = 4,300
At 31 December 2020 and 1 January 2021 1420205128318 R2021 E1 813 771,517 6,550 5,463 41,384 82,905 907,819
Realised during the year RERER (10,263) - (231) - (2,080) (12,574)

Deferred tax (credited)/charged to the FRRBER R /RNEILTRE

statement of profit or loss during the year (15,078) - - 128 (8,534) (23,484)
Deferred tax credited to the statement of other FRREMZ ARG RERNELRE

comprehensive income during the year - (6,550) - - - (6,550)
At 31 December 2021 #2021512A318 746,176 - 5,232 41,512 72,291 865,211

Pursuant to the PRC Corporate Income Tax Law (the “New CIT
Law”), a 10% withholding tax is levied on dividends declared to
foreign investors from the foreign investment enterprises established
in the PRC. The requirement is effective from 1 January 2008 and
applies to earnings after 31 December 2007. A lower withholding
tax rate may be applied if there is a tax treaty between Mainland
China and the jurisdiction of the foreign investors. For the Group,
the applicable rate is 10%. The Group is therefore liable for
withholding taxes on dividends distributed by those subsidiaries
established in the PRC in respect of earnings generated from 1
January 2008.

Other than the above deferred tax liability in relation to the PRC
withholding income tax provided, no deferred taxation has been
provided for the distributable retained profits of approximately
RMB1,207,069,000 (2020: RMB1,152,879,000), which were
derived from the PRC subsidiaries as the Group is able to control
the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences and it is
probable that the temporary differences will not reverse in the
foreseeable future.

REBPRECEMRBIRE (THEERER
&) o BB B IIRYINE RS
KREETIKKREBBUN0%TAMNIR - BRI
TE B20085F1 B 1 HEAE R > W A #2007
F12B3BRAMEEZ & - HhEAM
BSNBREEMBRA R ZBAEARE
BRATZEEEOIRNEGR - AEEZ
BRALEERB10% -HIL ZEBBEMZE
FEARBI AT 2 MY B A B $L200851 B1H
EEZBNMDIKZRESHZENR -

BB SCESIAY R TEID PR S R AE RA RV R
IERIEEEI  EFRE REN B AT
B8] DR R im A A9 A R #61,207,069,000
7T (20204 : AR #1,152,879,0007T) 1EH
IEIEFR BB [ A AN 5 B e 0 ) B B
ERENNRE TR EREIERTR
REAE G o
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B E A B

31 December 2021 2021412831H

22. PARTLY-OWNED SUBSIDIARIES 22, SRR HIMBE EKRIERE

WITH MATERIAL NON-
CONTROLLING INTERESTS

Details of the Group’s subsidiaries that have material non-
controlling interests are set out below:

Percentage of equity interest held by non-controlling interests:

A EATERE AR AR EA D
BRAIMT :

SFEREEFARER DL

2021 2020
20214 20204
Zhejiang Zhong An Sheng Long IR EREERERRAT
Commercial Co., Ltd. (TR % BEME))
(“Zhong An Sheng Long”) 10% 10%
Maggie and Rose Limited Maggie and Rose Limited
(‘Maggie and Rose’) (TZ52 o BE4R) 53.5% 53.5%

Accumulated balances of non-controlling interests at the reporting

RS HARIF IR RETAERR

date:
2021 2020
20214 20204
RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFT AREBF T
Zhong An Sheng Long R E 162,053 133,582
Maggie and Rose I 0 BE4A (9,534) (3,151)

Profit/(loss) for the year allocated to non-controlling interests:

FRDIKTIFEREDNFE, (BB :

2021 2020
20214 20204
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARETFT ARETT

Zhong An Sheng Long R REE
Maggie and Rose EIH o ik

China New City Commercial Development Limited
202 2021 Annual Report

12,405 3,640
(6,452) (7,314)




NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BB

31 December 2021 2021412831H

22. PARTLY-OWNED SUBSIDIARIES 22, SR{p BRI A EAIEE
WITH MATERIAL NON- IRERBI M E AT (48)
CONTROLLING INTERESTS
(CONTINUED)

The following tables illustrate the summarised financial information TREFU LB ABNSHERHE -

of the above subsidiaries.

The amounts disclosed are before any inter-company eliminations: FriRENEEANERAL B EEHEA &
LI
Maggie and Zhong An
Rose Sheng Long
I o B4R R RkpE

2021 RMB’000 RMB’000
20215 AREBFT ARBTT
Revenue WA 34,549 41,049
Other income Hhs - 137,377
Changes in fair value of KREMENADEEED

investment properties - (16,249)
Total expenses B 48 B (46,613) (38,123)
(Loss)/profit and total comprehensive F£R BB FBEERET

(loss)/income for the year (§518) W AR %E (12,064) 124,054
Current assets MENEE 5,951 5,616,971
Non-current assets ERHE 28,752 3,203,206
Current liabilities VIEI=NE (49,303) (6,539,649)
Non-current liabilities FERHEaE (3,227) (660,000)
Net cash flows generated from EEENELERENEFHE

operating activities 41,151 655,533
Net cash flows (used in)/from BREEE A ELXRERE R

investing activities (41,296) 156,289
Net (decrease)/increase in ReERIRSEEY () 8INEEE

cash and cash equivalents (145) 811,822

RE AL RRERAD
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AT bk

31 December 2021 2021&E12831H

22. PARTLY-OWNED SUBSIDIARIES
WITH MATERIAL NON-

CONTROLLING INTERESTS

(CONTINUED)
Maggie and Zhong An
Rose Sheng Long
ZEIH o BR4L MR
2020 RMB’000 RMB’000
20204 AREBFT AREEFTT
Revenue A 33,952 42,641
Changes in fair value of investment KREMEQAABEES
properties - 272
Total expenses Bz 48 %8 (47,629) 6,517)
(Loss)/profit and total comprehensive TR (EBB) FEREE
(loss)/income for the year (B518) 485 (13,677) 36,396
Current assets TMENEE 22,489 4,660,670
Non-current assets FEREEE 31,415 2,972,301
Current liabilities mEaE (56,463) (5,547,153)
Non-current liabilities SERBAaRE (3,334) (750,000)
Net cash flows generated from EEEHELRENERE
operating activities 42,843 15,782
Net cash flows used in investing activites RE ZHFERIRSREFEE (28,854) (40,038)
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash IRE&RIFLEEYILM, (BL) B58
equivalents 13,989 (24,256)

China New City Commercial Development Limited
2021 Annual Report




23. COMPLETED PROPERTIES HELD

24

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BB

31 December 2021 2021412831H

23. FEHEBCIE T Y%

FOR SALE
2021 2020
20214 20204
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
iorid AR®EFT ARBEF T
Carrying amount at 1 January R1B1HZEREE 1,255,130 1,734,021
Transfer from properties B aREERYE 14
under development 167,779 14,068
Transfer to investment properties BEEKEYE 13 - (143,194)
Transfer to property and equipment BT R KRB 12 = (44,110)
Disposal of a subsidiary HE—RNEAR 34 - (74,142
Cost of properties sold BHEYERE 6 (335,844) (231,513)
Carrying amount at 31 December R12B831 A ZREE 1,087,065 1,255,130

As at 31 December 2021, certain of the Group’s completed
properties held for sale of RMB678,740,000 (2020:
RMB913,191,000) were pledged to secure interest-bearing bank
and other borrowings granted to the Group as disclosed in note 30.

TRADE RECEIVABLES

The Group’s trading terms with its customers are mainly on credit,
except for new customers, where payment in advance is normally
required. The credit period is generally one month, extending
up to three months for major customers. Each customer has a
maximum credit limit. The Group seeks to maintain strict control
over its outstanding receivables to minimise credit risk. Overdue
balances are reviewed regularly by senior management. In view of
the aforementioned and the fact that the Group’s trade receivables
related to various diversified customers, there is no significant
concentration of credit risk. The Group does not hold any collateral
or other credit enhancements over its trade receivable balances.
The balances of trade receivables are non-interest-bearing and
unsecured.

24

R20215F12831H " EBEETHREHE
BiE TY % AR 1#678,740,0007T (2020
£ AR%8913,191,0007T) > UM EE30FT 1
B EFABRTAERHAERTERRE
ETRBIIEIR

B & 5 BR R

FEBREEZERNEZHFREIES
EHER —REERMNIE-FEH R
m—EA MEBFRARZAERE=
BR BLEFHOREESEEREA &
SRR NN FEEEEEEREREREK
BURERABEERR -SREEEBEH
BERBBPER BN EMIEHRAEEE
WEZERRESLARZTRER WL E
EXEEETRER AEBTELHEW
BRRNERREEARRRIEMES
MR- ERE RN EHREER
IR

=,
=R}

RN R RERAT
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B E A B

31 December 2021 2021&E12831H

24. TRADE RECEIVABLES (CONTINUED)

An ageing analysis of the trade receivables as at the end of the
reporting period is as follows:

24, FEUNE 5 BRFR (48)

RIBERR > B S RUCERTHIRE D AT
Lk

2021 2020

20214 20204

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR#FT AREFT

Within six month —@EB RN 40,902 37,253
Over six month but within one year BENERE—FR 344 383
41,246 37,636

An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting date using
a provision matrix to measure ECLs. The provision rates are based
on days past due for groupings of various customer segments with
similar loss patterns (i.e., by customer type and rating, and forms of
credit insurance). The calculation reflects the probability-weighted
outcome, the time value of money and reasonable and supportable
information that is available at the reporting date about past events,
current conditions and forecasts of future economic conditions. For
the sale of commercial properties, rentals under operating leases
and provision of property management services, hotel operation
businesses and other business of the Group, management has
assessed that the expected credit loss rate for trade receivables
is minimal as at 31 December 2021 and 2020. In the opinion
of the directors of the Company, the Group’s trade receivables
relate to a large number of diversified customers with no recent
history of default and the balances are considered fully recoverable
considering the historical records and forward-looking information.

China New City Commercial Development Limited
2021 Annual Report

REREHPRABEEEETRED
o Ut E2BREEFRB -BEXDER
AEHRUBBEANZERTE S HETS
A EIEFENRTFRUREMEERE
) WEBARE s E o L5t B RREE
MEER EEREEERNRS BHA
BHAMBEEH  BAEM R RRLE
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BB

31 December 2021 2021412831H

25. PREPAYMENTS, OTHER 25. FA{IFRIE « H{thFEULTRIE
RECEIVABLES AND OTHER ASSETS REMSEE
2021 2020
20214 20204
RMB’000 RMB’000

AREFT ARKET T

Prepaid other tax FEfTHAMIRIE 92,935 73,004
Project construction guarantee deposits ~ 18H Ti2ERIZE 89,511 203,101
Advances to suppliers BT THER 31,533 65,828
Other receivables Hh g sa 168,379 197,343

382,358 539,276
The financial assets included in the above balances relate to FALMGERz EMEENABERRIER
receivables for which there was no recent history of default and R ZEEWAIEN ST HRE R AR £ 28
past due amounts. As at 31 December 2021 and 2020, the loss ZE0E% o 120214 ;220205128318 &
allowance was assessed to be minimal. BEETEARE

RE AL RRERAD
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31 December 2021 2021&E12831H

26. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
AND.RESTRICTED CASH

26. IRERINEEEMRZMR
FIIRE

2021 2020

20214 20204

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®FT ARBEEFTT

Cash and bank balances H& MIRTTA R 1,936,034 1,108,888
Time deposits TEHAERR 12,000 =
1,948,034 1,108,888

Less: Restricted cash B ZIREIRE (344,965) (114,776)
Cash and cash equivalents BENIRSEEBY 1,603,069 994,112
Current assets MENEE 332,965 114,776
Non-current assets ERBEE 12,000 =
Restricted cash ZREIIRE 344,965 114,776

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank
deposit rates. Short term time deposits are made for varying
periods of between one day and three months depending on the
immediate cash requirements of the Group and earn interest at
the respective short term time deposit rates. The bank balances
and restricted cash are deposited with creditworthy banks with no

recent history of default.

Pursuant to relevant regulations in the PRC, certain property
development companies of the Group are required to place certain
amounts of cash in the designated bank accounts for a specified
use, and therefore the cash disbursement from these accounts
is subjected to some restriction. As at 31 December 2021, these
guarantee deposits amounted to approximately RMB268,856,000

(2020: RMB74,204,000).

Besides, certain of the Group’s bank accounts of approximately
RMB64,109,000 (2020: RMB40,572,000) were pledged to banks

for the timely repayment of the loans as disclosed in note 30.

China New City Commercial Development Limited
2021 Annual Report

RTERENRTHEERRLUTBAER
BREF B -RHENERA—RE=EA
FERHR RAEENENRIRE R KM
TE) » FeAZA[RIBIAE BA TE HA1F kA R ER A
B RITHEFRZRAEREHIF RN TN
WEENELNEERTFZIRT-

RIEPEABRER  AEBMNE TYER
BNBAER - EHBENRESERINIEER
FERELUMERERR RItBZFERARE
BUIRE B RIS TRE - 52021F128
318 ZERZEEN A AR 1268,856,000
7t (20204F : AFR174,204,0007T) °

o REENEFTRITRBEOARE
64,109,000t (20204 : AR #40,572,000
70) BEERFIRITURFREEER GRa i
ET30PT K E8) ©



26.

27.

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
AND RESTRICTED CASH
(CONTINUED)

As at 31 December 2021, certain of the Group’s non-current
time deposits amounted to approximately RMB2,000,000 (2020:
Nil) were pledged to banks as guarantees for mortgage facilities
granted to purchasers of the Group’s properties.

As at 31 December 2021, pursuant to relevant regulations in
the local government, certain of the Group’s non-current time
deposits amounted to approximately RMB10,000,000 (2020: Nil)
were required to place in designated bank accounts as guarantee
deposits for the construction of the related properties.

At the end of the reporting period, the cash and bank balances of
the Group denominated in RMB amounted to RMB1,928,170,000
(2020: RMB1,075,928,000).The RMB is not freely convertible
into other currencies, however, under Mainland China’s Foreign
Exchange Control Regulations and Administration of Settlement.
Sale and Payment of Foreign Exchange Regulations, the Group is
permitted to exchange RMB for other currencies through banks
authorised to conduct foreign exchange business.

TRADE PAYABLES

An ageing analysis of the Group’s trade payables as at the end
of the reporting period, based on the payment due dates, is as
follows:

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BB

31 December 2021 2021412831H

26. IRERINEEEMRZMR

iRz (&)

20215128331 H > AEBME TIEENHA
TEBR T 749 A\ R #52,000,0007T ( 20204 :
/) BERTRIT FARAERYEER
ERBRBEEZER

20214128318 » IR#R# 75 BUA B8RS
AR AEENETIERBERERNA
R #10,000,0007T (20204 : &) BEER
IEEIRITIRA R 1EA BRI ERZIE
RigE o

REREHPER AEBUARBIENIR
S MIBTTHE RS AR 11,928,170,0007T
(20204 : AR1,075,928,0007T) ° A
REEFASEHRBRAEMER A R
¥R E P OB B IR E U R4S R S BB
RGESERE  AEBEFESAERE
THONEEBEWRITHARERBRAHEME
ﬁfgo

27. FE{1 & H AR

FEBEN B ZIRRI RS IARIZIRE
RS ERRE DT ¢

2021 2020

20214 20204

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®TT ARBEEFTT

Within six months NEB R 435,333 453,256
Over six months but within one year BENEEEBR—FRA 31,977 57,488
Over one year HBiEm— 13,591 21,655
480,901 532,399

The trade payables are unsecured and interest-free and are
normally settled based on the progress of construction.

P B 5 R TH E IR K 2 B B — k%
THEEfte
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B E A B

31 December 2021 2021412831H

28. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS

28. HithE{I- B R Est &

2021 2020
20214 20204
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR#FT AREFT
Guarantee deposits EREE 50,695 54,222
Tax surcharges M n#R 24,513 11,641
Deposits related to construction BEIENERS 27,677 32,562
Other payables HhpEGTIE 206,923 191,259
309,808 289,684
Other payables are unsecured and interest-free. HiENRIBAEIGFLE AR -
=
29. CONTRACT LIABILITIES 29. & E
2021 2020
20214 20204
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥FT ARMFTT
Advances received from customers BWREETENR 2,063,292 393,694

EHNERIENEAEEZEEYMEBKRES
ZIHEFRBRRIE - FR2021FE12831H > g
MAEEERRTEEYEMR -

Contract liabilities represent sales proceeds received from buyers
in connection with the Group’s pre-sale of properties. As at 31
December 2021, the increase was primarily due to the pre-sale of
the properties.

China New City Commercial Development Limited
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BB

31 December 2021 2021412831H

30. INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND 30. st ERITE M R H M fETx
OTHER BORROWINGS

2021 2020

20214 20204

RMB’000 RMB’000

AREFT ARKET T

Current: BIHA -
Bank loans — secured RITER—FBIKF 1,527,310 603,805
Other loans — secured HittEZ—HIKHF - 61,750
1,527,310 665,555
Non-current: JEBDER -
Bank loans — secured RITER—FBIKE 1,910,627 3,693,094
Other loans — secured HthEHR—-HIKH 1,197,313 1,110,000
3,107,940 4,803,094
4,635,250 5,468,649
Repayable: AR TYHAEEE
Within one year or on demand —FERIHEKEF 1,527,310 665,555
Over one year but within two years LR —FEB/DRRE 1,374,587 1,808,116
Over two years but within five years ZRMEBDRAE 682,080 1,784,347
Over five years REMUE 1,051,273 1,210,631
4,635,250 5,468,649
Except for bank and other borrowings amounting to fRETREEMES B ZIRTTREMER
RMB2,384,950,000 (2020: RMB854,120,000) that bear interest at AR H2,384,950,0007T (20204 : ARHE
fixed rates, all bank loans bear interest at floating rates. 854,120,0007t) ° FT B IR1TERILFEF)

EitEo

RE AL RRERAD
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B E A B

31 December 2021 2021412831H

30. INTEREST-BEARING BANK
AND OTHER BORROWINGS
(CONTINUED)

The Group’s bank and other borrowings bear interest at average
effective interest rates as follows:

30. &
(

BIR{ITERRHMER
4)

AEEIRITREMETIZUT FEER
GRS P

2021 2020
20214 20204
RMB’000 RMB’000

AREFT ARBTT

Effective interest rates BRA=E

The carrying amounts of all the Group’s borrowings during the year
were denominated as follows:

6.65% 6.51%

AEEREAFA ERORE RN TE
MEEHE > BRI T

2021 2020
20214 20204
RMB’000 RMB’000

AREFT ARETT

RMB loans and borrowings AREERRER
GBP loans and borrowings RIS e

The Group’s bank and other borrowings were secured by the

4,632,023 5,464,871
3,227 3,778
4,635,250 5,468,649

R|BEIR > 7ERBTERREMER

pledges of the following assets at the end of the reporting period: HUTEEERIEIRFT
2021 2020
20214 20204
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
ViboE=3 AR¥EFT AREEFT

Carrying value of the Group’s assets: AEBEENEEE

Investment properties KEY= 13 2,681,570 3,185,130
Properties under development FEERgasky/ES 14 485,411 485,411
Completed properties held for sale FEHEEEmYE 23 678,740 913,191
Restricted cash ZREIRE 26 64,109 40,572
Property and equipment EYSES 12 1,185,489 1,236,965
) 5,095,319 5,861,269

At 31 December 2021, the Group’s borrowings of RMB50,000,000
(2020: RMB50,000,000) were guaranteed by Mr. Shi Zhongan
(Note 36(2)(vi)).

China New City Commercial Development Limited
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31. SHARE CAPITAL

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

WA B E R Bk

31 December 2021 2021412831H

31. jgzs

Shares b
2021 2020
20214 20204
’000 ‘000
T Frt
Authorised: EE
5,000,000,000 (2020: 5,000,000,000) 5,000,000,0008% & A& EIE0.10
ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each BTEER (2020%F : HK$500,000 HK$500,000
5,000,000,0008%) #7500,000 7 7t500,000
Issued and fully paid: BETREE
2,010,768,000 (2020: 2,010,768,000) 2,010,768,000/2 & )2 EE0.10
ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each BT @R (20204 : RMB160,220 RMB160,220
2,010,768,0008%) AE#160,220 AE 160,220

A summary of movements in the Company’s issued share capital is

as follows:

RRBEHTIRAGESMAIT ¢

Number of Share
shares Share premium
in issue capital account Total
BE81T
D& B A ROERER st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®FT AR®FR AR¥ETR®
At 1 January 2020 12202051818 2,013,248,000 160,443 721,694 882,137
Repurchase of shares (note (a)) BB (k@) (2,480,000) (223) (1,997) (2,220)
At 31 December 2020 and 720205128318 &

1 January 2021 2021F1B1H 2,010,768,000 160,220 719,697 879,917
At 31 December 2021 20215FE12831H 2,010,768,000 160,220 719,697 879,917
Note: BiaE -

(@) On 19 February 2020, the Company repurchased its own shares (a) 202028198 > AA Bl M E & K0.99

amounting to RMB2,220,000 at market value of HK$0.99 per share. On
25 March 2020, the Company cancelled these shares with amount of
RMB223,000. The difference between the par value of the shares and
the consideration of RMB2,220,000 was debited to the share premium

account.

BTBOEAGZRH TEAARK
2,220,0007T ° jR2020F3H25H » " /A T s
5 20 2 A R #5223,0007T U2 F IR 17 © IR
PHEEENERNZERARY2,220,0007T
STARM B
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AT A B

31 December 2021 2021&E12831H

32. OTHER RESERVE

Other reserve represented the reserve from the share option
scheme adopted by Zhong An Group Limited (the “Parent
Company”) and China New City Commercial Development Limited
(the “Company”).

The parent company of the Group, which operates a share option
scheme (the “Scheme”) for the purpose of providing incentives and
rewards to eligible participants who contribute to the success of
the operations. The Scheme became effective on 15 May 2009 and
as at 31 December 2021, there were no options granted under to
Scheme.

The Company adopted an equity-settled share option scheme in
2015 (the “New Scheme”) for the purpose of providing incentives
and rewards to eligible persons, including the Company’s directors,
independent non-executive directors, employees of the Group and
other eligible participants, who contribute to the success of the
Group's operations. The New Scheme became effective on 20 May
2015 and, unless otherwise cancelled or amended, will remain in
force for 10 years from the offer date.

The maximum number of shares issuable under share options
to each eligible person in the New Scheme within any 12-month
period is limited to 1% of the shares of the Company in issue at
any time. Any further grant of share options in excess of this limit is
subject to shareholders’ approval in a general mesting.

China New City Commercial Development Limited
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32. OTHER RESERVE (CONTINUED)

Share options granted to a director, chief executive officer
or substantial shareholder of the Company, or to any of their
associates, are subject to approval in advance by the independent
non-executive directors. In addition, any share options granted
to a substantial shareholder or an independent non-executive
director of the Company, or to any of their associates, in excess
of 0.1% of the shares of the Company in issue at any time or with
an aggregate value (based on the closing price of the Company’s
shares at the date of grant) in excess of HK$5 million, within any
12-month period, are subject to shareholders’ approval in advance
in a general meeting.

The offer of a grant of share options may be accepted within
21 days from the date of offer, upon payment of a nominal
consideration of HK$0.998 by each grantee with no other
consideration being payable by the grantee. An option may be
exercised in accordance with the terms of the New Scheme at any
time during a period commencing on such date on or after the
date on which the option is granted as the Board may determine in
granting the option and expiring at the close of business on such
date as the Board may determine in granting the option but in any
event shall not exceed 10 years from the date of grant.

The exercise price of share options is determined by the directors,
but may not be less than the higher of (i) the Stock Exchange
closing price of the Company’s shares on the date of offer of the
share options; and (i) the average Stock Exchange closing price
of the Company’s shares for the five trading days immediately
preceding the date of offer, provided that the exercise price shall
not be less than the nominal value of the ordinary shares of the
Company, and (jii) per value of the share.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B E A B

31 December 2021 2021412831H

32. OTHER RESERVE (CONTINUED)

32. Hithf# & (&)

RESHE RTEERGERSREN

The share options granted to eligible participants of the Group were

outstanding under the two Scheme during the reporting period:

BREDZMEASE THRTEZER

:

2021 2020
20215 20204

Weighted Weighted

average average
exercise Number exercise Number
price of options price of options
T R RS 1 ik ERs) Yo
1718 B8 7B B8

HK$ HK$
per share ’000 per share 000
sRET T4 gRBT T3
At 1 January ®1B18 1.01 176,450 1.85 2,650
Granted during the year RERFEH - - 0.998 173,800
Expired during the year REAE 1.85 (2,650) = =

At 31 December ®12831H 1.00 1.01

China New City Commercial Development Limited
2021 Annual Report
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BB

31 December 2021 2021412831H

32. OTHER RESERVE (CONTINUED) 32. Hthf# s (48)
The exercise prices and exercise periods of the share options RIREHR HERTEBREZITEER
outstanding as at the end of the reporting periods are as follows: TERRNT -
2021 20214
Number of options Exercise price* Exercise period
BRREHE TEE> 1T1EHA
’000 per share
17 =1
HK$0.998 18 February 2020 to 12 February 2022
173,800 0.998%& 7¢ 202028 13H E2022F2812H
2020 20204
Number of options Exercise price* Exercise period
EREHE TEE 1T1EHR
‘000 per share
T =2
HK$0.998 18 February 2020 to 12 February 2022
173,800 0.9987% 7T 202028 13H E2022FE2H 12H
HK$1.85 22 January 2014 to 21 January 2021
2,650 1.858 7T 2014F1822HE2021F1821H
176,450
e The exercise price of the share options is subject to adjustment in the * BRENTEEETHRIARETREA

case of rights or bonus issues, or other similar changes in the Parent BIRANEMABEEEER T FRE

Company’s share capital.
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B E A B

31 December 2021 2021&E12831H

32. OTHER RESERVE (CONTINUED)

The expected life of the options is based on the historical data
over the past three years and is not necessarily indicative of the
exercise patterns that may occur. The expected volatility reflects the
assumption that the historical volatility is indicative of future trends,
which may also not necessarily be the actual outcome.

No other feature of the options granted was incorporated into the
measurement of fair value.

The Group recognised RMB11,388,000 share option expense
during the year ended 31 December 2021 (2020: RMB10,373,000).

At the end of the reporting period, the Company had 173,800,000
share options outstanding under the New Scheme. The exercise
in full of the outstanding share options would, under the present
capital structure of the Company, result in the issue of 173,800,000
additional ordinary shares of the Company and additional share
capital of RMB14,210,000 (before issue expenses).

China New City Commercial Development Limited
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32. Hithf# & (&)

BRERMERREEE=FNELH
BErE > RIE RS AR AR IRAYITER
I o FRFT IR IE S Bk FE SEOR B AU R R AR B 58
BRR TR HBERER

STEANEER I ES RAAE L ERERN
Hh4s1s o

REE2021FE 128318 I EE > KEERE
SREE RS R X AR #511,388,0007T (2020
£ AR¥10,373,0007T) °

RBEHRR XA REWSAEES
173,800,00017 M ARATERER#E o IRIFA L
BIBRTNE AR BEITHEERITERE
% R 18 B A R B) 85 17173,800,000 8% %8
HhE B RR R ERSMR A A R 1614,210,0007T
(H0PREE1TRASE) ©



33. RESERVES

(@) Share premium

The share premium represents the excess of ordinary shares

paid by the shareholders over their nominal value.

(b) Capital reserve

U

(i)

(iii)

On 30 May 2014, the Company and its related parties
signed the deed of novation, assignment and set-
off (the “Deed”). The Deed settled and set-off the
outstanding balances of the Company with related
parties. The net debts due to and owing by the
Company to Ideal World Investments Limited after set-
off, amounting to approximately RMB963,639,000,
were settled by the Company by allotting and issuing
1,000,000 new shares amounting to RMB80,000
credited as fully paid to ldeal World Investments
Limited.

On 31 May 2014, the directors were authorised
to capitalise HK$126,700,000, equivalent to
RMB100,825,000, by using the exchange rate on
that day, standing to the credit of the capital reserve
account of the Company, so that 1,267,000,000
shares were allotted and issued, pursuant to this
resolution.

Deemed contribution by the controlling shareholder
represented certain residual interests of the residential
business remaining in certain subsidiaries and was
contributed by the controlling shareholder to the
Group.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

33. & &

WA B E R Bk

31 December 2021 2021412831H

(@) Ri7i@E

IRPEEERREXNZEB

%2

D)O}
H

)<IT-I

BeHAEE

(b) BRfEE

M

(i

(iii)

R2014F5H8308 » A AF K
HEB AT UEE EBER
EIH R (T EIR)) - &2
R IE B A N B BARE B 5
M E R BB IR E
AR EE K R AIdeal World
Investments LimitedBy& %%
BEX A AR 15963,639,0007T
HARAFBEBMAIdeal World
Investments Limitedft 2% % 2%
171,000,0008% A BRZVE#4 2
WERMmEN £BEARE
80,0007t ©

2014558310 BEERE
WY& 75 & 45126,700,00078 7T
(ZEREXFAERENAR
#100,825,0007T) * st AEA
BEARRER MUREARE
220 8% K %171,267,000,0008%
B 1n o

WRAERRKEHEREETHW
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B E A B

31 December 2021 2021&E12831H

33. RESERVES (CONTINUED)

(c) Statutory surplus reserve

In accordance with the Company Law of the PRC and
the respective articles of association of the PRC group
companies, each of the subsidiaries of the Group that is
domiciled in Mainland China is required to allocate 10% of its
profit after tax, as determined in accordance with the PRC
Accounting Regulations, to the statutory surplus reserve
(the “SSR”) until such reserve reaches 50% of its registered
capital.

In addition, certain of the PRC group companies are foreign
investment enterprises which are not subject to the SSR
allocation. According to the relevant PRC regulations
applicable to foreign investment enterprises, each of these
subsidiaries is required to allocate a certain portion (not less
than 10%) of its profit after tax, as determined in accordance
with the PRC Accounting Regulations, to the statutory
reserve fund until such reserve reaches 50% of its registered
capital.

China New City Commercial Development Limited
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33. it (4&)

(c)

EEBEBRFEA

BEPEHADERTEHERQATE
BRVEMERME R RE Rt
B B & R A B R B BRI
BFEB10% (IRBEHEGsHERE
) EEERGAE (TEERERA
R EEZRAREEHZEHEM
BARI50% °

SN R ETRERERQT R
B BB ARIEAERFAR
RBBERNINECENERFTEE
R ZEMBRAHEARBEREH
Gt ERIFTEENRREABOE
FEAD CRDF10%) BEETLER
T EERREFTEEHEME
ZHI50% ©



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BB

31 December 2021 2021412831H

34. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES 4. HEHEB AT

2021
20214
Notes RMB’000
o3 AR®TT
Net assets disposed of: BHEEBEESE:
Property and equipment MEREE 12 385
Cash and cash equivalents BEMIRSEEY 5,408
Trade receivables FEN B 5 AR AR 1,184
Inventories 78 98
Prepayments, other receivables FETRIE N At E R EIE &
and other assets Ht&EE 41,620
Trade payables EfT B Z IR (650)
Other payables and accruals HihEIEREFER (15,317)
Contract liabilities s8R (5,828)
Tax payable FE(GHRIE (1,107)
Non-controlling interests R (1,508)
24,285
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HEMB AR Z W 5 80,369
104,654
Satisfied by: BT A ER -
Cash* i 104,654
* As disclosed in Note 36(2)(iii), the Group had sold the entire equity interests * B AN B 5E36(2) (i) FT 1% B8 » 7220214 » K&
in Zhejiang Runzhou Property Services Co., Ltd., Yuyao Zhongli Property BRZ4ELE AR E104,650,0007T FEEHAT
Management Co., Ltd. and Hangzhou Zhonghong Property Service 125,580,000 7t) B R ZEE HE M TEM
Co., Ltd., all of which are engaged in commercial property management MERBBERAE  BRRBRIMESERR
business, to Zhong An Group at an aggregate of consideration of REERMNBENERBEERATDNZE
RMB104.65 million (equivalent to approximately HK$125.58 million) in i WEINERENESEER -
2021.
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31 December 2021 2021412831H

34. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES 34. HEM B AT (48)
(CONTINUED)
2021
20215
Notes RMB’000
k=3 ARETT
Net assets disposed of: BEHEEEFE:
Property and equipment EVSESL 12 66,086
Cash and cash equivalents BERIRSEEY 56
Prepayments, other receivables FETARIE ~ At FRIE &
and other assets Hth&EE 1,600
Trade receivables FEUR B 5 BRR 19
Inventory =8 1,291
Trade payables FE{T & 5 8RR (36,331)
Other payables and accruals HifERIERETER (8,862)
Contract liabilities BHEE (5)
23,854
Loss on disposal of a subsidiary HE—RNBAB 28 5 (23,854)
Satisfied by: BT HEN -
Consideration

China New City Commercial Development Limited
2021 Annual Report
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34. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BB

31 December 2021 2021412831H

4. HEMB AT (&)

(CONTINUED)
2020
20204
Notes RMB’000
btaE AER¥ETTT
Net assets disposed of: BEHEEEFE:
Property and equipment EVSESL 12 168
Cash and cash equivalents BERIRSEEY 2,112
Completed properties held for sale FEHEBIE T 23 74,142
Prepayments, other receivables AT RIE N At E R EIE &
and other assets Ht&EE 246,043
Long term prepayments RHEBFEI R 4,397
Trade payables &1t B Z 8RR (17,181)
Other payables and accruals HifERIEREER (26,208)
Contract liabilities aasE (9,829)
Tax payable ESHRIE (76,929)
Non-controlling interests JEFERG (95,496)
101,219
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary HE—EHBARZ Wa 5 84,937
186,156
Satisfied by: BT A EN -
Waiver of liabilities™ Head

*k

note35(a).

The disposal of the subsidiary is non-cash transaction as disclosed in

186,156

NP EESS()FT IR R > HEMT B A B A IEER
ERGe
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B E A B

31 December 2021 2021412831H

34. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES
(CONTINUED)

An analysis of the net outflow of cash and cash equivalents in
respect of the disposal of subsidiaries is as follows:

4. HEMB AT (&)

HE—BNBARZEREERREEEBYR
EBFEEOIUT

2021 2020
20214 20204
RMB’000 RMB’000

AREFT ARKET T

Cash consideration BERE 104,654 =
Cash and cash equivalents disposed HEMBARZRER

of subsidiaries HEEEY (5,464) 2,112)
Net inflow/(outflow) of cash and HEMBABRZRER

cash equivalents in respect of WEFBYRA (i) F4E

the disposal of subsidiaries 99,190 (2,112)

35. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

(@) Major non-cash transactions

During the year, the Group had non-cash additions to
right-of-use assets and lease liabilities of RMB73,687,000
and RMB73,687,000 (2020: RMB43,045,000 and
RMB43,045,000), respectively, in respect of lease
arrangements for buildings. The Group had non-cash
transactions related with disposal of subsidiaries as disclosed
in note 34 and non-cash transactions related with disposal of
lease liabilities as disclosed in note 15, respectively.

China New City Commercial Development Limited
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(@) FEFREXS
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35. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

(c)

. n\7r\

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BB

31 December 2021 2021412831H

ARERERME (@)

(CONTINUED)
(b) Changes in financial liabilities arising (b) RIEEHELEZEHEEE
from financing activities E3)
Interest-bearing
bank
and other Lease
borrowings liabilities
FERITER
B H &R HEa’
RMB’000 RMB’000
AREEF T AREEFT
At 1 January 2021 R2021FE1B1H 5,468,649 351,201
Changes from financing cash flows REIRESHEESH) (833,399) (30,178)
New leases mHAE - 73,687
Disposal HE - (226,965)
Interest expense FERZ - 9,266
Interest paid classified as DIEASEREREZENFIE
operating cash flows - (9,266)
At 31 December 2021 72021&E12H31H 4,635,250 167,745
At 1 January 2020 2020F181H 4,456,105 332,397
Changes from financing cash flows FIEIRE M EEH) 1,012,544 (24,241)
New leases mHAE - 43,045
Interest expense FEX - 14,735
Interest paid classified as DIEAEEREREZENFIE
operating cash flows - (14,735)
At 31 December 2020 2020 12H31H 5,468,649 351,201
Total cash outflow for leases (c) HERERHELE
The total cash outflow for leases included in the statement of FARERERZHAERESMHAR
cash flows is as follows: ZBUOE ©
2021 2020
20214 20204
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TT ARETT
Within operating activities EEEEFN 9,266 14,735
Within financing activities MEEENR 30,178 24,241
39,444 38,976
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B E A B

31 December 2021 2021&E12831H

36. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 36. fEt X B

(1)  Outstanding balances with related parties: (1)  EARAE 5 Y REIRASER ¢
()  Amounts due from related companies () FEREEBASRIAE

2021 2020

20215 20204

RMB’000 RMB’000

AREFT ARKET T

Zhong An Group Co., Ltd. REZEEBRAE 376,954 788,278
Zhong An Group Limited REZEEBBRAT 140,089 126,839
|deal World Investments Limited Ideal World Investments
Limited 44,348 65,225
Glorious Days Management Limited FREESRAT 16,352 16,832
Zhong An Financial Holdings Ltd. RLZTRIERBRAT 6,547 6,740
Hangzhou Zhonghong Property TOINR R ZE RS
Service Co., Ltd. BIRAE] 750 =
Zhejiang Zhong An Property Co., Ltd. MR LY RS
BRAF - 4,919
Qingdao Zhonganlongsheng Commercial & &R L& HEmELEE
Development Co., Ltd. BRAE - 1,136
585,040 1,009,969
Amounts due from related companies are interest- FEWREB AR HIBEARE  BIKF
free, unsecured and have no fixed terms of repayment, e E EEEIR M E W E R M
except RMB376,954,000 due from Zhong An Group BRrERZEBEBRAGZ ARE
Co., Ltd., a fellow subsidiary, which bears interest at 376,954,0007C3 2 F F] ZE8% (2020
the annual rate of 8% (2020:10%). F 1 10%) st RERSMo

China New City Commercial Development Limited
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BB

31 December 2021 2021412831H

36. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 36. flt X H (&)
(CONTINUED)

(1) Outstanding balances with related parties: (continued) (1) HREBANREBERG: @
(i) Amounts due to related companies iy FENRAM ARG
2021 2020
20214 20204
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTR ARETT

Anhui Zhong An Real Estate TR LZEMERE
Development Co., Ltd. BRATE 421,263 186,156
Hangzhou Huijun Information N EERR (5 B Rl
Technology Co., Ltd. BRAE 107,912 107,912
Grand Sail International Trading Limited ~ =IAEIMRE 5 (F#)
BREAE 70,110 85,189
Yuyao Zhong'an Property Co., Ltd. BRIk EERRAE 81,118 84,940
Hangzhou Junjie Investment Co., Ltd. MMNBREREBRAR 55,427 55,427
Hong Kong Hui Yuan Real Estate Limited &HEE Rt EBRAS 40,880 42,080
Rui Kai Management Ltd. MY EEARAT 33,261 34,237
Zhong An Service Holding Group Co., Ltd. TR Z RFSIER EE
BRAE 1,750 1,750
Zhong An Finance Limited REPHFBERRTE 1,629 1,677
Zhong An Asset Management Co., Ltd. RZEBEESEARAFT 1,628 1,676
Zhong An Corporate Finance Limited REMEBRAE 1,628 1,676
Zhong An Securities Limited RELZBHFBRAE 1,628 1,676
Zhejiang Anyuan Agriculture M1 REERE
Development Co., Ltd. BREAE - 1,514
818,234 605,910
Amounts due to related companies are interest-free, ERNEBMARRIBARE R
unsecured and have no fixed terms of repayment. R EEEEERR
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T lrey 227



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B E A B

31 December 2021 2021412831H

36. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 36. Bl A 3RS (B)

(CONTINUED)

(2) In addition to the transactions detailed elsewhere in these 2 KBREZEVBRREMIBHHURS
financial statements, the Group had the following transactions IR TN A A B [ B R B 5 A
with related parties during the year: THRZWT :

()  (Loans to)/repayment from related companies (i) (AR ABIER /BREBA
EMEE

2021 2020

20214 20204

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBFT ARBEF T

The ultimate holding company RAAERAE] (10,717) 9,833

Fellow subsidiaries EEN 7 VAC 435,646 40,473

424,929 50,306

Loans to related companies are interest-free, AEABE AR ZERABRE

unsecured and have no fixed terms of repayment, IR A EEEEERR

except the loans to Zhong An Group Co., Ltd., a fellow AEEHBRAEREZERR

subsidiary, which bears interest at the annual rate of [RRBZ BRI S0 52

8% (2020:10%) as disclosed in note 36(1)(i). 36(1)()FTi 88 > HIiZFHZ8%

(20204 : 10%) st B °

(i) Loans from/(repayment to) related companies iy BREBARNED (LKA
BMER)

2021 2020

20214 20204

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBEFT ARBEF T

Fellow subsidiaries BRMERE 212,324 (105,797)

Loans from related companies are interest-free, BB ARZERASREE
unsecured and have no fixed terms of repayment. R REEEERAR

China New City Commercial Development Limited
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36. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(CONTINUED)

@

In addition to the transactions detailed elsewhere in these
financial statements, the Group had the following transactions
with related parties during the year: (continued)

(i) Property service fee

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BB

31 December 2021 2021412831H

36. ANt X 5 (48)

@

BRZEMHREEMBONRZS
BN RERNAEEBARME S E
THRZWT : (@

(i)  YIERBER

2021 2020
20214 20204
RMB’000 RMB’000

AREFT ARBT T

Zhejiang Zhong An Property TR LY ZERTS
Management Co., Ltd. BRAE
Zhejiang Runzhou Property Services ALEN RS
Co., Ltd.* BREAE"
Yuyao Zhongli Property Management EROKR DM EEIR
Co., Ltd.* BRAE"
Hangzhou Zhonghong Property TN TR = ) 2E AR TS
Service Co., Ltd.* BRAB

The prices for the above services fees were determined
in accordance with the terms and conditions mutually
agreed by the contracting parties.

The above related party transactions also constitute
connected transactions or continuing connected
transactions as defined in Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules.

9,685 1,800
7,835 =
4,354 =
2,851 =
24,725 1,800

LiBRFERNERDRES
MESREWME Z R AF
BE-

LRAB S R BB TR
AIEVUAEFTREZRERS
HFBRAER 5
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B E A B

31 December 2021 2021&E12831H

36. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(CONTINUED)

(2) In addition to the transactions detailed elsewhere in these

financial statements, the Group had the following transactions

with related parties during the year: (continued)

(i) Property service fee (continued)

As disclosed in note 4, on 3 February 2021, the Group
had entered into sales and purchase agreements with
Zhong An Group to agree conditionally to sell the entire
equity interests in Zhejiang Runzhou Property Services Co.,
Ltd., Yuyao Zhongli Property Management Co., Ltd. and
Hangzhou Zhonghong Property Service Co., Ltd., all of
which are engaged in commercial property management
business at an aggregate of consideration of RMB104.65
million (equivalent to approximately HK$125.58 million)
(“Transfers”). The Transfers constitute non-exempt
connected transactions for the Group under the Listing
Rules and are subject to the reporting, announcement and
approval by the independent shareholders under Chapter
14A of the Listing Rules. The Transfers was approved in the
extraordinary general meeting on 24 March 2021 and fully
completed on 13 April 2021.

(iv)  Interest income

36. ANt X 5 (48)

@ BRZEFUHTRREMEOHNZS
BN RERNAEEBARME S E
THRZWT : (@

(iii)

MERFER (&)

* SANRT 4P B8 0 1220214
2R3 AERECHERLER
ST BEWS LAKERE
A B AR HE104,650,000
7t (1HE 1 #125,580,0007
7o) HEMTEMNYXRES
RABRIRNMEEER
FRA B R N R R W 3 AR 75
BRABNEERKRE KEH
REmEYEEREY (78
B o RIBETRB > EEE
AN B IEEA RRAER 5
BESF EHARRIE14AZIET
BRE - AERBEILREHER
FE BB N202143824

BROTZERREFIN ARG LE
HEEEIE 722021845130 B8
SERY
FEUWA
2021 2020
20214 20204
RMB’000 RMB’000

AREFT ARKET T

Zhong An Group Co., Ltd. REEBBRAE

(v)  Compensation of key management personnel of the

Group, which comprises the remuneration of the

directors, is disclosed in note 8.

(vii  As disclosed in note 30, the Group’s borrowings
of RMB50,000,000 (2020: RMB50,000,000) were
guaranteed by Mr. Shi Zhongan at 31 December 2021
at nil consideration.

China New City Commercial Development Limited
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BB

31 December 2021 2021412831H

37. COMMITMENTS 37. K
The Group had the following commitments for property RREFPR  AEERYERE T HHIK
development expenditure at the end of the reporting period: W
2021 2020
20215 20204
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBEFT AREFT
Contracted, but not provided for: BERIAEREE
Properties under development FEEgesky/ES 1,330,123 1,001,730
‘ =
38. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 38. HAAIR
(a) Mortgage facilities granted by banks (@) IRITIREZIRBER
The Group provided guarantees in respect of the mortgage AEEETRITRAARERY
facilities granted by certain banks to the purchasers of the (¥NEREHNRIBEELHA
Group’s properties. Pursuant to the terms of the guarantee R o RIBERZHARE 1
arrangements, in case of default on mortgage payments BRAEBERBERIE &
by the purchasers, the Group is responsible for repaying EEEXRRTEERERGERX
the outstanding mortgage loans together with any accrued HER T E R R R ESTF]
interest and penalty owed by the defaulted purchasers to ERSiF -AEBEBEERE
the banks. The Group is then entitled to take over the legal WAERAMEN G EFTBE# K
titles of the related properties. The Group’s guarantee periods EENIEARBRIZHERIZR
commence from the dates of grant of the relevant mortgage EXRHFREEENERSEZR
loans and end after the execution of individual purchasers’ HiERLE

collateral agreements.
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AT A B

31 December 2021 2021&E12831H

38. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

(a)

38. X ARR (&)

(CONTINUED)
Mortgage facilities granted by banks (a) SRITIRIEZIZIBER (B)
(continued)
The Group did not incur any material losses during the RHREHHBE AEB T ERLAE
reporting period in respect of the guarantees provided for MENERERTNIRBEEMIR
mortgage facilities granted to purchasers of the Group’s HENERMELXEAEKRER-E
properties. The directors consider that in case of default on ERA MUHRKEERNBER
payments, the net realisable value of the related properties TERIY) FER O 372 (B B UBIERR
can cover the repayment of the outstanding mortgage THERBERRTAESFE KRS
loans together with any accrued interest and penalty, and O EIE T AL SR EH R o
therefore no provision has been made in connection with the
guarantees.
2021 2020
20214 20204
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARMETT AREETTT
Guarantees given to banks for: MUTIEE A TIRITHER ©
Mortgage facilities granted to REBMEERERZIBREE
purchasers of the Group’s
properties 316,410 46,656
Claim arising from the litigation (b) FEREEZRE

(b)

As disclosed in note 19, on 7 January 2019, the Company
allotted and issued 178,280,000 shares to Hangzhou
Oriental Culture Tourism Group Co., Ltd. (“the Seller”)
for the purpose of acquiring 22.65% of equity interests in
Zhejiang Xinnongdu Industrial Co., Ltd. (*XND”) under the
equity transfer agreement announced on 20 July 2018 (“the
Transaction”). However, the Seller had filed a lawsuit against
the Company to cancel the Transaction. The Company had
lost the lawsuit in the first trial verdict, and had appealed
to higher court. Currently, the lawsuit is still in process.
The directors, based on the advice from the Group’s legal
counsel, believe that they have a valid defence against
the allegation in their appeal to higher court, and have not
provided for the claim arising from the litigation, other than
the related legal and other costs.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BB

31 December 2021 2021412831H

39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY 39. BB P RVERIT A
CATEGORY
The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial FEREMTANRSHARNERERETNT :

instruments as at the end of the reporting period are as follows:

2021 20214
Financial
assets Financial
at fair value assets
through other at fair value

comprehensive through profit
income or loss
RAREE
STAHA BAREE
el FHABEN

SHEE SHEE
Financial
assets Mandatorily
at amortised Equity designated
cost investments as such Total
RN A
HENEHEE RiERE AEETANML st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTR ARBTR ARBTR ARBTR

Financial assets: EHEE:
Financial assets included SARBEMTRNEREE
in long term prepayments 28,467 - - 28,467

Equity investments designated at fair value 15 A% A A BE AEAM

through other comprehensive income 2 EKENR AR E - 335,050 - 335,050
Financial assets at fair value through BAREESABEN
profit or loss SREE - - 68 68
Trade receivables FEWE ZIRTT 41,246 - - 41,246
Financial assets included in prepayments, st A TE{TRIE  EANEUEIE K
other receivables and other assets HWEENEREE 257,890 - - 257,890
Amounts due from related companies  FEWREAEEA BIRUE 585,040 - - 585,040
Restricted cash RRFIRE 344,965 - - 344,965
Cash and cash equivalents REeRESEEY 1,603,069 - = 1,603,069
2,860,677 335,050 68 3,195,795
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B E A B

31 December 2021 2021412831H

39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY
CATEGORY (CONTINUED)

390. USRI A ER T A
(&)
Financial liabilities
at amortised cost

R P A
STENERAaR
RMB’000
ARBTT
Financial liabilities: TRHERE:
Trade payables &1 B Z AR 480,901
Financial liabilities included in STAHRMBNRIERESERNEREE
other payables and accruals 285,295
Interest-bearing bank and other 5T BIRITE M R E MhE?
borrowings 4,635,250
Lease liabilities HEaE 167,745
Amounts due to related companies F&1JRE#E AT IE 818,234
6,387,425

China New City Commercial Development Limited
2021 Annual Report




NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BB

31 December 2021 2021412831H

39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY 390. USRI A ER T A
CATEGORY (CONTINUED) (48)
The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial FEREMTANRSHARNERERETNT :
instruments as at the end of the reporting period are as follows: ¢=)
(continued)
2020 20204

Financial assets
at fair value Financial assets

through other at fair value

comprehensive through profit

income or loss
BANER

STAETM BAREE
2EKER STABRZH

ERMEE SHEE
Financial
assets Mandatorily
at amortised Equity designated
cost investments as such Total
REE A
FENEMEE RiELE ‘tEAML st
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT

Financial assets: ERMEE !
Financial assets included in long term st AREIBARMNEHEE

prepayments 32,533 = = 32,533
Equity investments designated at fair value 1€ A% A A BE AEM

through other comprehensive income 2 EKFHHIRERE - 392,590 = 392,590
Financial assets at fair value through BARBESABEN

profit or loss TREE - - 113 113
Trade receivables e E ZERR 37,636 - - 37,636
Financial assets included in prepayments, &t ATEfTEIE  EfENEUIER

other receivables and other assets HMEENEREE 400,444 = = 400,444
Amounts due from related companies  FEWRRAEE AT FUE 1,009,969 = = 1,009,969
Restricted cash ZREIRE 114,776 - - 114,776
Cash and cash equivalents ReRFEEEEY 994,112 = = 994,112

2,589,470 392,500 113 2,082,173
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B E A B

31 December 2021 2021&E12831H

39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY
CATEGORY (CONTINUED)

39. Léi%ﬂﬂ%ﬂﬁﬂ@ﬁﬁﬂla
Financial
liabilities at
amortised cost

FFENEMERE
RMB’000
AREFT
Financial liabilities: TRHERE:
Trade payables &1 & Z AR 532,399
Financial liabilities included in STAHRMBNRIERESERNEREE
other payables and accruals 278,043
Interest-bearing bank and s ERITERREME;
other borrowings 5,468,649
Lease liabilities HEAaER 351,201
Amounts due to related companies FE{T BEEE A B = IE 605,910
7,236,202
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40. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE
HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS

The carrying amounts and fair values of the Group’s financial
instruments, other than those with carrying amounts that
reasonably approximate to fair values, are as follows:

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BB

31 December 2021 2021412831H

40. R TANARBERL

jEEESR

FERTRTANKREERRABEN
T HEREEEAABESEBEEERI

Carrying amounts Fair values
IREE NAEE
2021 2020 2021 2020
20214 20204 20214 20204
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFTT ARBTxT AR®BTRT ARETT
Financial liabilities ERAR
Interest-bearing bank and other 5t BIRTTE R K
borrowings Hhfgm 4,635,250 5,468,649 4,460,020 5,180,009

Management has assessed that the fair values of cash and cash
equivalents, the current portion of restricted cash, trade receivables,
trade payables, financial assets included in prepayments, other
receivables and other assets, financial liabilities included in other
payables and accruals, amounts due from/to related companies,
approximate to their carrying amounts largely due to the short term
maturities of these instruments.

The fair values of the non-current portion of restricted cash, financial
assets included in long term prepayments and financial assets at
fair value through profit or loss and financial assets at fair value
through other comprehensive income have been calculated by
discounting the expected future cash flows using rates currently
available for instruments with similar terms, credit risk and remaining
maturities.

The fair values of the financial assets and liabilities are included
at the amount at which the instrument could be exchanged in a
current transaction between willing parties, other than in a forced or
liquidation sale. The following methods and assumptions were used
to estimate the fair values:

The fair values of the interest-bearing bank and other borrowings
have been calculated by discounting the expected future cash flows
using rates currently available for instruments with similar terms,
credit risk and remaining maturities.

HRRERFEEFEY  ZRHIFEHIE
HAER(D ~ FEUR B IR FE (T & 5 8RR~ 51
AFRTRRIE Ht R URIE R Bt & ER
TREE SFARMBNRIERESER
PSR EE U AR ARRIE
RERRNEIR #EBETEzE AR

ZIRFIREIFENHABD st A RBTAEN
NEMEE BRARBESABENEH
EERRAMBEFAHMEEWR DT
RMEENRABEDZBEREBBLUR
T EERRKRGEHANERITIAR
R o] BT IR KR AR RIR S R EHIRM
stH-

TREERBENAABENZIARE
77 (MIFRBERIHE) BEriks
THARZERAR T A ERRR
BREELnEE:

SHRIRTTERRAMERNARBENLE
BEREBALUER EERRKG TR
B8yERt T RIREFr AT IRER FRA R 2R
REREFRMETE -
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T2 lrey 237



238

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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31 December 2021 2021&E12831H

40. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE

HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

The fair values of listed equity investments are based on quoted
market prices. The fair values of unlisted equity investments
designated at fair value through other comprehensive income,
have been estimated using a market-based valuation technique
based on assumptions that are not supported by observable
market prices or rates. The valuation requires the directors to
determine comparable public companies (peers) based on industry,
size, leverage and strategy, and to calculate an appropriate price
multiple, such as price to book ratio (“P/B”) multiple and price to
earnings (“P/E”) multiple, for each comparable company identified.
The multiple is calculated by dividing the enterprise value of
the comparable company by an earnings measure. The trading
multiple is then discounted for considerations such as illiquidity
and size differences between the comparable companies based
on company-specific facts and circumstances. The discounted
multiple is applied to the corresponding earnings measure of the
unlisted equity investments to measure the fair value. The directors
believe that the estimated fair values resulting from the valuation
technique, which are recorded in the consolidated statement of
financial position, and the related changes in fair values, which are
recorded in other comprehensive income, are reasonable, and that
they were the most appropriate values at the end of the reporting
period.

For the fair value of the unlisted equity investments at fair value
through other comprehensive income, management has estimated
the potential effect of using reasonably possible alternatives as
inputs to the valuation model.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BB

31 December 2021 2021412831H

40. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE
HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

=]

20. EMT AN AREERA
REEES @)

LUF 552 2021F 12831 H K2020F 128
JIHEMTAGEMERNEAFTEHER
BABBREERHNEDTRE :

Set out below is a summary of significant unobservable inputs to
the valuation of financial instruments together with a quantitative
sensitivity analysis as at 31 December 2021 and 2020:

Significant
Valuation unobservable Sensitivity of fair
technique inputs Range value to the input
BEARAIHRE RABEHBAY
fE{ERM & A BUE gE BRBRE
RMB’000
ARBEFTT
Unlisted equity Valuation multiples Average P/B 2021: 1.6 5% (2020: 5%)
investments Lt multiple of peers (2020: 1.6) increase/decrease
I EHRIERE FEAR e R
7 4 % (22 result in increase
el A (20205 : 1.6) decrease in fair
value by 16,753
(2020: 17,914)
FEg M, m
5% (2020 : 5%)
BERARDEE
10, %016,753
(20204 : 17,914)
Discount for lack 2021: 25% 5% (2020: 5%)

of marketability (2020: 25%) increase/decrease
Rz it 20214F : 25%

IR (20204 : 25%)

in discount would
result in decrease/
increase in fair
value by 5,584
(2020: 5,971)
IreEEm, R
5% (20204 : 5%)
RERAREE
/18 105,684
(20204 : 5,971)

BRZHiGREEITRET 2 RETHR
BETEBREZRNBLAEEEEN G
BRITEEER

The discount for lack of marketability represents the amounts of
premiums and discounts determined by the Group that market
participants would take into account when pricing the investments.
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31 December 2021 2021412831H

40. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE
HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

All financial instruments for which fair value is recognised or
disclosed are categorised within the fair value hierarchy, described
as follows, based on the lowest level input that is significant to the
fair value measurement as a whole:

Level 1 —  Quoted market prices in an active market (that
are unadjusted) for identical assets or liabilities

Level 2 —  Valuation techniques (for which the lowest
level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement is directly or indirectly observable)

Level 3 S Valuation techniques (for which the lowest
level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement is unobservable)

Fair value hierarchy

All the above financial assets and liabilities had Level 2 inputs other
than financial assets at fair value through profit or loss and equity
investments designated at fair value through other comprehensive
income which had Level 1 and Level 3 inputs respectively. The fair
value hierarchy of investment properties is disclosed in note 13 to
the financial statements.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BB

31 December 2021 2021412831H

40. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE 40. R TANARBERL
HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL REEESR (&)
INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

Fair value hierarchy (continued) NRABEZEE (@
The following table illustrates the fair value measurement hierarchy TRITAEEEMTANAABESTE
of the Group’s financial instruments: B4k

Fair value measurement using
FERANTEENAREENE
Quoted
prices Significant Significant
in active observable unobservable
markets inputs inputs
ERmE EATERE EATHER
HERIE WA WA

(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
(FB14R51) (524 51) (B34 A1) @5t

RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETRT ARBTR AR®TRT ARBTR

Financial assets at fair value BARBESABZN

through profit or loss TREE 68 - - 68
Equity investments designated IEEARARBESAEM

at fair value through other 2ENENRERE

comprehensive income - - 335,050 335,050
As at 31 December 2021 F2021412H31H 68 - 335,050 335,118
Financial assets at fair value BRASEBESAEBRN

through profit or loss THEE 113 - - 113
Equity investments designated EEARARNBESAHM

at fair value through other 2EHRGENEERE

comprehensive income - - 392,590 392,590
As at 31 December 2020 FRO0204E 12431 H 113 = 392,590 392,703
During the reporting period, there were no transfers of fair value RIS AR > 5514k B L 5524k Bl 2 RS b #%
measurements between Level 1 and Level 2 and no transfers into NABEANEER B ESEARELSE
or out of Level 3. 3R A
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31 December 2021 2021&E12831H

41. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

The Group’s principal financial instruments comprise cash and
cash equivalents, short term deposits, lease liabilities and interest-
bearing bank and other borrowings. The main purpose of these
financial instruments is to raise finance for the Group’s operations.
The Group has various other financial assets and liabilities such as
trade receivables and trade payables, which arise directly from its
operations.

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments are
interest rate risk, foreign currency risk, credit risk and liquidity risk.
The Group does not hold or issue derivative financial instruments
for trading purposes. The board of directors reviews and agrees
policies for managing each of these risks and they are summarised
below:

(@) Interest rate risk

The Group has no significant interest-bearing assets. The
Group’s exposure to the risk of changes in market interest
rates relates primarily to the Group’s bank and other
borrowings with floating interest rates. The Group has not
used any interest rate swaps to hedge its interest rate risk.

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a
reasonably possible change in interest rates, with all other
variables held constant, of the Group’s profit before tax
(through the impact on floating rate borrowings) and the
Group’s equity, assuming all the increases or decreases are
dealt with in profit or loss, without consideration of interest
capitalisation.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BB

31 December 2021 2021412831H

41. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT M. MERBEEBIRREER
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (&)
(CONTINUED)
(a) Interest rate risk (continued) (@) FIEREME (4B)
(Decrease)/
Increase/ increase (Decrease)/
(decrease) in  in (loss)/profit increase
basis points before tax in equity
(E357:T)
2B (&8 FE L
i G GRA) /igm GRdY) /3
RMB’000 RMB’000

AREFT AREBFT

2021 20214

RMB AR 50 (22,285) (16,714)

RMB AR (50) 22,285 16,714

2020 20204

RMB AR 50 (26,699) (20,024)

RMB AR (50) 26,699 20,024
(b) Foreign currency risk (b) 5MEE R B

The Group has transactional currency exposures. Such AEEBBRSRXZEERR B

exposures arise from sales or purchases by operating units BEES SRS EUETHE TR

and financing activities in currencies other than the units’ ﬁ% MUEMEBMINEEE U Z B

functional currencies. EITHMEES -

In addition, the Group has currency exposures from its o REBBEEFBRITERE

interest-bearing bank borrowings. L ERRE-
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31 December 2021 2021412831H

41. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT ¥
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (&)
(CONTINUED)

(b) Foreign currency risk (continued)

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity at the end of
the reporting period to a reasonably possible change in the
US$ and HK$ exchange rates, with all other variables hold
constant, of the Group’s profit before tax and the Group’s

(b) ShESEER ()

M. ARG ERERIEREER

TRITEEBRRAFBRAE
B R S AR M T RO B
TR EHOHEE A
HATTRR R TR

equity.
Increase/
Increase/ (decrease) Increase/
(decrease) in in (loss)/profit (decrease)
foreign currency rate before tax in equity
PR A
SMEEE SR (B518) /% i
g, GR) #m, GR) gm, Ge)
% RMB’000 RMB’000
% ARBTR ARBTT
2021 20215
If HK$ weakens against US$ HBTRETRE 5 929 697
If HK$ strengthens against US$ WABATRETHE (5) (929) (697)
2020 20204
If HK$ weakens against US$ WETRETEZE 5 763 573
If HK$ strengthens against US$ WABATRETHE 5) (763) (573)
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BB

31 December 2021 2021412831H

41. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 4. BEEEEIERERIEE

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (48)
(CONTINUED)
(c) Credit risk (c) EERPB
The Group trades only with recognised and creditworthy AEBEAKIITEEERTFNG
third parties. It is the Group’s policy that all customers who —HETRG AEBNBEKRE
wish to trade on credit terms are subject to credit verification FTERREERETRZNER
procedures. In addition, receivable balances are monitored on HERREERERR UL K&
an ongoing basis and the Group’s exposure to bad debts is EFEERERMIBGES BAE
not significant. BYIRAR A B R EE K o
Maximum exposure and year-end staging RE R R ERRER
The tables below show the credit quality and the maximum THRETREAEBEEFEREKZE
exposure to credit risk based on the Group’s credit policy, EBEEkmaEERE CGRIFATNE
which is mainly based on past due information unless other BETBENAHBHZERTER
information is available without undue cost or effort, and year- BHEMEE SHEMERETEE
end staging classification as at 31 December. The amounts REafAEREY)  UKRrR12831H
presented are gross carrying amounts for financial assets ZEXRMEDE-FIEZVEEAE
and the exposure to credit risk for the financial guarantee MMBEEZEEAERVBEERELN
contracts. ZEE R
12-month ECLs Lifetime ECLs
12{8 B 718
ZEEHE ZHBEREERE
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
F—RRE FIMEER BREE (5323 ot
As at 31 December 2021 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
1420215125318 ARETT ARETT ARBFT ARBTT ARBTT
Trade receivables* EWE SR - - - 41,246 41,246
Financial assets included in long term 5t A REATER FE
prepayments - Not yet past due ~ SRIEE—K#H 28,467 - - - 28,467
Financial assets included in ABMRIE K
prepayments, other receivables TEREMEEN
and other assets — Not yet past due £ BB E—KAE 257,890 - - - 257,890
Amounts due from related companies FE U BRER A B1FE
- Not yet past due — X 585,040 - - - 585,040
Restricted cash — Not yet past due  ZR4I3R S — KA R 344,965 - - - 344,965
Cash and cash equivalents - ReRAEEEN
Not yet past due — X 1,603,069 - - - 1,603,069
2,819,431 - - 41,246 2,860,677

R R LR EARAR
IR —EFHR
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31 December 2021 2021412831H

41. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

M. ARG ERERIEREER

(%

— —
(=]

=]

N

(c) Credit risk (continued) (c) EERME (&)
12-month ECLs Lifetime ECLs
12{8 B
=851 2HEREEEE
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
F—MEE 324 FRE (5373 ot
As at 31 December 2020 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
1420205128318 AR%EFR ARETFR ARETR AR%EFR ARETFR
Trade receivables® W E B AR - - - 37,636 37,636
Financial assets included in long term 5t A RERTE( 29
prepayments - Not yet past due CRHEE-XBH 32,533 - - - 32,533
Financial assets included in HABMFE B
prepayments, other receivables FEREMEEN
and other assets — Not yet past due £ FEE— KA 400,444 - - - 400,444
Amounts due from related companies FEYXBEEE A B FUE
— Not yet past due —XBH 1,009,969 - - - 1,009,969
Restricted cash - Not yet past due ~ ZIREIRE—FAH 114,776 - - - 114,776
Cash and cash equivalents - RERBEEEEY
Not yet past due —xEH 994,112 - - - 994,112
2,551,834 - - 37,636 2,589,470

approach for impairment, information is disclosed in note 24 to the

financial statements.
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] I5
41. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT M. MERBEEBIRREER
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (48)
(CONTINUED)
(d) Liquidity risk (d) RENEERERE
The Group monitors its risk to a shortage of funds using AEBRAKEMRHESET
a recurring liquidity planning tool. This tool considers the BERHESHEMAK -ZITAEZE
maturity of both its financial instruments and financial assets BEESRTAREMEE WEWE
(e.g., trade receivables) and projected cash flows from SRR ME Z DB R RS T
operations. ZHEsHIRERE
The Group’s objective is to maintain a balance between REBNBENTLEBFIBIRITER
continuity of funding and flexibility through the use of bank REMER HITESTEEMNE
and other borrowings. TR R o
The maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities as at RIETAORMIBAT AEBEER
the end of the reporting period, based on the contractual BENRBRSHANISABROT

undiscounted payments, is as follows:

Less than 3 to less than 1to5 Over
On demand 3 months 12 months years 5 years Total
ERE

BEX LR3ER  DiM2{ER 1E55 S5ENL Mt

2021 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

20215 ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR

Interest-bearing bank HERTERK

and other borrowings HithfEm - 53,840 1,473,470 2,056,667 1,051,273 4,635,250
Interest payable in relation to A BISE1T R EMER

bank and other borrowings  Z &I & - 78,086 212,960 255,602 60,164 606,812

Trade payables R ERRD - 435,333 45,568 - - 480,901

Lease liabilities HEAE - 15,192 21,346 93,788 84,977 215,303

Amounts due to related parties FE{3 B #7528 818,234 - - - - 818,234
Finangial liabilities included in 5+ A ELft & {1 B R

other payables and accruals ~ FEstERMSRIERE 285,295 - - - - 285,295

1,103,529 582,451 1,753,344 2,406,057 1,196,414 7,041,795
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41. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(d) Liquidity risk (continued)

41. R EEBRREER
(&)

(d) ARBMEZRE (B

Lessthan  3toless than 1105 Over
On demand 3 months 12 months years 5 years Total
ERE

BER yeiEl= L12{E R 1255 5N E azt

2020 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

2020 AE®ETT ARETH AR®TR ARETR AREFR ARETR

Interest-bearing bank and FFERITERK

other borrowings HtfER - 244,690 420,865 3,592,463 1,210,631 5,468,649
Interest payable in relation to A BIEE1T R EMER

bank and other borrowings ~ Z B & - 82,451 240,455 519,947 111,813 954,666

Trade payables ENEZRD - 453,256 79,143 - - 532,399

Lease liabilities HEAE - 6,884 31,740 171,386 266,919 476,929

Amounts due to related parties FE{T B 5 208 605,910 = = = = 605,910
Financial liabilties included in -~ sf AEMIETFIER

other payables and accruals ~ FEsTERHSRAE 278,043 = = = = 278,043

883,953 787,281 772,208 4,283,796 1,589,363 8,316,596

(e) Capital management (e) BAXREIE

The primary objectives of the Group’s capital management
are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going

FEBEAEENTIBZAMNSER
EREEENFBEERERRR
WERILER UXFHEBRER

concern and to maintain healthy capital ratios in order to
support its business and maximise shareholders’ value.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes
adjustments to it in the light of changes in economic
conditions and the risk characteristics of the underlying
assets. To maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group
may adjust the dividend payment to shareholders, return
capital to shareholders or issue new shares. The Group is not
subject to any externally imposed capital requirements. No
changes were made in the objectives, policies or processes
for managing capital during the years ended 31 December
2021 and 2020.
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31 December 2021 2021412831H

41. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 41. UERAMEEEREREE

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (48)

(CONTINUED)

(e) Capital management (continued) (e) BFERE ()
The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which is rEEEREEARBILLXEES
net debt divided by capital plus net debt. Net debt includes K O ZEEBBRLEEAGBR FER
interest-bearing bank and other borrowings, trade payables, DEARNEBERFE-BXFREE
other payables and accruals, and lease liabilities, less cash STRIRITEMREMMER ENE
and cash equivalents. Capital represents equity attributable to SET HEMENHRBRESTER
owners of the parent. The gearing ratios as at the end of the UREEERE RREAIREEE
reporting periods were as follows: Mo-BARATREHE AEGH#ER-

RREHMRNEEEB/LRDT ¢

As at 31 December

#12H31H8
2021 2020
20214 20204
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTR ARETT

Interest-bearing bank and other FEIRITTERKREMMER

borrowings (note 30) (H15£30) 4,635,250 5,468,649
Trade payables BT E SRR 480,901 532,399
Other payables and accruals HnE B REER 309,808 289,684
Lease liabilities HESR 167,745 351,201
Less: Cash and cash equivalents B RERIBEEEY (1,603,069) (994,112)
Net debt B35 3,990,635 5,647,821
Equity attributable to BABHE NEEER

owners of the parent 5,500,142 5,834,778
Capital and net debt IR R EF5F%E 9,490,777 11,482,599
Gearing ratio BEESBLLXE 42% 49%
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31 December 2021 2021&E12831H

42. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL 42. S AT ZMBAK AR
POSITION OF THE COMPANY
Information about the statement of financial position of the BRAAABRBREPR I BERAIRZE
Company at the end of the reporting period is as follows: BT
2021 2020
20214 20204
RMB’000 RMB’000

AREFT ARKET T

Non-current assets ERBEE
Investments in subsidiaries R BABNKRE 1,326,803 1,326,803
Property and equipment MEREE 2 6
Long term prepayments REATETRR 163,889 163,889
Total non-current assets HIERBIEE 1,490,694 1,490,698
Current assets TRENEE
Prepayments, other receivables and BRIE AthEREIEREME E

other assets 93,264 78,782
Financial assets at fair value through BAREBEEFAEBGZZSREE

profit or loss 68 113
Amounts due from subsidiaries FEUN I B A B RIE 1,372,268 1,417,831
Amount due from related companies fE R BB A B R IE 162,989 158,753
Inventories 78 101 104
Cash and cash equivalents B2 RIESEEY 17,440 15,716
Total current assets HREEE 1,646,130 1,671,299
Current liabilities Bt =Nl
Amounts due to subsidiaries FES B ABRIE 930,049 931,051
Amounts due to related companies FETREB A B RN IE 138,936 136,460
Trade payables BT & 5 iR 82 =
Total current liabilities FEOTEN=KI=] 1,069,067 1,067,511
Net current assets B ERE 577,063 603,788
Total assets less current liabilities MEERTEAE 2,067,757 2,094,486
Net assets FEE 2,067,757 2,094,486
Equity gy
Equity attributable to owners of the parent &A B %A ABIEERE
Share capital [N 160,220 160,220
Reserves (note (a)) & Bat(a) 1,907,537 1,934,266
Total equity ERES 2,067,757 2,094,486
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42. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL
POSITION OF THE COMPANY

43

44

(CONTINUED)

Note (a):

A summary of the Company’s reserves is as follows:

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BB

31 December 2021 2021412831H

42. ZRE) 2 MBIRRER (B)

Hizza):
EABEFHHAWT ¢

Share Exchange

premium fluctuation Accumulated Capital
account reserve losses reserve Total
B3 ERIKE
HER B RithsiE BARE st

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTT ARETR ARBTR ARBTT ARETR

At 1 January 2021

Total comprehensive loss for the year

At 31 December 2021

At 31 December 2019 and
1 January 2020

Issue of shares
Total comprehensive loss for the year

At 31 December 2020

EVENT AFTER THE REPORTING

PERIOD

K2021F1 818

FREEBEBE

$22021812831H

R20195F12831H &
20201818

BTN
FREEBGEBE

20206128318

719,697 44,817 (66,120) 1,235,872 1,934,266
= (32,247) (16,243) 21,761 (26,729)
719,697 12,570 (82,363) 1,257,633 1,907,537
721,694 129,181 (50,144) 1,235,872 2,036,603
(1,997) = = = (1,997)

= (84,364) (15,976) = (100,340)
719,697 44,817 (66,120) 1,235,872 1,934,266

43. HSHAR R

There are no material subsequent events undertaken by the K2021F12A31HE » KRB HAEE T

Company or by the Group after 31 December 2021.

APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL

STATEMENTS

BETEARIRER-

44. L E TR R

The financial statements were approved and authorised for issue by 5T/ B 2022538 24HEEE 2t
the board of directors on 24 March 2022.
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SUMMARY OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL INFORMATION
SR o B AR

A summary of the results and of the assets, liabilities and non-controling ZAEEFEF AT RLEBELPHFRERZBER
interests of the Group for the last five financial years, as extracted from the BB B EE 2B R B E B &R IFIZEREF AV

published audited financial statements. EHIW T
=E
RESULTS XiE
2021 2020 2019 2018 2017
20214 20204 20194 20184 20174

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTR ARBTRT ARETT ARBTT AREBTRT

Revenue O 871,066 700,370 1,955,853 1,924,619 295,986
Profit/(loss) before tax BRIRAIFIE,

(#518) (277,024) 108,844 380,128 (130,814) 752,090
Income Tax FRigi (25,791) (83,763) (334,839) (91,183) (285,732)
Profit/(loss) for the year FRAE (E18) (302,815) 25,081 45,289 (221,997) 466,358

Profit/(loss) attributable to: LURFEAL A,

(&518) -
Equity holders of PN/NEIL e ST =N
the Company (295,136) 44,429 26,270 (243,524) 488,505
Non-controlling interests JEPER (7,679) (19,348) 19,019 21,527 (22,147)
(302,815) 25,081 45,289 (221,997) 466,358
ASSETS, LIABILITIES AND NON- BE -BERIFERER

CONTROLLING INTERESTS

31 December

128318
2021 2020 2019 2018 2017
20214 20204 20194 20184 20174

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTRE ARBETT ARBTT ARBTT ARBTT

Total Assets s E 15,504,840 15,175,856 14,508,724 13,231,588 13,254,174
Total Liabilities HEy =N (9,771,245)  (9,098,438)  (8,367,189)  (7,333,545)  (7,245,818)
Non-controlling Interests FEIERR R (233,453) (242,640) (357,484) (315,057) (171,234)

5,500,142 5,834,778 5,784,051 5,682,986 5,837,122

China New City Commercial Development Limited
252 2021 Annual Report



Ny
502

DA A EERERAT

China New City Commercial Development Limited

;
%
!
)
J
J

-

e



	封面
	目錄
	公司資料
	主席報告
	投資物業
	持作發展及╱或銷售的主要物業
	管理層討論與分析
	企業管治報告
	董事及高級管理層的履歷
	董事會報告
	獨立核數師報告
	綜合損益表
	綜合全面收益表
	綜合財務狀況表
	綜合權益變動表
	綜合現金流量表
	財務報表附註
	綜合財務資料概要
	封底



